

## Contents

Contents	1
Dedication	2
Introduction	3
Chapter 1: The Daystar End Time Army Arising	4
Chapter 2: Walking in the Light	10
Chapter 3: The Cross, Humility and Healing Revival	17
Chapter 4: The Manifestation of the Sons of God	27
Chapter 5: Sons of Love	38
Chapter 6: The Lord's End Time Army and the Kingdom of Heaven	47
Chapter 7: Lord of Angel Armies and Worship	56
Chapter 8: Heavenly Zion, Angel of the Lord and Fullness	64
Chapter 9: Intimate End Time Throne Room Worship and Prayer	80
Chapter 10: El Shaddai and Victorious Revival Power	94
Chapter 11: The Elijah Cry and End Time Revival Angel	110
Chapter 12: Radiant Bridal Army Arising	123
Bibliography	136

#### Dedication

I thank my wife Amy, my daughter Elisabeth and my son Michael for their hard work.

Nicholas Greijdanus

## Daystarendtimearmy.com

daystarendtimearmy@gmail.com

Copyright ©

All rights reserved.

Dedication and date first printed 12/1/2017 (Jewish Year 5777)

Second print 29/4/2022

However, if ministries in foreign nations want to work with it please contact us at the e-mail address provided.

The Holy Bible, King James Version. Cambridge Edition: 1769; King James Bible Online, 2015. <a href="http://www.kingjamesbibleonline.org">http://www.kingjamesbibleonline.org</a>

• Unless otherwise marked all scripture quotations are from The Holy Bible, King James Version (KJV)

**ASV= American Standard Version** 

NLT = New Living Translation

ESV = English Standard Version

of = The Names of God Bible King James Version

Scripture quotations marked AMP are taken from AMPLIFIED BIBLE, copyright © 1954, 1958, 1962,

1964, 1965, 1987 by The Lockman Foundation. All rights reserved. Used by permission.

(www.Lockman.org).

#### Introduction

## The greatest revelation of who Christ was, is seen in the four gospels when they write about the transfiguration.

Christ's face was shining like the sun and His clothes were giving off light.

Today, God is raising up His End Time army.

This army is called to shine forth the nature of Christ.

His nature is love, grace, mercy, kindness, humility, gentleness, and truth.

#### The Daystar is Jesus Christ

The Daystar is to rise in our hearts and shine through us.

(2Pe 1:19) We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts:

Apostle Peter teaches us that in the Last Days many false ministries will rise up.

They will not have the Daystar shining through them.

In the Last Days, before His coming, God is going to pour out His Spirit in a mighty way.

God's End Time army is called to move in great power and glory, doing signs, wonders and miracles.

These signs, wonders and miracles are a tool to see many come to repentance and salvation so that they make Christ Lord of their lives.

In these Last Days, we are to shine as stars.

This means that out of the divine nature of Christ, we are called to bring forth fruit.

Out of the virtue of the Holy Spirit's love, kindness, grace and mercy, we are to do evangelism and minister the gifts of the Holy Spirit.

True ministers will grow the fruits of the Holy Spirit in their lives.

(Gal 5:22,23) But the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, longsuffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, meekness, temperance: against such there is no law.

Jesus Christ said that by their fruits you will know them.

The fruit of the Holy Spirit is the Daystar arising in our hearts.

## Chapter 1: The Daystar End Time Army Arising

#### **The Shining Ones**

In Jerusalem, I met a pastor from the nation of Rwanda.

This pastor confirmed the facts about the 'shining one' revivals.

This revival happened at the end of the 1900s from Kenya to Rwanda.

In this revival, believers would shine and give off light.

When people would enter their meetings, they would come under the conviction of sin.

Repentance and that God is a holy God were the main focus of this revival.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

#### **The Daystar Shining**

#### Our Lord Jesus Christ is the Daystar.

Apostle Peter, who calls Jesus Christ the Daystar, was one of the three witnesses of the transfiguration.

They saw the Daystar shining on that holy mountain.

(2Pe 1:16-19) For we have not followed cunningly devised fables, when we made known unto you the power and coming of our Lord Jesus Christ, but were eyewitnesses of his majesty. For he received from God the Father honour and glory, when there came such a voice to him from the excellent glory, This is my beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased. And this voice which came from heaven we heard, when we were with him in the holy mount. We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts:

#### Apostle Peter said that they were witnesses of His majesty.

There was also a voice that came out of the Father God's excellent glory.

This made Apostle Peter tremble and fall down in worship as the fear of God took hold of him. The book of Matthew also says that during the transfiguration, Christ's face shone like the sun and His clothes were white as light.

(Mat 17:2) And was transfigured before them: and his face did shine as the sun, and his raiment was white as the light.

#### **Apostle John's Revelation**

Apostle John was another of the three witnesses of the transfiguration.

He is also the writer of the book of Revelation.

In his heavenly encounter with our risen Lord and Saviour, he fell down at Christ's feet as a dead man.

He describes the appearance of our risen Lord and King.

(Rev 1:12-17) And I turned to see the voice that spake with me. And being turned, I saw seven golden candlesticks; And in the midst of the seven candlesticks one like unto the Son of man, clothed with a garment down to the foot, and girt about the paps with a golden girdle. His head and his hairs were white like wool, as white as snow; and his eyes were as a flame of

fire; And his feet like unto fine brass, as if they burned in a furnace; and his voice as the sound of many waters. And he had in his right hand seven stars: and out of his mouth went a sharp twoedged sword: and his countenance was as the sun shineth in his strength. And when I saw him, I fell at his feet as dead. And he laid his right hand upon me, saying unto me, Fear not; I am the first and the last:

John said

- Christ's hair was white like wool because of the radiance of His light
- Christ's eyes were as flames of fire
- Christ's feet were burning like a bronze flame
- Christ's voice was like the sound of many waters

#### This is who our Lord and Saviour is today.

### The Daystar Army Arising

In these Last Days, Christ's End Time army is arising before Christ's second coming.

This End Time army will be used to do great signs, wonders and miracles as they have become Christ-like in nature.

The Bible shows that in the Last Days God is going to move through His End Time bride in a mighty way.

Christ's End Time army will be made up of believers who live in their first love as bridegroom lovers and warriors.

They will press into God's glorious holy presence.

There is an End Time army arising from the dew of the morning at day dawn, until the day dawn and the daystar arises.

(Psa 110:2,3) The LORD shall send the rod of thy strength out of Zion: rule thou in the midst of thine enemies. Thy people shall be willing in the day of thy power, in the beauties of holiness from the womb of the morning: thou hast the dew of thy youth.

# They will be a worshipping End Time army in Zion, and they will rule and shine with the light of the daystar.

Out of this shining light, nations will come and bow before Christ and receive salvation. This is the biblical account of God's End Time army.

#### A Glorious Army

Isaiah 60 shows the time just before Christ's second coming we are to rise and shine.

(Isa 60:1,2) Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the LORD is risen upon thee. For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people: but the LORD shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee.

Now is the time for us to arise and shine.

Now is the time for the Daystar army to arise.

### We have to shine the:

### A. Light

It says to arise and shine, we will do this by walking in the light of God. Christ is the light of God.

Christ has come and is the light of the world whereby we shine.

#### B. Glory

The End Time army is glorious for it says the glory of the Lord has risen upon thee.

God's End Time army is going to be an army that shines forth God's glorious nature and His glorious, majestic presence.

Through this end time move, nations will come to the glorious light. Multitudes will repent and be saved.

This glorious army will be used to do the greatest signs and wonders and people will marvel and give glory to God.

#### The Father of Glory

Apostle Paul walked in great realms of glory, and he says that the Father of glory wants to open up the glory realm for us.

(Eph 1:17,18) That the God of our Lord Jesus Christ, the Father of glory, may give unto you the spirit of wisdom and revelation in the knowledge of him: The eyes of your understanding being enlightened; that ye may know what is the hope of his calling, and what the riches of the glory of his inheritance in the saints,

Through the glory of the Holy Spirit, we will enter into a deep, intimate relationship with Jesus, who is also the King of glory.

For it says that the Spirit of wisdom and revelation will lead us into a deep, intimate relationship with Him.

### **Last Day Outpourings**

The book of Joel says that the Lord will pour out His Holy Spirit in a mighty way. He also talks about the early and the latter rain.

(Joe 2:23) Be glad then, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in the LORD your God: for he hath given you the former rain moderately, and he will cause to come down for you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain in the first month.

2000 years ago, on the day of Pentecost, the early rain of the Holy Spirit was poured out. Today, we are in the latter days and the Lord has started to pour out the beginnings of the latter-day rains.

Therefore, He has also given us visions, dreams and prophecies of what He is about to do before His second coming.

#### The River and Visions and Dreams

Apostle Peter said that according to Joel, the Holy Spirit's baptisms would release dreams, visions and prophecy.

In the baptisms of the Holy Spirit is the great river of life loosed in our lives.

In this river, there is the voice of God, as the voice of God is upon the many waters.

Psa 29:3 The voice of the LORD is upon the waters: the God of glory thundereth: the LORD is upon many waters.

The river of life inside of us goes together with God's still small voice which will release visions and dreams.

God's voice can also come powerfully through His fire and Holy Spirit's wind.

We also see this in Psalm 29 and in Acts 2 where God's voice released the wind or sound which brought forth the fire which released God's voice in the speaking in tongues with messages in different languages for different people.

Psa 29:7 The voice of the LORD divideth the flames of fire.

God's End Time soldiers are called to press into being filled to overflowing and to learn to hear the voice of God.

God showed me visions and dreams about the coming End Time army and how to press into the Holy Spirit.

#### **Vision in Denmark**

In the 1990's I had a vision of God's End Time army. The Lord showed that a great and mighty End Time move of the Holy Spirit would come on the earth. Everything in that movement that we will do, has to come from a heart of love and compassion. His banner over this move will be holy love. God showed me that He wanted believers in that revival to live like Jesus, walking like Jesus and the fruits in their lives were like Jesus. These believers are to shine with a dazzling bright light reflecting the glorious, holy presence of God.

#### Mary K. Baxter's Vision

Mary K. Baxter has had many amazing visions. She was taken to hell for 30 nights by the Lord Jesus Christ. Every night for 30 nights, the Lord would come to her house and take her to hell to show her the different places in hell, and then He would bring her back.

He then took her for several nights to show her the glory of God in heaven. She had revelations of the different places and angels in heaven. She also received a vision of God's End Time army. This vision is from her book (Baxter1993)

This is what the Lord told her in the vision about His army:

"Behold, I am preparing a holy army. They will do mighty exploits for Me and destroy Satan's high places. They are an army of holy men and women, boys and girls. They have been anointed to preach the true Gospel, to lay hands on the sick and call the sinner to repentance.

This is an army of working men, housewives, single men, single women, and school children. They are common people, for not many noble have responded to My call. In the past, they have been misunderstood and mistreated, abused and rejected. But I have blessed them with boldness in holiness and spirit. They will begin to fulfil My prophecy and to do My will. I will walk in them, talk in them and work in them.

These are they who have turned to Me with all their heart, soul, mind and strength. This army will awaken many to righteousness and purity of spirit. I will soon begin to move upon them, to choose for My army those I desire. I will search for them in the cities and the towns. Many will be surprised at those I have chosen. You will see them begin to move across the land and do exploits for My name's sake. Watch and see My power at work. (Baxter 1993 pp144)

#### **Great Power to Come**

Carlos Sarmiento was on the TV show "It's Supernatural" and gave a powerful testimony. He was taken up to heaven and heard a conversation between the Father and Jesus Christ. It was about the Last Day and the hard times that there would be.

He said the church will be greatly purged and made ready for the greatest outpouring of the Holy Spirit. With the greatest supernatural miracles ever witnessed. Then He will take the bride home. Carlos wasn't ready for this great coming move. He had become a professional preacher and he had left his first love.

What God said is coming, is:

A great move of the Holy Spirit with

- 1. A great manifestation of power
- 2. A great manifestation of signs and wonders
- 3. The greatest harvest of souls

He then changed his lifestyle and was seeking God's presence so he would live in the first love. He also started a 24/7 prayer house at his church.

In Chapter 5 there are some more visions of God's End Time army.

#### **End Time Army Rising in India**

In India, young people are being trained for the End Time army. In 2014 I went to the Open Heaven's Conference in Jerusalem about the army of the Lord. Prophet Selvaraj was leading the meetings and had also been called to raise up this End Time army. He has had visions about this and says that the day is now coming when we are going to taste the powers of the age to come.

In this coming move, God is going to use this army for the greatest signs ever recorded in history. It is the coming together of the Old Testament miracles and New Testament miracles together. It will be the day that Jesus Christ spoke about that we would do the greater works. It all has to do with the time we are living in, for soon Israel's 70-year week of the book of Daniel will start. It all started with Israel and it will all finish around Israel for Jesus Christ is going to rule in the Millennium from out of Jerusalem and Israel over all the nations.

Zec 14:9 And the LORD shall be king over all the earth: in that day shall there be one LORD, and his name one.

#### A Forerunner

In the 1950s, William Branham was used by God in a mighty way. William was a forerunner of what is going to happen in the Last Days. He was used in evangelism where the gifts of the Holy Spirit were in action. Great healing, wonders and miracles took place.

Many gave their lives to Christ because of the conviction of the Holy Spirit.

#### William Filled with the Spirit

William had begun a tent meeting in his hometown of Jefferson. In those days, a young preacher of 24 years of age, just entering the ministry, the campaign was remarkably successful. It was estimated that as many as 3000 attended a single service and large numbers were converted. At the baptismal service which followed the revival, some 130 people were baptised in water. When the 17<sup>th</sup> person was going down, William said to God, baptise me with the Holy Spirit and power as he goes down. At that moment a great white star-like light came into the sky and the sound of a whirlwind came. They came upon William and he was baptised with the Holy Spirit. He heard a voice say, 'Prepare the way for my second coming as John the Baptist did for My first'. People were in shock when they saw the light, some screamed, some fainted and many more things happened at that moment.

Pictures were taken of the star-like light and the story was edited in the newspaper. In the 1940s and 1950s, William Branham became one of the most influential evangelists. The greatest signs, wonders and miracles happened because God's supernatural power moved through him in a very high dimension and sometimes, people saw God's light all around him. He became a catalyst for others, and it became known as America's Healing Revival.

He was a forerunner for what God wanted to do through God's End Time army. Many thousands of these End Time soldiers are going to be used in those same powerful ways as the company of evangelists under the healing revival umbrella of William Branham. Many evangelists were raised up under his ministry, they are Oral Roberts, Jack Coe, A. A. Allen and T. L. Osborne.

#### **Arise and Shine**

The book of Daniel gives us great insight into the Last Days.

In it, we see that righteousness and righteous people are under attack.

We can see the start of that today in 2022.

The great falling away has started, yet the book of Daniel shows us that many will also be saved and become righteous.

(Dan 12:3) And they that be wise shall shine as the brightness of the firmament; and they that turn many to righteousness as the stars for ever and ever.

Those who turn many to righteousness will shine as stars forever and ever. You can shine like a star in Christ.

## NOW is the time when the Daystar End Time army is arising.

#### Questions

Do you ever receive a vision or dream of God?

If you want to receive them, pray for this right now.

Ask God to show you what your part is in this End Time army.

• Are you baptised or filled with the power of the Holy Spirit?

If not, pray right now, ask: Father God, please baptise me with the power of the Holy Spirit in Jesus Christ's name, Amen.

## Chapter 2: Walking in the Light

#### **God is Holy Light**

The Bible says that God is pure light!

(1Jn 1:5,6) This then is the message which we have heard of him, and declare unto you, that God is light, and in him is no darkness at all. If we say that we have fellowship with him, and walk in darkness, we lie, and do not the truth:

- This light of God is sinless light.
- ❖ It says there is no darkness in Him, this no darkness refers to no moral corruption or sin.
- God's light is holy light.
- His holy light is morally pure, sacred and full of glory.

#### **A Burning Heart**

Today God is looking for and raising up people who seek and serve Him with their whole hearts. God is raising up an End Time army, in this book we are going to teach you how to be a soldier in this End Time army.

An End Time soldier's heart is burning to know God's heart.

Their purpose is that He may be lifted up and glorified in their lives and around the world.

Psa 24:6 This is the generation of them that seek him, that seek thy face, O Jacob. Selah.

This army is the End Time generation or the sons of the dawn whom God is raising up just before His second coming.

They are believers who are filled with the knowledge of God's holy presence and live in the glory of God and going to spread it all around the world.

Hab 2:14 For the earth shall be filled with the knowledge of the glory of the LORD, as the waters cover the sea.

They shall spread the knowledge of the glory of the living God through their lifestyle and their intimate relationship with the Lord. This is an army of wise believers who will win many souls for the kingdom of God. In the Last Days, they will shine like bright stars as Daniel speaks about.

Dan 12:3 And they that be wise shall shine as the brightness of the firmament; and they that turn many to righteousness as the stars for ever and ever.

They will be used by our glorious heavenly Father to demonstrate great signs and wonders.

We have already entered into this time of harvest and God's manifest glory is on the increase around the world. Yet there is also a set time for a greater release of God's glory and power. These set times go hand in hand with the time clock of Israel.

#### **His Face**

This hungry End Time generation is seeking the face of God.

The End Time believers want to know Him deeply and intimately.

Psa 24:6 This is the generation of them that seek him, that seek thy face, O Jacob. Selah.

#### Our God is the holy God of light whose face is shining with glorious light!

When, by faith, we seek after the face of God we will encounter His pure, glorious light and experience His love, joy, goodness and peace.

That glorious light of His face will put our hearts on fire for that light shines His love into our hearts.

1Jn 1:5 This then is the message which we have heard of him, and declare unto you, that God is light, and in him is no darkness at all.

1Jn 4:16 And we have known and believed the love that God hath to us. God is love; and he that dwelleth in love dwelleth in God, and God in him.

This End Time generation will be moved by God the Father's love and compassion to fulfil His will and holy purpose.

Their cry will be to know, to understand and to become one with God's holy presence.

This is the longing of this End Time army, to see His holy face.

God's glorious light shines forth from His holy face and nature!

His motivations will be their motivations.

For God's light shines out of His holy presence!

For this End Time generation seeks His face.

Num 6:25-26 The LORD make his face shine upon thee, and be gracious unto thee: (26) The LORD lift up his countenance upon thee, and give thee peace.

- The word 'face" and the word 'presence' are the same in the Hebrew language. The word Paniym (Strong's H6440)
- So, we can read that out of God's presence (life) comes light!
- When God shines out of His presence, His light will come into your heart, it will cut your heart, and it will transform you into being holy in your lifestyle.

On the day of Pentecost, when Apostle Peter preached with fire on his head, this convicting light cut the hearts of the Jews there and 3000 were converted because of this.

Acts 2:37 (AMP)Now when they heard this, they were cut to the heart [with remorse and anxiety], and they said to Peter and the rest of the apostles, "Brothers, what are we to do?"

#### **Seeing Heaven**

One of the people that God has raised up to be a forerunner of this coming move is Heidi Baker. Out of a heart of compassion and love, she and her husband are feeding many orphan children. God also does many great signs and miracles through Heidi and she sees many people who are blind or deaf being healed.

She prayed for me just before I went to Nepal. I received a heavenly blessing and prayed for 20 orphan children in Nepal. I was used to releasing God's glory realms upon them. For two hours, the Holy Spirit moved on these children and healed some of their traumas, while others received visions. One girl said that she saw Jesus in heaven, and He said to her that she was to become a preacher of the gospel. Most of the orphan children that day saw visions of heaven and God's glorious bright light.

#### The Holy Place

King David's prayer was, "how can we come and live in the holy place of God?" He asked, 'Who can ascend into the hill of the Lord or the holy place'.

Psa 24:3 Who shall ascend into the hill of the LORD? or who shall stand in his holy place?

Psa 24:4 He that hath clean hands, and a pure heart; who hath not lifted up his soul unto vanity, nor sworn deceitfully.

Then David says that he who has clean hands, and a pure heart may come into this holy place. Holy means:

- Morally pure
- Sacred
- Perfect
- Prophet Isaiah had a real vision or encounter into the holy place in heaven.
- He saw that our God is holy and was shaken by this encounter.

Isa 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

The Seraphim said that out of God's holy presence the earth was filled with God's glory.

<u>Therefore</u>, the End Time believers are first called to experience God's holy fire and holy majestic presence to bring His glory around the world.

Isaiah was undone for he saw that he was a man of unclean lips, so a lump of fiery coal was placed on his lips to make him ready for ministry.

#### A Holy King

Out of that holy place, Jesus Christ was sent to us. Jesus Christ is the holy King.

Luk 2:10-11 And the angel said unto them, Fear not: for, behold, I bring you good tidings of great joy, which shall be to all people. (11) For unto you is born this day in the city of David a Saviour, which is Christ the Lord.

❖ Jesus Christ is one with the holy Father and was sent out of that holy place.

He is a holy King full of glory.

This is why Jesus ministered out of the glory and fullness when He was here on earth.

No one else has ever been able to do what He did for us, for he was God walking on earth as a man. On the Mount of Transfiguration, His appearance became as bright as the sun.

This was His holy nature shining as Father God was exalting Him.

He was shining like a dazzling light and the three disciples were shaking in their boots.

Mat 17:2 And was transfigured before them: and his face did shine as the sun, and his raiment was white as the light.

King David prophetically asks them who is this King of glory, the answer then comes in the Psalms, He is Lord of Heaven's army.

Psa 24:10 Who is this King of glory? The LORD of hosts, he is the King of glory. Selah.

### **An Angel of Deliverance**

All the angels were under the authority and leadership of the Lord of Hosts.

This is what Isaiah had seen that the Lord of Hosts is holy.

Isa 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

The Lord of Hosts came down to earth, He said, 'the Father and I are one.' Out of being holy, Christ is also the King of glory.

When this King of glory who is also the Lord of Hosts, sends strong angels into a meeting under his command, great things will happen.

Recently, David Hogan experienced this in one of his meetings. He saw a dazzling bright angel come into the meeting he was conducting. The reaction to this was that all kinds of devils of sickness fled the meeting. Devils of hepatitis, cancer and other diseases. The outcome that night was that all of those people were healed. In Jesus' ministry on earth, He healed people by setting them free which led to the healing.

Mat 4:24 And his fame went throughout all Syria: and they brought unto him all sick people that were taken with divers diseases and torments, and those which were possessed with devils, and those which were lunatick, and those that had the palsy; and he healed them.

Our Lord Jesus Christ is head of the church and He can send His holy ministry angels into our meetings as He will, to deliver and heal His people.

#### Who May Ascend and My Holy Encounter?

Who may ascend or go up and live in the holy place of God?

According to Psalm 24, the answer to that is he who has clean hands and doesn't lie or swear deceitfully, who has a pure heart.

The New Living Translation, also says we shouldn't worship idols.

Psa 24:4 (NLT) Only those whose hands and hearts are pure, who do not worship idols and never tell lies.

In 2005 my wife, Amy, and I were fasting, praying and doing spiritual warfare on the mountains that were strongholds of Satan.

On Mount Tamborine, Queensland, Australia, I received a mighty encounter with God.

The dazzling bright light of God was around me and God said to me, "You are ministering in the glory, yet I call you to come up higher into My holy presence where my consuming fire is burning. Out of this holy presence and its holy fire you will learn to minister for in the Last Days", God said, "He is going to move in a mighty way."

Out of this holy presence and holy fire, He is going to send the Spirit of the fear of the Lord, which would prepare the way for His power to be released.

He said that we could use the glory for our own benefit and make an idol out of it.

He then said that If we surrender to His holy fiery presence, all self-will and sinful ways will be burned up and then we will be made ready for His coming move.

- These realms of God's holy presence are revealed throughout the Bible.
- This is the way God moved through the Bible and did great signs, wonders and miracles as He moved out of His holy, majestic presence.
- Saul was confronted by this great dazzling glorious light.

Act 22:11 (AMP)but since I could not see because of the [glorious intensity and dazzling] brightness of that light, I was led by the hand by those who were with me and came into Damascus.

❖ By this great dazzling glorious intense bright light, Saul was called to become Apostle Paul.
Come Up Higher

• God is calling this End Time army up higher into this holy place so they can minister with holy fire.

Rev 4:1 After this I looked, and, behold, a door *was* opened in heaven: and the first voice which I heard *was* as it were of a trumpet talking with me; which said, Come up hither, and I will shew thee things which must be hereafter.

❖ To come up there we first need to come to His holy consuming altar and be made ready.

It says in Revelations 3 that we need to buy of Him gold tried in the fire. He wants to give us white clothes and anointing oil so we can see.

Rev 3:18 I counsel thee to buy of me gold tried in the fire, that thou mayest be rich; and white raiment, that thou mayest be clothed, and *that* the shame of thy nakedness do not appear; and anoint thine eyes with eye salve, that thou mayest see.

Our beloved Lord is knocking on our door so we have fellowship more deeply and we will be in the fire of His love and ready to come up higher so we can see the throne room in visions where the holy dazzling bright light of God is shining in heaven.

Rev 4:8 And the four beasts had each of them six wings about *him;* and *they were* full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

#### **Walking in Revival Light**

- ❖ As believers we are called to walk in the holy light of God for God is light.
- This light is pure or holy, therefore, there is no darkness, sin or deception in it.

God's light comes forth out of God's life and is full of love, beauty, glory and truth.

1Jn 1:5-7 This then is the message which we have heard of him, and declare unto you, that God is light, and in him is no darkness at all. (6) If we say that we have fellowship with him, and walk in darkness, we lie, and do not the truth: (7) But if we walk in the light, as he is in the light, we have fellowship one with another, and the blood of Jesus Christ his Son cleanseth us from all sin.

God has called me as a revivalist. He said to me that if I learn to walk in the light of God and abide in it, I will walk in constant personal revival.

Therefore, I need to keep short accounts.

If I sin, I need to confess it, be washed again by the blood of Jesus Christ and repent of it. I tell you, this is a great way to live, for I experience God's closeness in my life and live constantly in personal revival because of this.

#### William Branham's Youth

William Branham's birth was very special for when he was just laying as a new baby in his crib, a light was shining over him.

When he was a young boy of 7 years of age, he was carrying water near his house. He stopped under a tree to rest when, all of a sudden, he heard a sound like the wind blowing the leaves.

"I knew that it wasn't blowing in any other place. It seemed to be a very still afternoon.

Then there came a voice saying, 'Never drink, smoke, or defile your body in any way for I have a work for you when you get older." (Lindsay n.d.)

When William was about 20 years of age, after many troubles and trials, he went to seek God.

He didn't grow up in a Christian family, therefore, he had to seek God on his own.

All at once, there came a light in the shed where he was praying, and it formed a cross.

It was then that he gave his life to Jesus Christ and was saved.

Sometime later, when he was baptised, a light appeared in the sky and many saw it.

This was one more sign that God was specifically calling this young man.

God then used him with the greatest healing ministry in the 1950s. Many were saved as they saw the miracles and heard him preach the gospel.

#### The Light of the World

#### The God of the Bible is holy, and He is light!

Jesus Christ, who is one with God the Father, said that He is the light of the world.

Only that true light, who is also the truth, can save us.

William Branham was a Last Day forerunner who walked in the light of God therefore, God did great signs, wonders and miracles through him.

There were manifestations of God's light around him and many saw this as he implored them to repent and come to Jesus Christ.

Now God is building an army of believers who are preparing the way for Jesus Christ's second coming as they learn to do signs and wonders as Christ walked in them.

They are believers who, in the first place, have the fruit of the spirit as the true witness in their lives. They also live daily in the holy presence of God.

#### Questions

• Are you walking in the light of God daily? God's blessings are good, yet God wants us to live in deep fellowship with Him which comes by living in the light and confessing our sins.

• Have you learned to daily confess your sins at your prayer altar? Do this right now, remember, revival starts by daily living in this light.

## Chapter 3: The Cross, Humility and Healing Revival

#### **Soldiers of the Cross and Faith**

In this chapter, we are going to learn that End Time soldiers are called to be soldiers of the cross and faith. Through faith in the redeeming cross of Christ, the power of God's Holy Spirit becomes manifest.

Therefore, End Time soldiers need to understand the mystery of the cross and have faith in God's redeeming plan.

(1Co 2:2) For I determined not to know any thing among you, save Jesus Christ, and him crucified.

#### **The Coming of a Great Healing Move**

Anna Rountree was taken up into heaven. God showed her many things and glories to come. In the first part of her book, she talks about the great coming attack against the church which we see starting today with the attack on godly morals. She says that true believers will unite and move powerfully in the Last Days.

She was then told that a great healing move is coming before the Lord returns. She talked to many angels in heaven who had been part of the great healing revival of the 1950s. She states in the book, "Another angel of the platform spoke, 'that which occurred during the last great outpouring of the Spirit for healing was very painful to all of us'. They shook their heads sadly, looking at one another. 'Corruption crept in', another said, 'elusive sin by elusive sin. Finally, most had corrupted the gift beyond the recognition of those of us who were serving them. ''Mankind may be deceived by outward show,' another angel said, 'but we saw all that happened. God is not mocked.' They paused a moment; the gravity of that which had occurred was still painful to them. The first angel spoke again. 'In this coming revival, the gift will be so widespread that the corruption due to pride and power is less likely to occur.' To this statement, another angel added, 'But watch for these: pride, the lust for power, greed and sexual lust.'' It will not be the lesser demons you will need to battle, but demons as strong as you and rabidly determined because the time is short,' the first angel said." (Rountree 1977 pgs. 31,32)

The angels even taught her that we have to have faith in God's Word for healing. That healing is part of God's covenant and that, through faith, we need to abide in Christ and stay in His presence.

- Therefore, we should be warned by this to become more like Jesus Christ.
- ❖ We should also become soldiers of the cross and learn to carry our cross.

We need to use our faith to have godly morals, a pure heart and the fruits of the Holy Spirit.

We are also called to learn to war as soldiers, with our faith to believe that God wants to heal the sick.

#### **End Time Foundation Ministries**

Generals in an army know everything about their king, kingdom, government and the rules and regulations of the land.

This is why God has apostles and prophets whose first call is to know all about the King of glory and His kingdom. They know the Word of God, which teaches us about God's commands. Apostles and prophets are the two foundational ministries.

Eph 2:20 And are built upon the foundation of the apostles and prophets, Jesus Christ himself being the chief corner stone;

They are the two ministries that are called to know the King of glory intimately and they understand the mysteries of the gospel.

Today, the churches have drifted away from the foundational teachings of the Bible.

God's Last Day strategy is to raise up this End Time army who will shine the light and will teach the true ways of God.

#### **Mysteries of the Cross Revealed**

Apostle Paul was called to reveal many hidden ministries in his time as an apostle as he was a steward of the mysteries of God.

1Co 4:1 Let a man so account of us, as of the ministers of Christ, and stewards of the mysteries of God.

He said that through the Spirit of God, the hidden mysteries are revealed as we are filled with the spirit of wisdom.

1Co 2:7-8 But we speak the wisdom of God in a mystery, even the hidden wisdom, which God ordained before the world unto our glory: (8) Which none of the princes of this world knew: for had they known it, they would not have crucified the Lord of glory.

Much of the church today chooses the wisdom of man instead of the true wisdom of God. The true wisdom of God lies in the preaching of the cross.

1Co 1:23-24 But we preach Christ crucified, unto the Jews a stumbling block, and unto the Greeks foolishness; (24) But unto them which are called, both Jews and Greeks, Christ the power of God, and the wisdom of God.

#### The Last Days End Time army will again preach the message of the cross.

This is the true message and therefore the Spirit of wisdom will be upon these believers.

They will love the message or preaching of the cross more than their lives.

Rev 12:11 And they overcame him by the blood of the Lamb, and by the word of their testimony; and they loved not their lives unto the death.

#### At the Cross and its Benefits

All of our spiritual life, blessings, healings and victories come to us by faith in what Jesus Christ's blood sacrifice upon the cross did for us.

Apostle Paul, who was a spiritual General in the kingdom of God who revealed mysteries, said that he was determined to know nothing apart from Jesus Christ and Him crucified.

1Co 2:2 For I determined not to know anything among you, save Jesus Christ, and him crucified.

Apostle Paul also said that the preaching of the cross is whereby the power of God was manifested and that this is the central message of the Gospel and the Bible.

1Co 1:17-18 For Christ sent me not to baptize, but to preach the gospel: not with wisdom of words, lest the cross of Christ should be made of none effect. (18) For the preaching of the cross is to them that perish foolishness; but unto us which are saved it is the power of God.

#### He said that we should preach Christ crucified.

Preaching like this is a stumbling block and foolishness for many but it brings forth the power of God.

1Co 1:23-24 But we preach Christ crucified, unto the Jews a stumbling block, and unto the Greeks foolishness; (24) But unto them which are called, both Jews and Greeks, Christ the power of God, and the wisdom of God.

- The preaching of the cross and Christ's resurrection is whereby the power of God is released.
- ❖ We call this the gospel of Christ or the gospel of the cross.

It paid for our sin.

The power of sin, death, sickness and Satan's power was all broken on the cross.

Col 1:20 And, having made peace through the blood of his cross, by him to reconcile all things unto himself; by him, I say, whether they be things in earth, or things in heaven.

Col 2:14-15 Blotting out the handwriting of ordinances that was against us, which was contrary to us, and took it out of the way, nailing it to his cross; (15) And having spoiled principalities and powers, he made a shew of them openly, triumphing over them in it.

There is healing in the blood covenant and there is healing for us by His stripes.

For it says, "By His stripes, you are healed".

As a soldier and a believer, you are called to believe this and minister this.

Your faith is to stand and move in the power of God that comes to us by the redeeming work of Jesus Christ on the cross.

1Co 2:5 That your faith should not stand in the wisdom of men, but in the power of God.

The cross is not only for redemption, faith and being born again.

The cross is also here for daily or progressive sanctification.

By faith, we have positional sanctification or are made holy, yet we need the work of the cross to change our bad habits or sin daily. This process is called progressive sanctification.

1Th 5:23 And the very God of peace sanctify you wholly; and I pray God your whole spirit and soul and body be preserved blameless unto the coming of our Lord Jesus Christ.

This progressive sanctification process helps us to grow the fruit of the Holy Spirit and to become more like Jesus Christ in our actions.

It is important to grow deep in the gospel of the cross as an End Time believer.

When persecution and hard times come, true soldiers of the cross of Christ will stand.

#### Walking and Living by Faith

Faith has to become a lifestyle for the End Time army.

Their power does not lay in the strength of the arm of the flesh but in believing in the greatness of their God.

They are believers who read the Bible every day for faith comes by hearing and hearing the Word of God.

Rom 10:17 So then faith cometh by hearing, and hearing by the word of God.

#### **Faith for Godly Character**

Faith is here for salvation and miracles and also for godly character.

2Pe 1:5-7 And beside this, giving all diligence, add to your faith virtue; and to virtue knowledge; (6) And to knowledge temperance; and to temperance patience; and to patience godliness; (7) And to godliness brotherly kindness; and to brotherly kindness charity.

Apostle Peter said that our faith should also be used to grow the fruit of the spirit in our lives with qualities like patience and love.

❖ Then through our faith and these fruits of the spirit, we are called to grow in godliness, integrity or good character.

This is what true sonship is all about.

The End Time army soldiers are all called to become sons of God who manifest His glory. In my book called "Faith", you can learn about this process, this process is an important process for true fruit-bearing.

As End Time believers are called in the End Time army, you have to major on character, godliness and the fruit of the Holy Spirit for the pressure of sins and attacks against you will be strong. This is spiritual warfare whereby Satan's demons will come out of the bush at once to destroy those who built their houses on the sand.

Therefore, we are called to build our house, spiritual life and godly character on the rock.

#### Jesus' Heart is Humble

#### Our Lord called us to come and learn of him.

Why and what do we have to learn from Him?

We are called to learn humility and gentleness of Him so we can cultivate this same humility and gentleness in our lives and ministry.

Mat 11:29 Take my yoke upon you, and learn of me; for I am meek and lowly in heart: and ye shall find rest unto your souls.

Jesus Christ came from heaven where humility and servanthood reign. He has come to bring heaven's lifestyle to earth as He preached and taught about the kingdom of heaven. He demonstrated humility and servanthood by humbling himself even to die on the cross for us. Satan's nature is pride, rebellion, anger, lying and stealing.

Mankind has given itself over to pride, rebellion and lying.

The cross is the wisdom of God revealed to man so our pride can be broken.

1Co 1:23-24 But we preach Christ crucified, unto the Jews a stumbling block, and unto the Greeks foolishness; (24) But unto them which are called, both Jews and Greeks, Christ the power of God, and the wisdom of God.

Satan and his fallen nature, sin and the powers of darkness were defeated on the cross.

Col 2:13-15(NLT)You were dead because of your sins and because your sinful nature was not yet cut away. Then God made you alive with Christ, for he forgave all our sins. <sup>14</sup> He canceled the record of the charges against us and took it away by nailing it to the cross. <sup>15</sup> In this way, he disarmed the spiritual rulers and authorities. He shamed them publicly by his victory over them on the cross.

Due to Satan's pride, he could not understand that he was going to be defeated on the cross. If he had understood this, he would not have crucified Christ.

1Co 2:7-8 But we speak the wisdom of God in a mystery, even the hidden wisdom, which God ordained before the world unto our glory: (8) Which none of the princes of this world knew: for had they known it, they would not have crucified the Lord of glory.

Now we can receive, by faith in Christ, this divine godly life and grow up in these godly qualities like humility, gentleness and the other fruits.

#### **An Army of Humble Warriors**

The End Time army is called to an army that will be marked by humility, brokenness, and good fruits. How do we get these?

What many believers don't know is that the blood of Christ on the cross deals with our sin and the body of Christ on the cross deals with our heart, fallen nature or flesh and pride.

Gal 5:24 And they that are Christ's have crucified the flesh with the affections and lusts.

The heart of man is where the sin nature is, and we need to crucify the flesh or old heart when it rises back up.

Our Lord said that out of the heart proceeds evil thoughts; murder, adultery and therefore also pride, self-will, me, myself and I.

Mat 15:19 For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies:

As a believer, it is no longer I that lives, but Christ in me.

Gal 2:20 I am crucified with Christ: nevertheless I live; yet not I, but Christ liveth in me: and the life which I now live in the flesh I live by the faith of the Son of God, who loved me, and gave himself for me.

In the Last Days, many will be deceived, and deception is, therefore, a strong force.

Deception finds its way into us when we are driven by pride, arrogance and selfish ambition.

The roots of anger are also based on pride and the opposite of anger is gentleness that is why our Lord calls us to learn from Him for He is humble and gentle of heart.

#### **Brokenness Overcomes Pride**

In the Last Days, there will be much offence and many believers will become offended and angry, whereby pride is then the root of the fall.

To overcome all of this and become an overcomer, we are called to become broken of I, pride and self-will.

When we become broken and have brokenness in our lives, we will grow in humility and the fruits of the kingdom.

The true sacrifice of God is a broken spirit and a broken heart.

Psa 51:17 The sacrifices of God are a broken spirit: a broken and a contrite heart, O God, thou wilt not despise.

God is near the broken-hearted and hears and answers their prayer, as they believe Him.

Psa 34:18 The LORD is nigh unto them that are of a broken heart; and saveth such as be of a contrite spirit.

Christ was broken on the cross for us.

He showed us this already when He broke the bread and gave us the new instructions of the Holy Communion.

Mat 26:26 And as they were eating, Jesus took bread, and blessed it, and brake it, and gave it to the disciples, and said, Take, eat; this is my body.

#### Brokenness is the way to victory.

Where the old self-will, the old nature or pride rise up, we let God break us at the cross of Christ.

The greatest manifestation of God's glory is Christ's sacrifice on the cross.

In the suffering, He showed patience, endurance and self-control.

In hate, He showed love.

When the bitter words were spoken as He hung on the cross, He forgave.

Brokenness is not an end in itself but brings forth humility and a greater outpouring of the Holy Spirit in our lives. Out of this, the fruits of the Holy Spirit grow, and greater levels of gifts and Holy spirit power will be given to winning souls by signs, wonders and miracles. the End Time army has to become an army of broken soldiers of heart and spirit who trust in their heavenly Father. They are called to be humble and full of faith.

#### **Soldiers with Great Faith**

For many years now, the Lord has been building this End Time army.

This army is an army of soldiers who have great faith.

These soldiers are trained in faith for healing, deliverance, provision and to dwell in His presence.

This book is also to train you as a soldier, to grow in faith and become strong in the Word.

These soldiers have to reflect the image of Christ and the fruit of the Holy Spirit.

Faith grows by hearing the Word and by obedience to God's Word as well as what the Lord tells you to do. We must not harden our hearts.

Heb 3:7-8 Wherefore (as the Holy Ghost saith, to day if ye will hear his voice, (8) Harden not your hearts, as in the provocation, in the day of temptation in the wilderness:

Once, I was in a meeting and I was confused about what happened during the worship at a praise and worship conference. That night, the Lord spoke my name out loud in a night vision in my dream. He said, "Enter into My rest" and gave me Hebrews 3:8. This event changed my life. I needed to use my faith to enter into the promised rest of God. I kept my heart open and through faith and obedience, entered into much deeper and more powerful ways of praise, worship, His love, goodness, joy and peace.

Through faith, we enter His rest. God's army is called to live out of this rest. In this place of rest, we experience God's glorious light, presence and abilities.

#### **Howard Pittman Visions**

Howard was converted at a young age. He became a policeman and also preached the gospel as a lay preacher. The Lord showed him later in life, that God was raising up the End Time army. Howard thought he was a good Christian. He had started to look after many less fortunate children and was active in Christian ministry, but God wanted him to seek first the kingdom and to pick up his cross. Then he almost died, and God spoke to him just outside the pearly gate of New Jerusalem in heaven.

#### **God's Voice Thundered**

Howard said, "That the tone of God's anger knocked me on my face as God proceeded to tell me just what kind of life I had really lived. He pointed out that my faith was dead, that my works were not acceptable and that I had laboured in vain. He told me that it was an abomination for me to live such a life and then dare call it a life of worship. God showed me that I did my works out of selfish motives." (Pittman n.d. p35)

Howard says that our God is jealous and will have no other gods before Him.

#### The End Time Army Shown to Howard

When Howard was in heaven, God gave five points to share with the believers. The fifth point was that God is building His End Time army, let's read it.

"This is the greatest news since the day of Pentecost. God is now in the process of recruiting an army with which He will shake this old world one more time. By working through His soldiers, God will produce great miracles that will shake the established hierarchy of the so-called organised religion that is in this world today. These soldiers that God is now recruiting will demonstrate the power of God to a greater extent than did the disciples in the Pentecostal age. Some will be even greater demonstrations than that of Elijah. This is fantastic. This is the greatest news of all time! God's recruitment for this army has been going on for some time. Some of these soldiers have been brought up to a certain level of faith and placed in a 'holding' position where they shall remain until He has brought all the new ones up to that level. Remember, the Bible says that He is the author and finisher of our faith. It is going to be through the faith of the soldiers that God will demonstrate His great power. As was stated earlier, for a long time He has been recruiting a few. Now the recruitment has begun in earnest because God is about to perform the great miracles through His army that He promised us He would do in the Bible. John the Baptist brought the spirit of Elijah into this world and he did not even know he had it. He denied it, but Jesus confessed that it was so. The purpose of that spirit was to make straight the paths of the coming of the Lord.

I declare unto you that you the soldiers who are being recruited now to join with those who have been recruited in the past will bring to this world the spirit of Elijah. Again, the purpose is to make straight the paths of the coming of the Lord for He is about to come again. You that sleep now is the time to awaken! You that have been in that 'holding' pattern for years, look up! You're about to be put to work! To the new recruit, I would say study the Bible diligently and seek the Lord's will in every aspect of your life. Time is short for your spiritual training, but you will be used in ways you never thought possible if you seek the Lord FIRST in your life.

You who are to be chosen will be the soldiers of the latter rain as referred to in scripture. This recruitment is for the end of the great revival spoken of by the prophet Joel and begun on the day of Pentecost. The End Time of that great revival is the beginning of the latter rain, so you must prepare for the battle with the discipline of a professional soldier.

Know this also. There shall be a time or process of 'culling' those who are not qualified to be a member of this 'Gideon's' army. Just as in Gideon's army in the Bible, only a select few will be fit for

service in the army of Christian soldiers the Lord will use in the battle of the latter rain. "(Pittman n.d. pgs. 42,43)

#### **The Other Four Points**

The other four points that God spoke to Howard about are:

- 1. That we are living in the Laodicea church age and that we are to come up to the level of being on fire for God. We are called to be hot.
- 2. <u>Satan is a real devil</u>. Satan has lied and said there is no devil and there are no real demons. This is his way to deceive men so they won't know their enemy and therefore, he can deceive, lie and steal from them.
- 3. <u>Today, it is like in the days of Noah</u>. People are looking for natural things like building houses, commerce, planning etc. mankind can see all the signs of the Last Days, therefore we need to wake up.
- 4. We are called to be ambassadors for Christ. We are called to be Christians 24 hours a day, 7 days a week; being always ready to share the gospel and to be a witness. Therefore, seek first the kingdom of God.

#### The Shield of Faith

As Howard Pittman said, God is raising up End Time soldiers who are on fire.

For we are called to be disciples of Christ and a disciple has the attitude of a soldier.

• These soldiers are soldiers of faith and the cross of Christ.

We are disciples, sons and soldiers of the King of glory and called into His apostolic and prophetic End Time army.

As we saw earlier, God's army is called to come up higher and put on the armour of light.

#### **Put Your Mind on Things Above**

We are called to put our minds on the things above where Christ is seated.

Col 3:1-2 If ye then be risen with Christ, seek those things which are above, where Christ sitteth on the right hand of God. (2) Set your affection on things above, not on things on the earth.

I served in Youth with a Mission for about five years, I saw our leader's lifestyle as I stayed on the main base for three months as a mission builder in Kona, Hawaii. He lived a sober lifestyle and, most of the time lived out of his suitcase. When we learn to seek the things above, we don't want to be rich on earth, but ready for eternity in heaven.

In my five years with YWAM, all I had was a backpack with clothes in it and a guitar. We are coming to the Last Days and yes, God wants to bless us, but the greatest blessing is to win many souls and disciple many believers. Apostle Paul said that he was satisfied with little and satisfied with much. He died for the Lord after a time of living in prison. Christ said seek ye first the kingdom of God.

Mat 6:33 But seek ye first the kingdom of God, and his righteousness; and all these things shall be added unto you.

Once you have found it, don't put your eyes on the blessings but keep seeking the things above. If you learn to live a simple life, that will be easier for you in the Last Days.

## **Question**

Have you made the cross a daily altar yet?
 Ask God to let the fire come upon your altar.
 For you are called to be a living sacrifice.

## Chapter 4: The Manifestation of the Sons of God

#### **Evangelist Philip**

In this chapter, we are going to look at true godly qualities.

- The manifestation of the sons of God is, in the first place, godly qualities and godly fruits.
- We are called to manifest and cultivate these godly qualities.

Out of these godly qualities, God's power will also manifest in great signs and wonders.

In the book of Acts, Evangelist Philip was used in a mighty way.

Crowds would come, as great miracles would happen, and lame and paralysed people were healed. Many evil spirits were cast out of the sick, bound and diseased people and they were healed.

Act 8:6-7 And the people with one accord gave heed unto those things which Philip spake, hearing and seeing the miracles which he did. (7) For unclean spirits, crying with loud voice, came out of many that were possessed with them: and many taken with palsies, and that were lame, were healed.

There was a man named Simon, who used to be a sorcerer or warlock and did magic, who saw what God was doing.

Act 8:9-12 But there was a certain man, called Simon, which before time in the same city used sorcery, and bewitched the people of Samaria, giving out that himself was some great one: (10) To whom they all gave heed, from the least to the greatest, saying, This man is the great power of God. (11) And to him they had regard, because that of long time he had bewitched them with sorceries. (12) But when they believed Philip preaching the things concerning the kingdom of God, and the name of Jesus Christ, they were baptized, both men and women.

Simon the Sorcerer then believed and was baptised.

Act 8:13 Then Simon himself believed also: and when he was baptized, he continued with Philip, and wondered, beholding the miracles and signs which were done.

#### **An Unrepentant Heart**

However, his heart was not truly right for he hadn't truly repented.

Repentance is an important part of becoming a true believer.

The Lord Jesus Christ had preached and said, 'Repent of your sin and turn to God and believe for the kingdom of heaven is at hand.

Mat 4:17 (NLT) From then on Jesus began to preach, "Repent of your sins and turn to God, for the Kingdom of Heaven is near."

Therefore, we are called to first repent of our sin, then turn to God and believe. Simon followed Philip so he could see the great miracles Philip performed.

Simon believed, but his heart was not right for he desired power and hadn't totally turned his heart to God.

He was like a Laodicea Christian, he was lukewarm, had wrong desires and wasn't walking in a close relationship with Jesus Christ.

- He was lusting after power so he could be number one or important in man's eyes.
- ❖ Simon was, therefore, an ungodly believer.

#### **Apostle Peter and John**

Apostles Peter and John came to help Evangelist Philip. These believers were not yet filled, baptised or empowered by the Holy Spirit.

As the Apostles prayed with the believers, they received the power or baptism of the Holy Spirit.

Act 8:17 Then laid they their hands on them, and they received the Holy Ghost.

When Simon saw how this gift of God worked through the Apostles, he wanted to give them money so he could buy this gift from them.

Act 8:18 And when Simon saw that through laying on of the apostles' hands the Holy Ghost was given, he offered them money,

#### Peter became very angry.

## <u>Peter said God's kingdom and His gifts are not about money and you can't buy them.</u>

<u>He then rebuked Simon further by saying, your heart is not right with God for you haven't truly</u> repented.

Peter said, 'Repent of your wickedness and humble yourself before God.'

Act 8:20-21 But Peter said unto him, Thy money perish with thee, because thou hast thought that the gift of God may be purchased with money. (21) Thou hast neither part nor lot in this matter: for thy heart is not right in the sight of God.

According to Peter, Simon the Sorcerer was still captive of his sin and hadn't truly repented of his sin, he hadn't truly surrendered and turned to God.

Act 8:22 Repent therefore of this thy wickedness, and pray God, if perhaps the thought of thine heart may be forgiven thee.

#### **True Repentance**

Christ had laid out what true repentance was in His message.

Mat 4:17 (NLT) From then on Jesus began to preach, "Repent of your sins and turn to God, for the Kingdom of Heaven is near."

#### Repentance is:

- 1. Repenting and breaking with sin
- 2. Turning to God

- 3. Changing your ways, lifestyle and mindset as you believe and are born again.
- Simon, as a believer, was full of sin, lust for power and bitter jealousy; he was held captive by sin.
- He wanted to move with God's gifts but according to Matthew 7, Christ would have called him a false prophet for the fruit of repentance, obedience and the fruit of the Spirit were missing from Simon's life.

Mat 7:15-17 Beware of false prophets, which come to you in sheep's clothing, but inwardly they are ravening wolves. (16) Ye shall know them by their fruits. Do men gather grapes of thorns, or figs of thistles? (17) Even so every good tree bringeth forth good fruit; but a corrupt tree bringeth forth evil fruit.

### **Manifestation of God's Sons**

In the Book of Romans, it says that all of creation is waiting for the manifestation of the sons of God.

Rom 8:19 For the earnest expectation of the creature waiteth for the manifestation of the sons of God.

In the days just before the second coming of the Lord Jesus Christ, this manifestation of the sons of God will start to take place.

God's Spirit is going to move very powerfully through these End Time saints.

- ❖ God's End Time army will be made up of the mature sons and daughters of God who will be made manifest.
- They will be sons who will walk and talk like Jesus throughout their whole lifestyle.
- ❖ They will have the fruits of the Holy Spirit in their lives and their main focus will be being like Jesus.

Mat 7:17 Even so every good tree bringeth forth good fruit; but a corrupt tree bringeth forth evil fruit.

#### **Anna's Heavenly Encounter**

Anna Rountree is an intercessor that was once taken up to heaven. In heaven, she saw things about the past and a further healing revival still coming. In the 1950s there was a great healing revival, and mighty miracles happened. However, in the midst of this, many didn't live up to God's standards. Sin started to take over and God took this manifest glory off them to redistribute it back for the Last Days.

Anna Rountree had this explained to her in heaven.

"'There are angels who have their stripes' Clara (an angel in heaven) said, 'The Lord assigned them to believers during the former healing revival. 'There aren't many,' I said. Clara sighed, 'No only a few on earth were given the gifts of healing in a great measure. These believers were meant to train the many, instead, most of them erected tents and held the gifts for themselves. The gift was used, but since they did not train others, it was corrupted and became a means of enriching themselves personally." In the coming revival, the gift will be widespread; it will be given to many. The angel still warned for pride, lust for power, greed and sexual lust in the great healing move to come. (Rountree 1977 p. 30)

1Jn 2:15-16 Love not the world, neither the things that are in the world. If any man love the world, the love of the Father is not in him. (16) For all that is in the world, the lust of the flesh, and the lust of the eyes, and the pride of life, is not of the Father, but is of the world.

Apostle John warns us about the love of the world, the lust of the flesh, the lust of the eye and the pride of life.

Therefore, we are to daily crucify the works of the flesh and live out of the divine life of the Spirit.

Gal 5:22-24 (NLT) But the Holy Spirit produces this kind of fruit in our lives: love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, <sup>23</sup> gentleness, and self-control. There is no law against these things! Those who belong to Christ Jesus have nailed the passions and desires of their sinful nature to his cross and crucified them there.

#### **Godly Motivations Like Jesus**

We are called to have godly motivations.

## We can learn from Jesus Christ's lifestyle how to have the right motivations and a pure heart.

He called us to learn from Him.

He said, "Come and learn of Me for I am humble and gentle of heart".

Mat 11:29(NLT)Take my yoke upon you. Let me teach you, because I am humble and gentle at heart, and you will find rest for your souls.

#### **Christ's Motivation** and Walk:

#### 1. Glorified God in all

During His whole life, in His motivations, He was seeking to glorify God the Father. This shows His humility.

Joh 5:41 I receive not honour from men.

He also warned the religious not to seek the glory of one another.

Joh 5:44 How can ye believe, which receive honour one of another, and seek not the honour that cometh from God only?

#### 2. Did the Will of the Father

## He was always doing the will of the Father God and ministered under Father God's authority.

Every day, in prayer, Christ sought Father God's plan and His will for that day. The Father showed Him then what He should do as the Spirit of the Lord revealed this to Him.

Joh 8:26 I have many things to say and to judge of you: but he that sent me is true; and I speak to the world those things which I have heard of him.

Joh 5:19 Then answered Jesus and said unto them, Verily, verily, I say unto you, The Son can do nothing of himself, but what he seeth the Father do: for what things soever he doeth, these also doeth the Son likewise.

Christ was always obedient to Father God's will.

We see this in its deepest form at the Mount of Olives when He prays about dying on the cross. He prays, 'not My will but Thine will'.

Luk 22:42 Saying, Father, if thou be willing, remove this cup from me: nevertheless not my will, but thine, be done.

#### 3. He was Humble.

Christ was full of humility. Humility is heaven's lifestyle lived by Christ on earth. Satan is proud and this was his fall, the day he lifted himself above God. Christ humbled Himself even to death on the cross so that we could live.

Php 2:8 And being found in fashion as a man, he humbled himself, and became obedient unto death, even the death of the cross.

#### 4. Godly fruits.

Christ was full of godly fruit.

He lived and ministered out of the godly fruits.

He said, "I am gentle and meek of heart".

Mat 11:29(NLT)Take my yoke upon you. Let me teach you, because I am humble and gentle at heart, and you will find rest for your souls.

#### Godly Motivation or the False Prophet's Ways

Jesus Christ walked and lived godly; therefore, He can teach us the correct way to live.

He also warns us on what to look out for and how to have discernment.

He clearly does this when He says we must beware of false prophets.

Mat 7:15 Beware of false prophets, which come to you in sheep's clothing, but inwardly they are ravening wolves.

The way to discern a person is to look at what fruit that person or prophet bears in their lives.

Mat 7:16 Ye shall know them by their fruits. Do men gather grapes of thorns, or figs of thistles?

Our Lord is talking about the Holy Spirit who baptised believers to speak in tongues, prophesy and heal the sick.

Lord Jesus Christ doesn't say you know them by their prophecy, healing or how spiritual they are.

No, He says you will know them by their fruits.

Mat 7:17 Even so every good tree bringeth forth good fruit; but a corrupt tree bringeth forth evil fruit.

In other words, how does the prophet treat his wife and his children? With love and respect or with anger and aggression?

How does he handle the money, and does he respect authority? Has he truly repented of sin and turned totally to God?

#### **Fruit of Righteousness**

One of the fruits Jesus Christ is talking about here is the fruit of righteousness.

As believers, we are called to bring forth the peaceable fruit of righteousness.

Heb 12:11 Now no chastening for the present seemeth to be joyous, but grievous: nevertheless afterward it yieldeth the peaceable fruit of righteousness unto them which are exercised thereby.

As a new creation in Christ, we are made righteous.

This is true yet not all our ways are righteous when we are new believers.

As we learn to surrender to Christ's Lordship and learn to do the Father's will, we grow in this fruit of righteousness.

When we are disobedient, God disciplines us, so we grow in being holy and the fruit of righteousness grows in us.

#### Simon

In the life of Simon, the Sorcerer, we saw that he hadn't truly repented.

He was only after power.

He used money as a way to get a spiritual gift.

He did his own will and Christ was not his head.

He was called by Apostle Peter to repent and to turn from his sin even though he was a believer.

Act 8:18-22 And when Simon saw that through laying on of the apostles' hands the Holy Ghost was given, he offered them money, (19) Saying, Give me also this power, that on whomsoever I lay hands, he may receive the Holy Ghost. (20) But Peter said unto him, Thy money perish with thee, because thou hast thought that the gift of God may be purchased with money. (21) Thou hast neither part nor lot in this matter: for thy heart is not right in the sight of God. (22) Repent therefore of this thy wickedness, and pray God, if perhaps the thought of thine heart may be forgiven thee.

If Apostle Peter had blessed him, Simon would have become a false prophet and false healer.

\* Yet, Apostle Peter discerned his motives and called him to repentance, to change his ways and his lifestyle.

# Apostle Peter didn't bless him, but called him to repentance and accountability!

#### The Narrow Way

Our Lord taught the truth that the gate to life is narrow, He had been speaking about the gateway to life being narrow and its road is also narrow.

Mat 7:13-14 Enter ye in at the strait gate: for wide *is* the gate, and broad *is* the way, that leadeth to destruction, and many there be which go in thereat: (14) Because strait *is* the gate, and narrow *is* the way, which leadeth unto life, and few there be that find it.

Therefore, we are to learn from Christ's instructions and teachings.

❖ Yet the narrow way is full of glory, whereby we are changed from glory to glory.

One night, an angel spoke in my dream, he said I had to grow, and I knew that God wanted me to still overcome where I hadn't overcome.

The Holy Spirit showed me that I had to love my wife, Amy, and my children much more.

Therefore, I had to press into the narrow gateway even more so that I would be changed from glory to glory.

#### **Narrow Gateway Prophets**

To be a narrow gateway believer or prophet, we need to let the Lord deal with our hearts, which is where it all starts.

Mat 15:19 For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies:

We need to be sheep from our hearts as we deal with bad fruits in our lives to get the fruits of the spirit. By the fruits, ye shall know them.

The fruit of the spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, gentleness, kindness, meekness, faithfulness and self-control.

Mat 7:21 Not every one that saith unto me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the kingdom of heaven; but he that doeth the will of my Father which is in heaven.

Apostle Peter knew that Simon had sheep clothing on but was a wolf on the inside, for Peter looked for true or false fruit.

On the narrow gateway, believers learn to live under God's authority as they have made Jesus Christ their Saviour and Lord.

They do so by learning to do the will of the Father and to be obedient to Him.

Mat 7:21 Not every one that saith unto me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the kingdom of heaven; but he that doeth the will of my Father which is in heaven.

They learn to do His will out of love, for they live in the first love whereby they know Him.

This is the opposite of the way that a false prophet like Simon operates as they want power and gifts without loving and obeying God and doing the will of God.

Apostle Peter warned Simon and said to him, 'repent of your wickedness and your evil, bitter and hardened heart'.

Act 8:22-23 Repent therefore of this thy wickedness, and pray God, if perhaps the thought of thine heart may be forgiven thee. (23) For I perceive that thou art in the gall of bitterness, and in the bond of iniquity.

Peter was saying to him that if he didn't truly repent and change his ways, he would go from bad to worse. Then he would become a false prophet and will end up in hell.

#### **Coming Up Higher II**

In Chapter one we talked about coming up higher and now we will show you what will happen as you do.

- ❖ God's End Time army is called to follow the lifestyle of Jesus Christ.
- ❖ Jesus Christ ministered in the glory and the fullness, which comes to us through the seven spirits of God.

Joh 1:14 And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us, (and we beheld his glory, the glory as of the only begotten of the Father,) full of grace and truth.

When we come up higher, as we meet the conditions, we taught in chapter one, then we come before the throne of God.

#### Before the throne is the Seven Spirits of God burning.

Rev 4:5 And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God.

We are called to learn to live in the fullness of the Holy Spirit, which comes to us by the sevenfold manifest presence of the Holy Spirit.

#### We can also call the fullness the Seven Spirits of God.

The Last Day's glory will be the manifestation of the sons of God as God pours out the latter-day rain

These sons of God will walk in the fullness of God whereby they minister out of the realms of the 7 Spirits of God.

#### **Buy of Me!**

To come up higher, we first need to, through surrender, go lower and deeper.

Gifts are given but increased glory and fullness are bought by surrendering self to God.

Rev 3:18 I counsel thee to buy of me gold tried in the fire, that thou mayest be rich; and white raiment, that thou mayest be clothed, and *that* the shame of thy nakedness do not appear; and anoint thine eyes with eye salve, that thou mayest see.

He said I counsel you to buy of Me gold refined in the fire.

Only a life at the altar, Lordship and a godly lifestyle will live in this fullness.

To buy, you must pay a price. Salvation is free but the fullness and glory of the 7 Spirits of God cost.

\* Therefore, only the mature sons will walk in the fullness as they buy the gold God has prepared for them.

#### **Sonship and Manifestation of Sonship**

There will be a day when the sons of God will ultimately become manifest.

Who exactly will be made manifest?

Rom 8:19 For the earnest expectation of the creature waiteth for the manifestation of the sons of God.

The grown-up, mature sons who have passed God's test will be made manifest.

It is the sons of God who are formed into the image of Jesus Christ.

They have learnt to live in the fire of the first love whereby they have learnt to press into the fires of the 7 Spirits burning before the throne.

Therefore, these sons of God will manifest the fullness in these Last Days.

Rom 8:29 For whom he did foreknow, he also did predestinate to be conformed to the image of his Son, that he might be the firstborn among many brethren.

#### Two Different Words for Son

In the Greek language, which is the language of the New Testament, there are two different words for the word son.

- ❖ The first one has to do with being a son born into a family.
- The second word for son is a son who has become like his father in his daily affairs of life.

It is these sons who have become like their father who will be made manifest in these last days.

#### **Word One: Son by Birth**

The word for a son born in a family is the Greek word Teknos.

This Greek word emphasises the fact of birth.

Joh 1:12 But as many as received him, to them gave he power to become the sons of God, even to them that believe on his name:

#### **Word Two: Manifested Son**

In Greek the word for the son that will be made manifest is Huios.

This word emphasises the relationship of an offspring to its parent, especially of the character or nature of that parent.

So, in other words, it is not those who have simply been born again who will be recognised as sons of God but those who demonstrated the very nature and character of their heavenly Father. (Zoschak 1987 p.16)

So, you don't know them by their miracles or their prophecies but by their fruits and their Christlikeness and how much they look like a true son of God the Father.

## The Full Release

Before the coming of Christ, there will be a great level of authority and power released.

However, the full manifestation is after the second coming of Christ.

This will be during the 1000-year reign on the Earth, this is when the full manifestation of the sons of God will be revealed. Romans 8 clearly states that we are waiting for our new bodies, which will be released to us at the catching away or Christ's second coming.

Rom 8:23 And not only they, but ourselves also, which have the first fruits of the Spirit, even we ourselves groan within ourselves, waiting for the adoption, to wit, the redemption of our body.

The earth won't come under Christ's full authority until the second coming.

We are to work while it is the day, for the night is coming.

On that night that is coming, the promise is that nothing can separate us from the love of God, in tribulation and hardships, God's love is there for us.

After the seven years of tribulations, which Daniel calls the 70<sup>th</sup> Year week, Christ will come back to earth and will rule for 1000 years.

## **Christlikeness and Being Led**

In the charismatic movement, people looked for gifts and not for Christ-like character.

In YWAM or Youth with a Mission, they do focus on being godly.

I was trained in YWAM, this mission organisation, focused on discipleship and Christ-like character.

To be a son who is going to be made manifest, we need both sides in our life.

We need a spiritual hunger for Christlikeness and a spiritual hunger to move with the gifts.

Rom 8:14 For as many as are led by the Spirit of God, they are the sons of God.

- ❖ In the first part, this scripture is talking about the manifestation of the son's character.
- The second part is about being led by the work of the Holy Spirit, speaking in tongues, prophesying and doing wonders, etc.

## Simon had No Fruit

Simon the Sorcerer had no true fruits in his life because he had no true repentance or brokenness over his former sin lifestyle of being a magician.

He didn't let go of being a magician for he hadn't made Jesus Christ the Lord of his life.

Mat 7:17 Even so every good tree bringeth forth good fruit; but a corrupt tree bringeth forth evil fruit.

The important thing is whether you are following yourself or are you doing the will of Jesus Christ as He has become your Lord and Saviour.

Mat 7:21 Not every one that saith unto me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the kingdom of heaven; but he that doeth the will of my Father which is in heaven.

Fruit-bearing of the fruit of the Holy Spirit will make you grow into the image of Jesus Christ. Then you can become a son who will be made manifest.

## **To Know You**

A true minister or prophet knows Christ intimately. False prophets don't know Christ intimately.

Mat 7:23 And then will I profess unto them, I never knew you: depart from me, ye that work iniquity.

We are called to know Christ, Father God and the Holy Spirit in an intimate way. This is how fruits grow, especially the fruit of love. Christ wants us to know Him from heart to heart. A true son gets to know His Father deeply and lovingly. Apostle Paul's cry was that he might know the Father and Christ in a deeply intimate way.

Php 3:10 That I may know him, and the power of his resurrection, and the fellowship of his sufferings, being made conformable unto his death;

As grown-up sons of God, we all need these qualities.

Then God will make us manifest His glory as soldiers in Jesus' End Time army.

## Questions

- Are you surrendered to Christ's Lordship?
- Do you live only for power?
- We are called to do the will of the Father, are you learning to do this?
- Ask God in prayer to help you surrender now and to grow in the fruits of the Holy Spirit.

# Chapter 5: Sons of Love

## John – An Apostle of Love

The End Time army of the Lord is going to shine because they are living in the light.

However, if we truly live in the light, we will be believers filled with love!

If we don't love the brethren, we are still in the darkness.

1Jn 2:9 He that saith he is in the light, and hateth his brother, is in darkness even until now.

If you want to study God's love, much of this subject is found in the writings of Apostle John.

## Of the twelve apostles, John was the apostle of love.

Apostle John's favourite spot was to put his head against the breast of his beloved Lord.

Joh 13:23 Now there was leaning on Jesus' bosom one of his disciples, whom Jesus loved.

When you learn to do this, you will get to know the loving heart of the Lord Jesus.

It is also a place to get to know the deeper secrets.

We see this in the story when Peter asks Jesus who was going to betray Him.

Joh 13:24-26 Simon Peter therefore beckoned to him, that he should ask who it should be of whom he spake. (25) He then lying on Jesus' breast saith unto him, Lord, who is it? (26) Jesus answered, He it is, to whom I shall give a sop, when I have dipped it. And when he had dipped the sop, he gave it to Judas Iscariot, the son of Simon.

Now the Lord's army is going to be made up of believers who have learned to lean upon their beloved.

For the banner over this army is His love.

Son 2:4 He brought me to the banqueting house, and his banner over me was love.

It is an army that lives out of the first love and longs to be the bride of Christ.

The Song of Solomon shows the depths of love between the bride and the bridegroom.

Son 6:3 I am my beloved's, and my beloved is mine: he feedeth among the lilies.

The Song of Songs is a love story that will help us to get closer to the loving heart of our bridegroom King and Saviour.

#### A Heavenly Pattern

John the beloved had learnt a secret pattern.

<u>He saw how the Lord Jesus Christ had his head on the bosom of God the Father, therefore, he learnt to lean his head on the bosom of his Lord and Saviour.</u>

Joh 1:18 No man hath seen God at any time; the only begotten Son, which is in the bosom of the Father, he hath declared *him*.

He understood the oneness of the Father and Son. He said that we beheld His glory, which John knew was the glory of God the Father.

Joh 1:14 And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us, (and we beheld his glory, the glory as of the only begotten of the Father,) full of grace and truth.

Apostle John had seen the face of Jesus Christ shine like a sun on the Mount of Transfiguration.

Mat 17:2 And was transfigured before them: and his face did shine as the sun, and his raiment was white as the light.

- From the scriptures, he knew of Isaiah and the Psalms that talked about the God of glory shining with dazzling bright glorious holy light.
- So, he witnessed that great glorious light on Christ and he heard the voice of the Father say, "This is My Beloved Son.

Therefore, we learn from this statement (that God the Father made), that it is the love that brings this unity or oneness.

<u>For Father God said, this is My Beloved Son</u>, then He said, "I am well pleased with him", so confirmed and gave His approval of His Son.

## The Father

It was because John had a deep relationship with Jesus that he grew in the heart knowledge of the Father.

❖ Therefore, he said that our fellowship is with the Son and the Father.

1Jn 1:3 That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship *is* with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.

If you want to study the Bible about the Father, then you need to especially study the gospel and epistles of John for John knew the Father.

1Jn 2:14 I have written unto you, fathers, because ye have known him *that is* from the beginning. I have written unto you, young men, because ye are strong, and the word of God abideth in you, and ye have overcome the wicked one.

# Christ is our Saviour and wants to reveal the Father heart of God to us through the Holy Spirit.

Yet often the greatest pain in our lives has to do with our earthly father.

This can stop us from knowing God the Father's love for us.

Therefore, we need to receive the love of the Holy Spirit who heals us of our broken hearts so we can get to know the Father heart of God.

Isa 61:1-2 The Spirit of the Lord GOD *is* upon me; because the LORD hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to *them that are* bound; (2) To proclaim the acceptable year of the LORD, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn.

This is why God is raising true apostles of love in this day.

## A Heart of Love

As I shared earlier, in Denmark God had shown me His Last Day army is going to be believers who have a heart filled with the love of God.

At another time, God said to me that He would release His great power once He had risen up sons of love.

Today, we are seeing some sons of love being raised up like Leif Hetland and John Arnott etc. Father God's heart cry is that his heart of love, goodness, joy and peace is revealed here on earth. As His servants, we have to learn to walk, live and surrender to His love, goodness, joy and peace of God's Holy Spirit.

Rom 5:5 And hope maketh not ashamed; because the love of God is shed abroad in our hearts by the Holy Ghost which is given unto us.

Rom 14:17 For the kingdom of God is not meat and drink; but righteousness, and peace, and joy in the Holy Ghost.

This is why God has poured out His love, joy, goodness and peace in places around the world so that we can be filled and changed by His love, goodness and peace.

If you haven't received it, press into these godly virtues, God's sons of love and joy are here to help you to enter into it.

#### **Visions of End Time Revival**

When I was in Jerusalem in 2014 at the Open Heavens Conference, I had a heavenly vision or encounter.

#### The Vision:

I went through a portal of light and glory. After this, I was on the golden streets in heaven. The glory light was the light of love out of Father God's holy heart of love that had brought me into that place.

As I experienced the heart of God's glorious love through the Spirit of the Lord or the Spirit of glory, I saw the angel of the Lord in front of me with a golden trumpet. The angel showed me that we have to position ourselves so the Spirit of glory, who releases love, can move upon us. As I did, the angel of the Lord blew the glory trumpet.

Devils had bound people on earth with chains. Then I saw chains break on earth. The angel blew again. Then glory clouds formed on the earth. As this happened, I saw stadiums filled with people while the bride of Christ was worshipping the Lord in praise and worship with instruments, song, dance, flags and banners. This released the breaker anointing through the Spirit of might. Then God moved with great signs, wonders and miracles.

The cloud of witnesses and the heavenly realms will be working together with us as we worship God the Father and then we will see the harvest of souls come in.

## **Other Words**

There have been other believers and prophets who have seen the same things.

These are prophecies about God's End Time army prophesying about filled stadiums where God will be moving with great signs and wonders.

# **Tommy Hicks**

Tommy Hicks was an American evangelist who was used mightily in Argentina. He prayed for the President's family and God did miracles for them. The result was that he preached in a large stadium there and great signs, wonders and miracles happened, many were saved.

He saw a vision for our time. He saw the total body of Christ and said it was lying on the ground like a giant. It had ropes over its whole body. Then God started to move on the giant and the ropes came off, and the giant arose. This led to revival breaking out over the whole earth.

## **Come Into His Love**

- Now is the time to come into the loving heart of the glory of God the Father.
- The Father wants to give you revelation and wisdom so that you may know Him in a deep, intimate and loving way.

Eph 1:17-18 That the God of our Lord Jesus Christ, the Father of glory, may give unto you the spirit of wisdom and revelation in the knowledge of him: (18) The eyes of your understanding being enlightened; that ye may know what is the hope of his calling, and what the riches of the glory of his inheritance in the saints,

The power of the glory of God will set you free of these ropes that Tommy Hicks saw in his vision. The Father wants to fill all of us with that deep love of Him. He wants us to be rooted and grounded in His love. The Father is waiting to put His loving arms around you. If you have been a prodigal son, He is waiting to embrace you even deeper. If, as the older brother in the parable of the prodigal son, religion has kept you back, the Father is also drawing you with His cords of love to set you free – free from an orphan heart or orphan spirit.

## **Jack Frost**

Jack Frost's father was a strict military man, once a sergeant in the army who saw active duty. The training and experiences carried over into the way he related to his family. He loved them but demanded obedience, so Jack never had a close relationship with his father.

When he was older, he started to grow his hair longer, which was against the rules that his father had in the family. Jack told his father what he thought about his rules for length of hair. Then his father took him down and forcibly cut off Jack's hair. Unfortunately, his discipline had the opposite effect on Jack. (Frost 2002 p. 58)

He left home and became a drug addict. Later on, he learnt about God's goodness and unconditional love. This opened his heart to God, and he became a believer.

Later, he became a pastor, yet still had a hole in his life because, in his heart, he felt like an orphan. All of this affected his relationship with his wife and children devastatingly. One day, when he was at a pastor's conference, the leader said that there were pastors there who were never really deeply loved by their fathers. He said, today, Father God wants to put His arm of love on your shoulder to heal your heart. Jack felt this great burning love come on him and this set him free from the orphan heart, rejection and abandonment.

For the next five months, he cried every day as Abba Father was touching him with His Father's love. After that time, Jack became very effective in the ministry of healing the wounded heart of the believers.

There is also a greater glory of love available for you as you read this.

Start now to pray that the love of Father God will touch and heal your heart where it is wounded.

#### **A New Commandment**

Christ came to bring grace and truth so we would not be saved by the Law but by grace, through faith in His sacrificial blood offering.

Yet He did give us a new commandment.

Joh 13:34-35 A new commandment I give unto you, That ye love one another; as I have loved you, that ye also love one another. (35) By this shall all *men* know that ye are my disciples, if ye have love one to another.

This new commandment is that, as believers, we need to learn to love one another. Part of discipleship is, firstly, to receive the love of the father where you are wounded and then to love the brethren.

When you are a true child of God, you know the Father, for you have opened up your whole heart to Him.

1Jn 2:14 I have written unto you, fathers, because ye have known him that is from the beginning. I have written unto you, young men, because ye are strong, and the word of God abideth in you, and ye have overcome the wicked one.

If you haven't been able to do so, ask the Father now to touch you with His love.

# **Apostle John and The First Love**

Apostle John knew Jesus intimately and also knew the Father from heart to heart. In the book of Revelations, the Lord Jesus Christ is the inspector of the seven churches. He says to the church at Ephesus that their works are good, <u>yet they have let go of the most important thing: their first love.</u>

Rev 2:4 Nevertheless I have somewhat against thee, because thou hast left thy first love.

Rev 2:4 (NLT) "But I have this complaint against you. You don't love me or each other as you did at first!

Lord Jesus said look from what height you have fallen.

So, we can be powerful preachers, teachers and evangelists with signs and wonders following, yet if we don't live in our first love, we have fallen from a great height down to a lower place.

Lord Jesus said to repent of this shortcoming or otherwise, He would remove your lampstand.

Rev 2:5 Remember therefore from whence thou art fallen, and repent, and do the first works; or else I will come unto thee quickly, and will remove thy candlestick out of his place, except thou repent.

The first love is the place of intimacy, union and communion whereby we shine the most.

When we love God and our motivation is love, we will also find it easier to love each other.

- According to the New Living translation of the Bible, the Lord said you stopped loving me more deeply and therefore you stopped loving one another.
- Apostle John, the apostle of love, understood this, therefore, he said our communion, union or fellowship is with the Father and the Son and therefore, out of that love, we will love others.

He understood that living in communion and union with Jesus Christ and the Father means that we are living in the light and our first love.

# An Army of Lovers of God's Love

Apostle John knew that our God is holy and that God is light, yet out of knowing that God is perfect, he said that God is love.

1Jn 4:16 And we have known and believed the love that God hath to us. God is love; and he that dwelleth in love dwelleth in God, and God in him.

This Last Day army is called to know God's love by spending much time in the presence of the loving heart of God.

This is true union, communion and fellowship with God.

They are believers who live in the first love every day for this is their passion.

They are being perfected by love and learn to love others as the Lord and Saviour and Father God loves them.

1Jn 4:17 Herein is our love made perfect, that we may have boldness in the day of judgment: because as he is, so are we in this world.

The Last Day army is made up of believers who learn to love and worship our Lord and Father as did Mary, who poured out her alabaster box of oil on Jesus.

Therefore, our Lord said that the Father has called us to worship Him in spirit and truth.

Joh 4:23-24 But the hour cometh, and now is, when the true worshippers shall worship the Father in spirit and in truth: for the Father seeketh such to worship him. (24) God *is* a Spirit: and they that worship him must worship *him* in spirit and in truth.

## **Communion with the Holy Spirit**

There is another aspect of communion, union or love.

We are also called to have union, communion and fellowship with the Holy Spirit.

2Co 13:14 The grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Ghost, be with you all. Amen.

## ❖ Why are we called to have fellowship with the Holy Spirit?

Well, the Holy Spirit is God's agent on earth today.

Jesus Christ died for our sin, rose and is seated now in heaven.

The Father is on the throne right now and the Son is at His right hand interceding for us and fulfilling His task of being the head of the church.

The Holy Spirit was poured out on the day of Pentecost to minister in and to us here on earth.

- ❖ It is therefore the Holy Spirit whereby we are called to have fellowship with and through Him here on earth, we also have fellowship with the Father and the Son.
- To have deep revelations about God, we need the Holy Spirit in our lives to reveal these revelations.

1Co 2:12-13 Now we have received, not the spirit of the world, but the spirit which is of God; that we might know the things that are freely given to us of God. (13) Which things also we speak, not in the words which man's wisdom teacheth, but which the Holy Ghost teacheth; comparing spiritual things with spiritual.

To live in the love of God and the first love as well as to receive the love of the Father and the Son today, we need the Holy Spirit.

Rom 5:5 And hope maketh not ashamed; because the love of God is shed abroad in our hearts by the Holy Ghost which is given unto us.

For God's love is poured out in our hearts through the Holy Spirit.

Learning to fellowship with the Holy Spirit helps us to live in our first love and to grow in the Father heart of God.

Jesus Christ was filled with the Holy Spirit or the Spirit of the Lord.

He was then driven by the Holy Spirit to the desert to pray, fast and get close to Abba Father.

Luk 4:1 And Jesus being full of the Holy Ghost returned from Jordan, and was led by the Spirit into the wilderness,

Later, He said that the Spirit of the Lord was upon Him to do the ministry and to bring us to the Father's heart by healing our broken hearts.

So, Christ had fellowship with the Holy Spirit, and we are to follow in His footsteps and learn to have fellowship with the Holy Spirit.

## **Jack Winter**

Jack Winter was a minister who taught a lot about the Father heart of God. I was personally blessed by his ministry.

He said we can minister from the gifts and anointing, yet finish our walk wrongly.

He had seen many charismatic ministers become lost sons. He said, to not fall into the same traps, we need to minister in the Father heart of God. He said that, in the end, the other ways will leave us empty.

Today, many of those ministers have gone back to drugs, alcohol and other sins. Therefore, we are to live in the Father's love for us.

Joh 16:27 For the Father himself loveth you, because ye have loved me, and have believed that I came out from God.

## My Walk

As a young believer, I was filled or baptised with the Holy Spirit and deeply experienced God's love. I loved to go out and evangelise from the beginning of my conversion. As time went on and I started a church and was just married, God said to come into His love more deeply.

For a long season, He called me to spend much time in His presence to build a lifestyle of worship and to love Him.

All that season, I wasn't about to do much evangelism. Later on, out of this place of intimacy, first love, worship, revival, transformation and habitation, I have led many people to Christ through evangelism as God sent me forth back into the harvest fields of the world.

# **Questions**

Do you want to have a deeper relationship with God the Father?

Then pray and ask how God the Father wants you to come into a deeper love relationship with Him.

Do you have deep hurts in your heart because of rejection, or abandonment caused by your parents?

Then ask God the Father to heal you from those hurts so you can come to know Him more deeply.

# Chapter 6: The Lord's End Time Army and the Kingdom of Heaven

# The King and Kingdom of Glory

In the Last Days, the King of glory, who is our Lord Jesus Christ, is going to lead the End Time army through the voice of the Holy Spirit.

Psa 24:8 Who is this King of glory? The LORD strong and mighty, the LORD mighty in battle.

We are all called to learn to live under the command of His voice.

## The King of glory is the King of the kingdom of Heaven.

In the Last Days, we are going to shift from the dispensation of grace to the restoration of the kingdom of God on earth and in Jerusalem.

Israel is waiting for it and so the apostles asked our Lord Jesus at the ascension if He was going to restore the kingdom then.

Act 1:3 To whom also he shewed himself alive after his passion by many infallible proofs, being seen of them forty days, and speaking of the things pertaining to the kingdom of God:

Act 1:6-7 When they therefore were come together, they asked of him, saying, Lord, wilt thou at this time restore again the kingdom to Israel? (7) And he said unto them, It is not for you to know the times or the seasons, which the Father hath put in his own power.

# The King of glory is mighty in battle.

The angels are God's heavenly military branch of the kingdom of God.

This is why the King of glory is also called the Lord of Host.

# The Lord of Heaven's Army

- Every King has an army.
- Therefore, the kingdom of God also has an army.

The army is divided into two groups.

The first army is heaven's army.

The second army is the army God is building on earth right now.

The King of glory's heavenly army is His angel army which is His heavenly branch of the kingdom of God.

In the Bible, they are referred to as the heavenly host or heaven's army.

Psa 24:10 (NLT) Who is the King of glory? The LORD of Heaven's Armies— he is the King of glory.

The Lord is the Lord of Hosts and the Lord of Host, who is God, is holy.

Isa 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

## **Holy Glory**

The End Time army is the Lord's End Time army on earth, who listen to the commands of the head of the church, Jesus Christ.

The End Time army is being raised up as an army that learns to live in the realms of the holy glory.

They will know how to access the holy glory of the kingdom of heaven, and they will release this glory on earth as the kingdom of God operates through their lives and ministries.

Their focus will be to worship the Father in spirit and truth and be in love with the King of glory.

# **The Coming Storms**

#### Why is God raising up this army?

God is raising up this army because He needs strong believers who can endure the Last Days ministry.

Our Lord Jesus said a time is coming on the earth like it never has been, this would be just before His second coming.

Mat 24:21 For then shall be great tribulation, such as was not since the beginning of the world to this time, no, nor ever shall be.

In those days, there will be much famine and large earthquakes.

A great financial crash is coming so a one-world currency can be introduced.

Great End Time wars will happen so a one-world government can arise that will bring in a one-world religion.

Therefore, God is raising up soldiers of faith in Christ who are strong in faith, truth, love, fruits of the spirit and full of the Holy Spirit.

The Bible says that the Last Days shall be dark, but we are called to shine brightly.

Isa 60:1 Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the LORD is risen upon thee.

Today, in 2022, many believers around the world are persecuted for their faith in Christ. Persecution is coming for the Western church, to the believers who will believe in a holy God, who stands for moral purity and His commandments.

Mat 5:19 Whosoever therefore shall break one of these least commandments, and shall teach men so, he shall be called the least in the kingdom of heaven: but whosoever shall do and teach them, the same shall be called great in the kingdom of heaven.

God's moral laws have never changed. Society is changing but God's Word never changes. Same-sex marriage goes against God's moral laws and the Last Day believers have to stand up against this evil.

# **The Lord's End Time Army**

# God is raising up and starting to release the End Time Army. It is the Lord's End Time Army.

(Joe 2:11) And the LORD shall utter his voice before his army: for his camp is very great: for he is strong that executeth his word: for the day of the LORD is great and very terrible; and who can abide it?

God showed the Prophet Joel about the End Time Army but is the Lord's End Time army.

These End Time saints are to shine as stars.

Which means they have grown up in God's divine nature.

In their character and deeds, they look like Jesus Christ.

The daystar has risen up in their hearts.

(2Pe 1:19) We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts:

These End Time soldiers have the fruit of Christ and godliness as the banner in their hearts.

(2Pe 1:5,6) And beside this, giving all diligence, add to your faith virtue; and to virtue knowledge; And to knowledge temperance; and to temperance patience; and to patience godliness;

It is the Lord Jesus Christ who is going to lead this End Time army of Christian believers who are strong in the spirit.

True believers live in the spirit and walk in the spirit as they are being led by the voice of the Holy Spirit.

They are Holy Spirit-led believers.

The Lord Jesus Christ gives His marching orders through the Holy Spirit.

## **How to Read the Bible**

In the school of Biblical studies given by YWAM, I learned how to read and study the Bible properly.

You need to read a whole Bible book in its entirety.

You don't just take out what you like.

## **3 Dimensions**

- A. First it is written for the people at the time of writing. So, what did it mean for the people of that time?
- B. Is there a prophetic message for the future in it?
- C. What are the spiritual message and implications?

## Like a 3D Movie

There are 3D movies whereby you need to wear a special set of glasses.

Without these glasses, you cannot pick up the third level of effects in the movie.

Therefore, it is only by revelation through the Holy Spirit that can give to us the spiritual biblical message of future events.

<u>Spiritually trained men understand the voice and the language of the Holy</u> Spirit.

(1Co 2:13,14) Which things also we speak, not in the words which man's wisdom teacheth, but which the Holy Ghost teacheth; comparing spiritual things with spiritual. But the natural man receiveth not the things of the Spirit of God: for they are foolishness unto him: neither can he know them, because they are spiritually discerned.

Believers who are not baptised with the Holy Spirit and untrained spirit-filled believers cannot understand it for they are naturally minded.

❖ We are called to be spiritually minded becoming mature disciples.

(1Co 2:15) But he that is spiritual judgeth all things, yet he himself is judged of no man.

- \* The spiritually mature believer understands these biblical End Time truths.
- For these truths are spiritually discerned and understood.

## **Category C**

For the Last Day Tribulation saints talked about in the book of Joel, you need to be spiritually minded in the understanding of the Lord's End Time army.

The Lord's End Time army falls under Category C of the Biblical study methods. In the book of Joel, the spiritual implication is that God is raising up believers in Christ to be mighty soldiers of the Lord's End Time army.

- A. At the time of writing it was the invasion of Babylon taking Israel's tribe of Judah into captivity. This was their Day of the Lord for them.
- B. The terrible Day of the Lord speaks about Israel's future in the last 7-year tribulation which we see in Matthew 24 and the book of Revelation.

## The Lord's Earthly Saints Army

The Lord has a heavenly army of angelic warrior angels for He is the Lord of Host.

(Isa 6:3) And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

The Lord is also raising up and releasing an earthly saint's army. For the Lord is now leading His End Time army with His voice. This army falls under Category C.

(Joe 2:11) And the LORD shall utter his voice before his army: for his camp is very great: for he is strong that executeth his word: for the day of the LORD is great and very terrible; and who can abide it?

# **Mighty Men**

The Lord's End Time army is going to be spiritually strong mighty men and women.

(Joe 2:7) They shall run like mighty men; they shall climb the wall like men of war; and they shall march every one on his ways, and they shall not break their ranks:

These bride warriors have learnt to live in intimacy and worship at the throne of God's grace.

(Heb 4:16) Let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.

## Before the throne of the Lord God Almighty are the 7 Spirits of God.

One of the 7 Spirits is the Spirit of might.

These End Time earthly soldiers will be filled with the Spirit of might, which will make them mighty men and women of the Lord's army.

(Rev 4:5) And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God. (Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

## **Honour One another**

In these last days, believers will learn to press into love.

Out of this, we will learn to honour one another.

We are called to know one another after the spirit and minister out of the holy love together.

(2Co 5:16,17) Wherefore henceforth know we no man after the flesh: yea, though we have known Christ after the flesh, yet now henceforth know we him no more. Therefore if any man be in Christ, he is a new creature: old things are passed away; behold, all things are become new.

The End Time bride soldiers know one another after the spirit in Christ and do not break rank.

(Joe 2:7) They shall run like mighty men; they shall climb the wall like men of war; and they shall march every one on his ways, and they shall not break their ranks:

## They are on Fire

The Holy Spirit fire is also their protection.

The Holy Spirit fire wants to be around us and our home.

These End Time bride warriors are on fire.

They move heaven and earth by their first love and obedience to the Lord of the End Time Army. They are to confront as Elijah did and one day they will move and minister with the two witnesses.

(Joe 2:3) A fire devoureth before them; and behind them a flame burneth: the land is as the garden of Eden before them, and behind them a desolate wilderness; yea, and nothing shall escape them.

These days, the two witnesses will call down fire to confront the evil of these days.

The Holy Spirit fire is also an invasive force for it gives us boldness and breakthrough power.

(Rev 11:3-5) And I will give power unto my two witnesses, and they shall prophesy a thousand two hundred and threescore days, clothed in sackcloth. These are the two olive trees, and the two candlesticks standing before the God of the earth. And if any man will hurt them, fire proceedeth out of their mouth, and devoureth their enemies: and if any man will hurt them, he must in this manner be killed.

The End Time soldiers will also rise up in revival fire and preach against sin. In those days, multitudes will be saved because of the great move of God's power.

## **Angelic Power and Help**

In the Last Days, the Lord of heaven's army and the Lord's earthly army will work closely together.

We are also surrounded by a cloud of witnesses.

(Heb 12:1) Wherefore seeing we also are compassed about with so great a cloud of witnesses, let us lay aside every weight, and the sin which doth so easily beset us, and let us run with patience the race that is set before us,

Great strength will be sent to the earthly army, from the heavenly army. The Bible talks about horses and chariots of fire, which represent the angelic host.

(2Ki 6:17) And Elisha prayed, and said, LORD, I pray thee, open his eyes, that he may see. And the LORD opened the eyes of the young man; and he saw: and, behold, the mountain was full of horses and chariots of fire round about Elisha.

## The End Time warriors are pictured here as horses and chariots.

(Joe 2:4,5) The appearance of them is as the appearance of horses; and as horsemen, so shall they run. Like the noise of chariots on the tops of mountains shall they leap, like the noise of a flame of fire that devoureth the stubble, as a strong people set in battle array.

Therefore, they will understand how to work closely together with the Lord of the heavenly army and His host.

This will release the greater power, signs, wonders and miracles that Jesus Christ talked about.

(Joh 14:12) Verily, verily, I say unto you, He that believeth on me, the works that I do shall he do also; and greater works than these shall he do; because I go unto my Father.

# **Glorious Holy Light**

In the 1980s, the body of Christ learnt much about spiritual warfare.

In the years after, God started to pour out more of His glory to prepare us for the Last Days. Now God is calling us to learn to live in an open heaven lifestyle where we learn to live in a habitation of His glory.

Yet, He is still calling us to come up higher again, so we learn to live in the realms of His dazzling glorious bright light. This is the realm of His holy fiery presence.

Our Lord Jesus Christ lived in that realm, as did Apostles Paul and Peter, St Patrick, Colombo, William Branham and others.

Out of this relationship with the glorious, holy Father God they did great works.

# **Holy and Bright Shining Angels**

When the Lord Jesus Christ is coming back, it says that He is coming back with His holy angels.

Mat 25:31 When the Son of man shall come in his glory, and all the holy angels with him, then shall he sit upon the throne of his glory:

When we are in the presence of angels, we know if they are true holy angels of God if they are holy and confess that Christ has come in the flesh.

## We don't worship angels.

However, the important thing to understand from the Bible is that in the Last Days, God is going to move very powerfully through his heavenly angelic army here on earth.

Every true holy angel bows down before Him who is the Lord God Almighty and the Lord God of Host who is shining with the brightest and purest light.

God's End Time army on earth is going to learn how to cooperate with heavenly angel armies who are God's military branch of the kingdom and who are under the command of the Lord of Hosts. People like William Branham, St Patrick and Colombo were all very much moved by God's holy angels.

- Breakthrough and healing were seen in the ministries of these men of God as God's holy power in the Holy Spirit in these men's lives worked together with these high-ranking angels.
- ❖ Therefore, holy angels were a big part of God's answer and breakthrough for their lives and ministry.

They couldn't have done it without them.

These high-ranking angels come like a great dazzling, glorious, bright shining light.

## The Kingdom

Everywhere Jesus Christ went preaching, He said to repent for the kingdom of God is at hand. He came to bring God's kingdom to earth, firstly into the hearts of the ones who believed in Him. Therefore, His priority was the kingdom of God and out of it the church was built. Therefore, the kingdom is above the church.

As Jesus ministered the kingdom of God to the people, the angel armies were working together with Him.

Therefore, great signs and wonders happened.

Mat 4:17 From that time Jesus began to preach, and to say, Repent: for the kingdom of heaven is at hand.

Mat 4:23 And Jesus went about all Galilee, teaching in their synagogues, and preaching the gospel of the kingdom, and healing all manner of sickness and all manner of disease among the people.

Repentance is a great key to entering and growing up in God's kingdom.

# The Kingdom of Heaven

The kingdom of Heaven is in Heaven where our Father is seated on His throne. In the first place, the kingdom of Heaven is about God's holy presence and His eternal life and righteousness.

This heavenly kingdom is full of God's nature, His humility, attributes and godly lifestyle.

Mat 5:3 Blessed are the poor in spirit: for theirs is the kingdom of heaven.

We are called in this heavenly lifestyle to be humble as little children.

God's End Time army believers are called to grow up in this heavenly lifestyle and qualities. We are here to reflect Father God's nature and lifestyle of the kingdom of Heaven here on earth.

Mat 18:4 Whosoever therefore shall humble himself as this little child, the same is greatest in the kingdom of heaven.

# **The Kingdom of God**

The kingdom of Heaven is in heaven, but the kingdom of God is its manifestation here on earth.

They are the same kingdom but in two different dimensions.

Kevin L. Zadai says "The Kingdom of God is the government of Heaven". (Zadai, 2015 p 56)

When this kingdom government moves on the earth, things will change, sickness, disease and demonic bondage will go.

This is what happened when Jesus Christ preached the good news or gospel of the kingdom of God.

Mat 4:23-25 And Jesus went about all Galilee, teaching in their synagogues, and preaching the gospel of the kingdom, and healing all manner of sickness and all manner of disease among the people. (24) And his fame went throughout all Syria: and they brought unto him all sick people that were taken with divers diseases and torments, and those which were possessed with devils, and those which were lunatick, and those that had the palsy; and he healed them. (25) And there followed him great multitudes of people from Galilee, and from Decapolis, and from Jerusalem, and from Judaea, and from beyond Jordan.

The power of the kingdom healed the sick and set the demon-possessed man free as Jesus preached and moved with the kingdom government.

The Lord's End Time soldiers are going to manifest the kingdom of God here on earth.

Here on earth, the kingdom of God is going to move through them by the Holy Spirit. In these last days, many will be saved, healed and delivered as God's kingdom power flows through the End Time army

# Chapter 7: Lord of Angel Armies and Worship

# Robin Harfouche and Heaven's Worship

Robin was a paid dancer in Hollywood. She was saved under the ministry of Christian Harfouche while she was still single. They later got married.

One day, the Lord took Robin to heaven where she saw how they worshipped and danced before the Lord in heaven. The heavenly saints were praising the Lord with all their spirit, soul and body in heaven, out of passion and love. Then the Lord showed her the Last Days ministry on earth. The Lord said when the worship of the earth becomes one with heaven, then the greatest miracles will happen. She saw big fields with people praising the Lord. On stage, the worship leaders were in tune with the worship of heaven and worshipped the Lord in great unity. The worship on earth was one with heaven's worship. The result was that the greatest miracles that the world had ever seen were happening.

# **Lord of Host is Holy**

- One of the names of God is Yahweh Tsebaoth, meaning He is the Lord of Hosts.
- ❖ The name Yahweh Tsebaoth occurs more than 240 times in the Bible.
- ❖ The Lord of hosts (Yahweh Tsebaoth) is the Lord of the angel armies.
- In Isaiah, it says that the Lord of hosts is holy.

(Isa 6:3) And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

- ❖ At times, it says that the Lord of hosts is leading a great angelic army.
- The seraphim, who are the burning ones or angels of fire, are worshipping Him before the throne in heaven.

They say holy, holy, holy is the Lord of Host.

The effect of this is that the whole earth will be filled with His glory.

Out of the Biblical truth that God is holy, we are called to worship the Lord in the beauty of holiness.

(1Ch 16:29) Give unto the LORD the glory due unto his name: bring an offering, and come before him: worship the LORD in the beauty of holiness.

King David laid this holy foundation in the tabernacle of David, also called Zion. As in heaven, so on earth.

## Mighty in Battle

The Lord of hosts, who is being worshipped in heaven, is the Lord of the angel armies.

The Lord of hosts is exalted, enthroned and moved by our praise and worship.

As we praise, worship, pray and fast, He releases His angel army to bring victory on our behalf.

For the Lord of hosts is mighty in battle.

(Psa 24:8) Who is this King of glory? The LORD strong and mighty, the LORD mighty in battle. (Psa 24:10) Who is this King of glory? The LORD of hosts, he is the King of glory. Selah.

## Jehoshaphat's Victory in Praise

King Jehoshaphat's kingdom was under attack by the larger armies of Moab and Ammon. Through Prophet Jahaziel, the Spirit of the Lord said that the battle belonged to the Lord. Then they put singers before the army and praised the Lord in the beauty of holiness. They worshipped the beauty of holiness, for the Lord of hosts is holy.

He did as King David had taught Israel, to worship the Lord of hosts in the beauty of holiness.

(2Ch 20:21) And when he had consulted with the people, he appointed singers unto the LORD, and that should praise the beauty of holiness, as they went out before the army, and to say, Praise the LORD; for his mercy endureth for ever.

Then the Lord of hosts sent the heavenly angel armies to ambush the enemy and victory became the Lords and Israel.

(2Ch 20:22) And when they began to sing and to praise, the LORD set ambushments against the children of Ammon, Moab, and mount Seir, which were come against Judah; and they were smitten.

# **The Angel of the Lord**

In heaven, the Lord of hosts is worshipped as holy.

(Isa 6:3) And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

# Yet, He came down to earth and has walked and fought on earth as the Angel of the Lord.

❖ The angel of the Lord came to Abraham as a man.

(Gen 18:1,2) And the LORD appeared unto him in the plains of Mamre: and he sat in the tent door in the heat of the day; And he lift up his eyes and looked, and, lo, three men stood by him: and when he saw them, he ran to meet them from the tent door, and bowed himself toward the ground,

We saw Him fighting with Jacob at the river, where Jacob was subsequently blessed and raised up as a prince.

(Gen 32:1,2) And Jacob went on his way, and the angels of God met him. And when Jacob saw them, he said, This is God's host: and he called the name of that place Mahanaim. (Gen 32:28) And he said, Thy name shall be called no more Jacob, but Israel: for as a prince hast thou power with God and with men, and hast prevailed.

The angel of the Lord is on a red horse.

In the Bible, the Lord of hosts comes down as the angel of the Lord. In the book of Zechariah, we see the angel of the Lord on a red horse.

(Zec 1:8) I saw by night, and behold a man riding upon a red horse, and he stood among the myrtle trees that were in the bottom; and behind him were there red horses, speckled, and white.

He is the leader as it says that other angels are riding on red horses behind Him. The colour red here depicts the warfare that is happening.

# The angel of the Lord, who has come down to earth, is under the command of the Lord of hosts in heaven.

He talks to the Lord of hosts to hear the strategy for Israel and Jerusalem.

(Zec 1:12) Then the angel of the LORD answered and said, O LORD of hosts, how long wilt thou not have mercy on Jerusalem and on the cities of Judah, against which thou hast had indignation these threescore and ten years?

## Joshua and the Angel of the Lord

Just before the great battle with Jericho which had mighty giants and great walls, the angel of the Lord comes to Joshua.

The same angel of the Lord, with a drawn sword, is later also seen by King David.

(Jos 5:14,15) And he said, Nay; but as captain of the host of the LORD am I now come. And Joshua fell on his face to the earth, and did worship, and said unto him, What saith my lord unto his servant? And the captain of the LORD'S host said unto Joshua, Loose thy shoe from off thy foot; for the place whereon thou standest is holy. And Joshua did so.

#### Joshua meets the Captain of the Lord of hosts.

The angel of the Lord = the captain of the angel army, on earth, of the angel armies of the heavenly Lord of hosts who is holy.

Many believe that the divine captain with the drawn sword was none other than Jesus Christ in a pre-incarnate appearance.

He will also lead His heavenly armies into victory at His second coming. (Brindle W et.al 1988)

(Rev 19:15) And out of his mouth goeth a sharp sword, that with it he should smite the nations: and he shall rule them with a rod of iron: and he treadeth the winepress of the fierceness and wrath of Almighty God.

## **Roland Buck**

Pastor Roland Buck had many visitations of angels.

Once, the angel that had approached Joshua at Jericho, came to visit.

The angel of the Lord, who is the captain of the Lord of hosts army on earth, told the angel army what to do.

Then, on that day, the angel pushed the walls down into the ground.

Then Israel was able to come in and take the city.

## **Heavenly Zion's Worship**

As believers in Jesus Christ, we now have our spiritual home in heaven.

We are seated in heavenly places.

(Eph 1:3) Blessed be the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, who hath blessed us with all spiritual blessings in heavenly places in Christ:

#### Therefore, we have come unto heavenly Zion.

(Heb 12:22) But ye are come unto mount Sion, and unto the city of the living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels,

Heavenly Zion is a place in heavenly Jerusalem where there are millions of angels worshipping God, the Lord God almighty before the throne in heaven.

As we worship the Lord God Almighty, who is also the Lord of hosts, angel armies are sent to fight for God's kingdom and us on earth.

Apostle Peter was set free from prison by an angel who took his shackles and opened the door because the believers were worshipping God and praying for his release.

(Act 12:5) Peter therefore was kept in prison: but prayer was made without ceasing of the church unto God for him.

(Act 12:7) And, behold, the angel of the Lord came upon him, and a light shined in the prison: and he smote Peter on the side, and raised him up, saying, Arise up quickly. And his chains fell off from his hands.

## **Earthly Zion and David's Tabernacle**

King David, who understood a lot about the kingdom of God, can give us a lot of understanding of how the End Time ministry will work.

## He built Zion on this same heavenly kingdom pattern.

We also call it the Tabernacle of David or the fallen hut of David.

Zion was the place where King David had 3000 Levites worshipping God 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

He says that the Lord is enthroned on the praises of Israel.

Psa 22:3 But thou art holy, O thou that inhabitest the praises of Israel.

God's throne and the movement of his heavenly angel armies are around us when we praise and worship the Lord.

This is what Robin saw and how heaven's angels are going to work with us on earth as we learn to worship the heavenly way.

#### Zion and Heaven

Zion is a place in Jerusalem.

Today, if you go to Jerusalem, you can go to Zion, which is a small area and it is right near Zion's gate, which is part of the wall around Jerusalem.

In that same area, King David had the tabernacle set up and the Levite priests praised the Lord. This place was a shadow type of heaven for in heaven there is a heavenly place called Zion.

Heb 12:22 But ye are come unto mount Sion, and unto the city of the living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels,

- On the heavenly Mount Zion, there is constant worship before the Lord God.
- Our worship on earth goes to Zion in heaven because Zion is a place of worship before the heavenly throne of God.
- This worship releases the Lord of the Heavenly armies to move here on earth.

It releases holy angels with dazzling glorious light who bring deliverance.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

## The Melchizedek Kingdom and Priesthood

For many, it is hard to pray, evangelise or believe in miracles or the move of the Holy Spirit because their faith is based upon the wrong priesthood.

This wrong priesthood makes them think they are never good enough for it is based upon the Law. The Good news is therefore that the New Testament ministry of Jesus Christ and the kingdom of God is built upon the priesthood of Melchizedek.

Heb 5:5-6 So also Christ glorified not himself to be made an high priest; but he that said unto him, Thou art my Son, today have I begotten thee. (6) As he saith also in another *place*, Thou *art* a priest for ever after the order of Melchisedec.

Therefore, we do not look to the Levitical or Aaronic priesthood and the Law but to the grace of God based on the Melchizedek priesthood for salvation. We have to step out of Aaron's priesthood and into the heavenly high priesthood of Jesus Christ who is the High Priest in the order of Melchizedek!

<u>Jesus Christ is the Order of Melchizedek and opens up heavenly Zion worship of the Father for us.</u>

- o Melchizedek priesthood is God's heavenly priesthood.
- It is the priesthood of grace.

This grace makes us 100% accepted as we believe in His Son's redeeming sacrifice and therefore, we can boldly come unto the throne of grace in heaven.

Heb 4:14-16 Seeing then that we have a great high priest, that is passed into the heavens, Jesus the Son of God, let us hold fast *our* profession. (15) For we have not an high priest which cannot be touched with the feeling of our infirmities; but was in all points tempted like as *we are, yet* without sin. (16) Let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.

The law is here only to show us that we sinned and need a Saviour, and that is why Christ came. This priesthood brings us into God's glory.

Our Lord Jesus came forth from God's glorious face.

He was at the loving bosom of the Father.

He lived in the glorious grace, mercy, love and goodness of the Father.

Christ, as our High Priest of the order of Melchizedek, opens up and brings us into the realm of God's glory, even here on earth as it is in heaven.

Joh 1:14 And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us, (and we beheld his glory, the glory as of the only begotten of the Father,) full of grace and truth.

Daily, we are called to live in this holy glory on this earth.

## Judah and the Throne

❖ Jesus Christ came through the tribe of Judah.

- Judah means praise.
- ❖ King David built the Tabernacle of David.
- ❖ This is the earthly ministry of worship before the throne. In Christ, we are worshipping before the throne in heaven.

The tabernacle of David is a prototype of this. Through Christ, we are part of the heavenly priesthood in the order of Melchizedek.

David understood this truth and proclaimed that Jesus Christ was a priest and a king of the order of Melchizedek.

Psa 110:4 The LORD hath sworn, and will not repent, Thou *art* a priest for ever after the order of Melchizedek.

# **Living in Holy Light Through Worship**

Today we are called to worship, pray and live in the presence of God.

The tabernacle of David is our example to make worship a lifestyle. It is a prototype of Zion in the kingdom of heaven.

We are called to worship the Lord in the beauty of holiness which will help us to live and walk in the light of God.

1Ch 16:29 Give unto the LORD the glory due unto his name: bring an offering, and come before him: worship the LORD in the beauty of holiness.

This scripture was spoken on the day King David gave thanks to the Lord when the Levite priest was placed before the Ark to worship the Lord, which you can read all about in 1 Chronicles 16.

1Ch 16:1 So they brought the ark of God, and set it in the midst of the tent that David had pitched for it: and they offered burnt sacrifices and peace offerings before God.

1Ch 16:9-11 Sing unto him, sing psalms unto him, talk ye of all his wondrous works. (10) Glory ye in his holy name: let the heart of them rejoice that seek the LORD. (11) Seek the LORD and his strength, seek his face continually.

Today, we have to let go of the common man focussed worship that is now in many churches and go back to the holy worship which all centres around the true worship of Jesus Christ and the Father.

❖ In this place, he will dwell and break our hearts of our pride and self-centredness so the light of God can put us on fire.

#### King David said that we are to worship the Lord in the beauty of holiness.

Later on, this truth and principle brought victory in worship for King Jehoshaphat.

King Jehoshaphat understood the tabernacle of David, which is built upon heavenly Zion's worship.

1Ch 16:29 Give unto the LORD the glory due unto his name: bring an offering, and come before him: worship the LORD in the beauty of holiness.

## **Heavenly Worship Releases**

- 1. When you learn to worship like this, you become one with heaven's worship.
- 2. This is also the place of the glory realm.
- 3. It is the place where the Shekinah glory of God dwells.
- 4. End Time soldiers are called to learn to live in this heavenly, holy place as they worship the Lord, yes the Lord of hosts.
- 5. <u>It releases the angel of the Lord and its army to fight and minister in the heavenly</u> and on earth.

## Heaven's Worship

In heaven, the angels and the saints worship our holy God on His holy throne.

Rev 14:2-3 And I heard a voice from heaven, as the voice of many waters, and as the voice of a great thunder: and I heard the voice of harpers harping with their harps: (3) And they sung as it were a new song before the throne, and before the four beasts, and the elders: and no man could learn that song but the hundred and forty and four thousand, which were redeemed from the earth.

Through the High Priest, Jesus Christ, by the order of Melchizedek, from the tribe of Judah, we are also called to worship before the throne of heaven now.

- We can easily do this by singing in tongues.
- ❖ We are then also called to make a new song.
- This is called the high praises.

Psa 149:6-9 Let the high praises of God be in their mouth, and a twoedged sword in their hand; (7) To execute vengeance upon the heathen, and punishments upon the people; (8) To bind their kings with chains, and their nobles with fetters of iron; (9) To execute upon them the judgment written: this honour have all his saints. Praise ye the LORD.

- This kind of worship will release God's Holy Spirit on earth.
- The Lord of Hosts, with His holy angels, will then also be released to set men free and to do wonders, signs and miracles.

## God's Glory, His Throne and The Cherubim

Where God's manifest presence goes, cherubim go.

It says in many places in the Bible that our great Lord is the God who dwells between the Cherubim.

## The Heavenly Order

King David prophesied about Christ, that He was a High Priest according to the order of Melchizedek.

Psa 110:4 The LORD hath sworn, and will not repent, Thou art a priest for ever after the order of Melchizedek.

- \* King David put the worshipper before the Ark as the angels and saints worshipped God in the kingdom of Heaven before His holy throne.
- Jesus came from the line of Judah which means praise and His High Priesthood to bring us back to worship God before His holy throne.

<u>The Last Day army is going to understand this and become one with heaven's worship here on earth.</u>

Heaven's reign and God's kingdom will come down as we worship God like that.

Then the move of the Holy Spirit and the holy, heavenly angel army will bring signs, wonders and a great harvest of souls on earth as we worship with heaven here on earth.

# Question

Do you sing and worship by yourself?

Ask God to help you to do this.

❖ Do you ever sing in the spirit? Step out in faith to make a new melody by singing in the spirit.

# Chapter 8: Heavenly Zion, Angel of the Lord and Fullness

# **The Angel of the Lord**

In the story of the exodus of the people of Israel from Egypt into the Promised Land, God moved in miraculous ways.

In the desert, His glory was evidenced by the pillar of fire by night and the cloud by day. Israel sinned so much, that God said His glory would not lead them into the Promised Land, instead, He sent the Angel of the Lord to go before them.

(Exo 33:2) And I will send an angel before thee; and I will drive out the Canaanite, the Amorite, and the Hittite, and the Perizzite, the Hivite, and the Jebusite:

When they went into the Promised Land, the cloud by day and the pillar of fire by night disappeared. Yet the Angel of the Lord went before them.

# Joshua and the Angel of the Lord

When Joshua entered the nation of Canaan, or the Promised Land, the Angel of the Lord came to him.

(Jos 5:14, 15) And he said, Nay; but as captain of the host of the LORD am I now come. And Joshua fell on his face to the earth, and did worship, and said unto him, What saith my lord unto his servant? And the captain of the LORD'S host said unto Joshua, Loose thy shoe from off thy foot; for the place whereon thou standest is holy. And Joshua did so.

This angel called himself a Captain of the Lord of Host.

Here we see a heavenly principle at work.

In heaven, God is worshipped.

- One of the names of the Lords is Yahweh Tsevaoth.
- This means the Lord of Host.

(Isa 6:3) And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

- The Lord God, who is also the Lord of Host, is worshipped in heaven and sends His angels out on earth to do His work.
- The Lord of Host came to Joshua as the Captain of the Lord of Host sent to the earth to do battle.

As Israel believed, was obedient and praised the God of heaven, the angel armies would bring victory on earth.

We see this theme play out throughout the Bible.

# The Angel of the Lord in the Book of Zechariah

❖ In the book of Zechariah, we also see how things work from heaven down to earth.

The Lord of host sent His glory down to earth in different ways.

Yet is all of it, His angel armies were also involved, for He is the Lord of host.

The main angel sent to earth is the Angel of the Lord.

In the book of Zechariah, we see the Lord of host in heaven leading His angel army on earth under the command of the Angel of the Lord.

(Zec 1:12) Then the angel of the LORD answered and said, O LORD of hosts, how long wilt thou not have mercy on Jerusalem and on the cities of Judah, against which thou hast had indignation these threescore and ten years?

❖ In the book of Zechariah, there is a conversation between the Angel of the Lord, who is on earth, with the Lord of host in heaven.

(Zec 1:12) Then the angel of the LORD answered and said, O LORD of hosts, how long wilt thou not have mercy on Jerusalem and on the cities of Judah, against which thou hast had indignation these threescore and ten years?

The Angel of the Lord asks if God would have mercy on Jerusalem, now that the judgement had taken place.

Then the Angel talked to Zechariah about what the Lord of host had said.

(Zec 1:14) So the angel that communed with me said unto me, Cry thou, saying, Thus saith the LORD of hosts; I am jealous for Jerusalem and for Zion with a great jealousy.

(Zec 1:17) Cry yet, saying, Thus saith the LORD of hosts; My cities through prosperity shall yet be spread abroad; and the LORD shall yet comfort Zion, and shall yet choose Jerusalem.

Again, God had mercy on Israel, Jerusalem and its people and gave them back their land.

# **Angelic Principalities**

Today we need to know and study the angels of the Lord God Almighty or Lord of host.

God's angels are more powerful than the dark fallen angels.

We see this when we read that Archangel Michael will cast Satan down to earth's realm.

Archangel Michael is a prince of Israel and of God, he has angels under his command.

(Rev 12:7) And there was war in heaven: Michael and his angels fought against the dragon; and the dragon fought and his angels,

There are angelic principalities over nations and they keep up the hedges of protection as believers believe, worship and pray to Father God, in the name of Jesus Christ. (Col 1:16) For by him were all things created, that are in heaven, and that are in earth, visible and invisible, whether they be thrones, or dominions, or principalities, or powers: all things were created by him, and for him:

Therefore, we need to focus and believe in the holy God and His angel armies and the King of glory, for it is all created for God's glory.

(Psa 24:10) Who is this King of glory? The LORD of hosts, he is the King of glory. Selah.

## Zion's Gate

When we see the word Zion, we think about heavenly Zion where Father God and God the Son are worshipped on heaven's throne.

The Bible says that God loves Zion's gate more than the dwellings of Jacob.

(Psa 87:2) The LORD loveth the gates of Zion more than all the dwellings of Jacob.

There are gates in Zion and there are gates in Jerusalem.

One of the gates of Jerusalem is called Zion's gate.

Zion's gate is a picture of heavenly Zion's gate.

❖ The Psalms say I will enter its gates (of Zion, the tabernacle of David) with thanksgiving in my heart.

Christ is this gate.

- This gate (Christ) is also a picture of heavenly Zion's gate.
- For through faith in Jesus Christ, we have come unto heavenly Jerusalem.

(Heb 12:2) Looking unto Jesus the author and finisher of our faith; who for the joy that was set before him endured the cross, despising the shame, and is set down at the right hand of the throne of God.

❖ In the Spirit, this gate is where we are called to worship the Father in spirit and truth.

(Joh 4:25) The woman saith unto him, I know that Messias cometh, which is called Christ: when he is come, he will tell us all things.

As we worship in the spirit here on earth, our spirit is also seated in heavenly places, where we worship the Father on the throne in heaven in spirit and in truth.

## **King David**

King David was a man after God's own heart.

He was also a worshipper, a man of prayer and a warrior.

He knew that in the first place, the battle was not against flesh and blood but spiritual.

# He had discerned and learnt that the key to Israel's victory was to learn to move under the Lord of the Heavenly Armies.

This would release the Angel of the Lord to move here on earth.

When he was a young boy anointed as king, he understood the power of the anointing as he had killed a lion and a bear through the anointing. In the story of him taking down Goliath, we see that he understood the important truth about the Lord of Host, which is the higher realm. Let's take a look at that story.

## **David Kills Goliath**

In the days of King Saul, Israel was being oppressed by the Philistines. They were fearful because the Philistines had a giant called Goliath. So, David said to King Saul, "let no man's heart fail of fear because of this Goliath, I will go and fight him." He said, "I have killed a bear and a lion."

1Sa 17:34-35 And David said unto Saul, Thy servant kept his father's sheep, and there came a lion, and a bear, and took a lamb out of the flock: (35) And I went out after him, and smote him, and delivered it out of his mouth: and when he arose against me, I caught him by his beard, and smote him, and slew him.

King Saul then agreed for David to go and fight Goliath.

He went toward the giant.

Then David said to Goliath that Goliath had defied the armies of the living God and that angered him. He knew that the battle was the Lord's. The Lord God of Host of the heavenly armies.

1Sa 17:45 Then said David to the Philistine, Thou comest to me with a sword, and with a spear, and with a shield: but I come to thee in the name of the LORD of hosts, the God of the armies of Israel, whom thou hast defied.

One of the names of Yahweh is Yahweh (Lord) Sabaoth, Yahweh Sabaoth is the Lord of Host.

❖ David came in the name of the Lord of Host, which is the Lord Sabaoth.

So, David then used one of the five stones and put it in his sling.

Then he shot the stone out of the sling toward the giant.

The giant fell to the ground as the stone penetrated Goliath's head.

Then David used Goliath's sword to cut off his head.

1Sa 17:51 Therefore David ran, and stood upon the Philistine, and took his sword, and drew it out of the sheath thereof, and slew him, and cut off his head therewith. And when the Philistines saw their champion was dead, they fled.

Under the anointing, God directed the stone.

The strong man or territorial demon was in the giant, which was taken out by the Lord of Hosts.

On earth, the Angel of the Lord and His angels were involved in all of this, directing the stones. After this, Israel fought and won the victory over the Philistines.

## **The Spirit of Might**

David understood that God is holy and learnt to move higher than with only the anointing.

- He surrendered to the Lord of the Heavenly army's authority.
- This is the realm of the 7 Spirits, and it is the moving of the Spirit of might who brings mighty miracles and mighty victories through the Lord of Host of Heaven.

The angels or Seraphim say that the Lord of Host is holy.

Isa 6:3 And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory.

Before the throne is the 7 Spirits burning with holy fire.

Rev 4:5 And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God.

## One of the 7 Spirits burning is the Spirit of might.

Isa 11:2 And the spirit of the LORD shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the LORD.

- The Spirit of might of the Holy Spirit, who is also the Lord of host, release angels into our ministry.
- It says, now where the Spirit of the Lord is there is liberty.

(2Co 3:17) Now the Lord is that Spirit: and where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty.

❖ The Spirit of might and its angel armies release and bring these victories.

#### The word 'power' in Greek has 10 different meanings, one of which is might.

Out of this word of might, the words miracle and mighty miracles come forth.

It is an ability to perform anything. This is why when the Spirit of might is in operation, mighty miracles happen. Many of Christ's miracles were performed because the Spirit of might was in operation and it brought forth a higher level of the gift of faith and miracles. It is the Spirit of might who also releases mighty power or the power of God's might.

Some mighty angels work in these realms of might here on earth.

Eph 1:19 And what is the exceeding greatness of his power to us-ward who believe, according to the working of his mighty power,

This mighty power brings forth mighty miracles.

The realm of the Spirit of Might also releases mighty angels.

The Lord of Host or angel armies is the one who releases them as we press into the Spirit of Might which is one of the 7 Spirits of God.

Therefore, the Spirit of might comes out of the fullness of God which is the manifestation of the 7 Spirits of God in heaven and on earth.

# **The Sound of Marching**

Early on, God has shown His holy presence to Moses and the people of Israel, in the desert at Mount Sinai, as the cloud by day and fire pillar by night.

- ❖ Israel sinned against God so much, that He said that the way you are going to take the promised land is through the Angel of the Lord and not His majestic presence or Shekinah glory.
- ❖ David understood this and built his ministry around the Lord of Hosts.
- ❖ He also built the tabernacle of David on these principles.

Psa 24:7-8 Lift up your heads, O ye gates; and be ye lift up, ye everlasting doors; and the King of glory shall come in. (8) Who is this King of glory? The LORD strong and mighty, the LORD mighty in battle.

❖ David became King and took Jerusalem, which had been the enemy's stronghold, and then he went to another dark place called the valley of Rephaim where there were giants.

So, King David asked the Lord what to do.

The Lord of Heaven's armies said when you hear the sound of marching (of angels on earth) in the mulberry trees then go for the Lord has gone out before you to smite the army of the Philistines.

2Sa 5:24 And let it be, when thou hearest the sound of a going in the tops of the mulberry trees, that then thou shalt bestir thyself: for then shall the LORD go out before thee, to smite the host of the Philistines.

#### King David knew the sound of heaven's army.

The Angel of the Lord, as Commander of the angel armies, was released as they heard the sound. The Angel of the Lord and its angel armies then defeated the Philistines.

It says that after this time, King David became greater and greater for the Lord of Host was with him.

1Ch 11:9 So David waxed greater and greater: for the LORD of hosts was with him.

# The End Time army is also going to work through the Spirit of Might to work under the Lord of Host.

This is under the Lord and His angel armies.

❖ They will do the fighting on the earth, for the battle belongs to the Lord.
The angel of the Lord, who is also the Captain of the Lord's Army, will go before His angels.

We saw this in the last chapter, in the stories in Zachariah 1 and Joshua 5.

# **The Shofar**

- ❖ King David understood the Lord God's battle strategies for Israel.
- He knew the stories of Joshua and Gideon, that as the priest blew the shofar or ram's horn, the walls came down and the enemies were defeated for the angel of the Lord did this work under the Lord of Host's command.
- God also instructed Israel to have a day of the blowing of the shofars called the Feast of Trumpets (Rosh Hashanah).
- ★ Today, God has brought back the shofar into the church so that the heavenly angels will come and fight as they hear an anointed shofar. For we are getting ready for the last great harvest.
- \* King David set the worshippers in front of the ark and said praise God for His mighty acts and let them blow on the trumpet.

1Ch 16:6 Benaiah also and Jahaziel the priests with trumpets continually before the ark of the covenant of God.

Psa 150:3 Praise him with the sound of the trumpet: praise him with the psaltery and harp.

# **A Mighty Angel**

In 1990, Nita Johnson was visited by a mighty angel. She said she was awestruck by his beauty, his power and his obvious authority. He was dressed in what looked like an old Roman military uniform. His appearance seemed to glow with the glow of heaven itself (dazzling beauty). He was on a white warhorse.

This angel was sent to bring judgment and to bring order in the house of God so that the preacher of the church again becomes militant preachers for the gospel. The angel said counsel was coming from behind the veil, counsel concerning spiritual warfare. Government was also coming to the church. God was bringing forth the mighty men of valour to lead the church forth into war. (Johnson 1997 p.13)

## Columba

Columba was a mighty preacher in the fifth century.

This is a story about a member of Columba's group whom he told not to follow him that day. Saint Patrick and Columba were used in the fourth and fifth centuries to bring the gospel, in power, in Great Britain. They knew how to work in the Spirit of Might, under the authority of the Lord of Host and were used for signs, wonders and miracles, including raising the dead. They were overcomers over powerful witches and warlocks of their day whereby God's mighty power shook kingdoms.

This member went to spy on Columba. "And the spy saw Columba standing on a mound on that plain praying with his hands spread out to heaven. Suddenly, the brother saw holy angels clad in white garments, bright citizens of the heavenly country, flying to Columba with wonderful swiftness. They began to stand around Columba as he prayed and after some conversations with the blessed man, that celestial band sped quickly back to heaven." (Walters 1999 p.66)

## The Ark of the Covenant and Worship

King David was a man who wanted to be near God's presence all of his days. He wanted to see Him, experience Him, and be close to Him, therefore, he wanted the Ark of the Covenant to come to Jerusalem. So, King David built the Tabernacle of David and put the Ark of the Covenant in it. Then as instructed by the prophet, they put 3000 Levitical priests to worship the Lord by day and night.

❖ We call this Zion or the Tabernacle of David.

1Ch 16:1 So they brought the ark of God, and set it in the midst of the tent that David had pitched for it: and they offered burnt sacrifices and peace offerings before God.

1Ch 16:4 And he appointed certain of the Levites to minister before the ark of the LORD, and to record, and to thank and praise the LORD God of Israel:

- King David understood heaven's worship was before the throne in heaven.
- Therefore, he instructed the priest to worship before the Ark of the Covenant.
- He also understood that Jesus Christ would be a priest according to the order of Melchizedek and that order in worship was of great importance.

Psa 110:4 The LORD hath sworn, and will not repent, Thou art a priest for ever after the order of Melchizedek.

On the Ark, we again see evidence of angels and these are warrior angels for they are Cherubim.

Psa 99:1 The LORD reigneth; let the people tremble: he sitteth between the cherubims; let the earth be moved.

## **Heavenly Zion**

\* Heavenly Zion is the place where God the Father is worshipped on His throne.

It is where God rules. There is a multitude of angels there before the throne.

- ❖ Jesus Christ is the doorway to heaven.
- Therefore, Jesus Christ is heavenly Zion's gate.
- ❖ He is the portal through which we worship Father God in spirit and truth.

Heb 12:22 But ye are come unto mount Sion, and unto the city of the living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels,

When we worship, the mighty angels are sent to fight for us. This was David's delight and strategy.

❖ End Time believers are called to learn to worship God at His throne and His footstool.

Psa 99:1 The LORD reigneth; let the people tremble: he sitteth between the cherubims; let the earth be moved.

Psa 99:5 Exalt ye the LORD our God, and worship at his footstool; for he is holy.

<u>Angels will be released as you do.</u> You can also sing scripture or bible passages.

Angels can't do anything until you are rising up in faith to proclaim and declare or sing God's Word.

Psa 103:20 Bless the LORD, ye his angels, that excel in strength, that do his commandments, hearkening unto the voice of his word.

Learning to sing the high praises of God, singing in the Spirit and in our heavenly language will bring the angels of breakthrough into action.

Psa 149:6-9 Let the high praises of God be in their mouth, and a twoedged sword in their hand; (7) To execute vengeance upon the heathen, and punishments upon the people; (8) To bind their kings with chains, and their nobles with fetters of iron; (9) To execute upon them the judgment written: this honour have all his saints. Praise ye the LORD.

## At Midnight

In 2004, God was showing me I needed more spiritual freedom and repentance. I received more freedom and then fasted for three days, the last day, God said don't break the fast at midnight, a mighty angel will be released to your life and ministry. At midnight a glorious presence filled our house.

A few weeks later, I ministered in a church, as I played my guitar, I called believers to the front. As they came, demons started to come out. God's holy angels were setting them free, and the anointing of the Holy Spirit was breaking the yoke. You can do the same, surrender and come under His authority and learn to minister in the mighty power of the Holy Spirit.

## **Marching Orders**

- The End Time army is called to learn to minister in the Spirit of might whereby the angels are released.
- They are to move in the spirit with chariots of fire.
- They are called to come up higher and minister with the angel armies.
- These believers know how to be under authority, and they don't break ranks.
- They move side-by-side forwards.
- They are Holy Spirit minded.
- The Lord is their Commander as the Lord of Host and He goes on before His great army.

(Psa 110:3) Thy people shall be willing in the day of thy power, in the beauties of holiness from the womb of the morning: thou hast the dew of thy youth.

### **Fullness**

Our Lord Jesus Christ ministered out of the fullness and we received from it. Out of the fullness flows the majestic glory of God.

(Joh 1:14) And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us, (and we beheld his glory, the glory as of the only begotten of the Father,) full of grace and truth.
(Joh 1:16) And of his fulness have all we received, and grace for grace.

The greatest level of manifestation of this fullness is seen in the fullness of the Holy Spirit. The fullness of the Holy Spirit is the manifestation of the 7 Spirits. Seen before the throne of God in Revelations 4.

(Isa 11:2) And the spirit of the LORD shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the LORD;

One of the 7 Spirits is the Spirit of might.

## **Christ Under the Authority of the Lord of Host**

The Bible says that where the Spirit of the Lord is there is freedom.

Christ worked under the Spirit of the Lord and the authority of the Lord of the angel armies.

- When the Spirit of might is at work, the Lord of the angel armies sends mighty angels to bring deliverance of demons and evil spirits.
- ❖ In the ministry of Jesus Christ angels were also released to minister.

It says that Christ was anointed and received strength or might, ability and power to heal all who were harassed and oppressed by the devil.

Act 10:38 (AMP) How God anointed *and* consecrated Jesus of Nazareth with the [Holy] Spirit and with strength *and* ability *and* power; how He went about doing good and, in

particular, curing all who were harassed *and* oppressed by [the power of] the devil, for God was with Him.

#### God's power works by:

- 1. Anointing
- 2. Strength or might
- 3. Ability
- 4. Power

## **Jesus and Angels**

Jesus Christ said that the angels would be seen ascending and descending upon Him.

(Joh 1:51) And he saith unto him, Verily, verily, I say unto you, Hereafter ye shall see heaven open, and the angels of God ascending and descending upon the Son of man.

Jesus Christ knew that He was also under the command of the Lord of the angel armies.

These angels would strengthen Him and bring victory, deliverance and mighty miracles.

(Luk 22:43) And there appeared an angel unto him from heaven, strengthening him.

## **Christ Ministered in the Spirit of Might**

Our Lord Jesus Christ ministered out of the fullness, and therefore, He performed miracles through the Spirit of might and the gift of miracles.

The realms of might or strength of the Spirit of might was on Him to do mighty deeds of deliverance, healing, signs, wonders and miracles.

Christ did what He saw the Almighty Father do and the Almighty Father is also the Lord of the angel armies. In many of these battles, the Lord God Almighty of the heavenly armies, sent mighty angels to Christ to bring victory and might. Demons were cast out as angels with swords attacked the demons as Christ commanded the demons to go. Then deliverance and healing happened at the same time.

The Spirit of the Lord God, who is the main spirit of the 7 Spirits of the Lord, was also upon Jesus Christ.

(Isa 61:1,2) The Spirit of the Lord GOD is upon me; because the LORD hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; he hath sent me to bind up the brokenhearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound; To proclaim the acceptable year of the LORD, and the day of vengeance of our God; to comfort all that mourn;

By these 7 Spirits, Jesus, in the fullness, set the prisoners free and preached the gospel.

## **Worship Releases the Angel Armies**

- Jesus Christ taught us to worship the Father in Spirit and truth.
- Father God is seated on the throne in heavenly Zion. Millions of angles are there before the throne.
- ❖ The Tabernacle of David, or Zion, was a prototype of heavenly Zion.
- ❖ Worship and prayer release the Spirit of might and the angel armies.

This is why Jesus said, 'Out of the mouths of babes you have ordained praise' when He did the miracles in the temple.

(Mat 21:16) And said unto him, Hearest thou what these say? And Jesus saith unto them, Yea; have ye never read, Out of the mouth of babes and sucklings thou hast perfected praise?

As they were praising Him as the Son of David, the angel armies were released. He was then used by the Spirit of might to heal and do miracles.

(Mat 21:14) And the blind and the lame came to him in the temple; and he healed them.

## Paul and Silas at Midnight

Apostle Paul and Silas were put in jail in Philippi after they were beaten.

They delivered a fortune-teller slave girl, from a spirit of divination.

(Act 16:16) And it came to pass, as we went to prayer, a certain damsel possessed with a spirit of divination met us, which brought her masters much gain by soothsaying:

Now the owners lost their financial gain so they put Paul and Silas in jail.

At midnight, Paul and Silas were worshipping.

They worshipped Father God, who is seated on His heavenly throne.

This released the Angel of the Lord to shake everything and set them free.

As they did this, the prison was shaken by an earthquake, the doors were opened and their shackles were loosened.

(Act 16:25, 26) And at midnight Paul and Silas prayed, and sang praises unto God: and the prisoners heard them. And suddenly there was a great earthquake, so that the foundations of the prison were shaken: and immediately all the doors were opened, and every one's bands were loosed.

The angels took the shackles off their hands just as they had set Apostle Peter free of his shackles when he was in prison.

Then salvation came to the jailer and his family, and so they started a church in Philippi.

#### Questions

Are you living in the fullness?

Ask the Lord for the fullness in your life.

#### The Vision of Tommy Hicks

Now I want to show you the vision Tommy Hicks had. He was used for many mighty miracle healings in Argentina. I believe that this vision is for the time just before the second coming of Christ.

"My message begins July 25, about 2:30 in the morning in Winnipeg, Canada. I had hardly fallen asleep when the vision and the revelation that God gave me came before me. The vision came three times, exactly in detail, the morning of July 25, 1961. I was so stirred and so moved by the revelation that this has changed my complete outlook upon the body of Christ, and upon the End Time ministries.

In the book of Acts, we read, "In the last days," God said, "I will pour out my Spirit upon all flesh." I wonder if we realized what He meant when God said, "I will pour out my Spirit upon all flesh." I do not think I fully realized, nor could I understand the fullness of it, and then I read from the book of Joel: "Be glad then, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in the Lord your God: for he hath given you the former rain moderately, and he will cause to come down for you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain -" (Joel 2:23). It is not only going to be the rain, the former rain and the latter rain, but he is going to give to his people in these last days a double portion of the power of God!

As the vision appeared to me after I was asleep, I suddenly found myself in a great high distance. Where I was, I do not know. But I was looking down upon the earth. Suddenly the whole earth came into my view. Every nation, every kindred, every tongue came before my sight from the east and the west, the north and the south. I recognized every country and many cities that I had been in, and I was almost in fear and trembling as I beheld the great sight before me: and at that moment when the world came into view, it began to lightning and thunder.

As the lightning flashed over the face of the earth, my eyes went downward, and I was facing the north. Suddenly I beheld what looked like a great giant, and as I stared and looked at it, I was almost bewildered by the sight. It was so gigantic and so great. His feet seemed to reach to the North Pole and his head to the South. Its arms were stretched from sea to sea. I could not even begin to understand whether this was a mountain or a giant, but as I watched, I suddenly beheld a great giant. I could see his head was struggling for life. He wanted to live, but his body was covered with debris from head to foot, and at times this great giant would move his body and act as though it would even rise up at times. And when it did, thousands of little creatures seemed to run away. Hideous creatures would run away from this giant, and when he would become calm, they would come back.

All of a sudden, this great giant lifted his hand towards heaven, and then it lifted its other hand, and when it did these creatures by the thousands seemed to flee away from this giant and go into the darkness of the night. Slowly this great giant began to rise and as he did, his head and hands went into the clouds. As he rose to his feet, he seemed to have cleansed himself from the debris and filth that was upon him, and he began to raise his hands into the heavens as though praising the Lord, and as he raised his hands, they went even unto the clouds.

Suddenly, every cloud became silver, the most beautiful silver I have ever known. As I watched this phenomenon it was so great, I could not even begin to understand what it all meant. I was so stirred as I watched it, and I cried unto the Lord and I said, "Oh Lord, what is the meaning of this." and I felt as if I was actually in the Spirit and I could feel the presence of the Lord even as I was asleep. And from those clouds suddenly there came great drops of liquid light raining down upon this mighty giant, and slowly, slowly, this giant began to melt, began to sink itself in the very earth itself, and as he melted, his whole form seemed to have melted upon the face of the earth, and this great rain began to come down. Liquid drops of light began to flood the very earth itself and as I watched this giant that seemed to melt, suddenly it became millions of people over the face of the earth. As I beheld the sight before me, people stood up all over the world! They were lifting their hands and they were praising the Lord.

At that very moment, there came a great thunder that seemed to roar from the heavens. I turned my eyes toward the heavens and suddenly I saw a figure in white, in glistening white - the most glorious thing that I have ever seen in my entire life. I did not see the face, but somehow, I knew it was the Lord Jesus Christ, and he stretched forth his hand, and as he did, he would stretch it forth to one, and to another, and to another. And as he stretched forth his hand upon the nations and the people of the world - men and women - as he pointed toward them, this liquid light seemed to flow from his hands into them, and a mighty anointing of God came upon them, and those people began to go forth in the name of the Lord.

I do not know how long I watched it. It seemed it went into days and weeks and months. And I beheld this Christ as he continued to stretch forth his hand; but there was a tragedy. There were many people as he stretched forth his hand that refused the anointing of God and the call of God. I saw men and women that I knew. People that I felt would certainly receive the call of God. But as he stretched forth his hand toward this one and toward that one, they simply bowed their head and began to back away. And each of those that seemed to bow down and back away, seemed to go into darkness. Blackness seemed to swallow them everywhere.

I was bewildered as I watched it, but these people that he had anointed, hundreds of thousands of people all over the world, in Africa, England, Russia, China, America, all over the world, the anointing of God was upon these people as they went forward in the name of the Lord. I saw these men and women as they went forth. They were ditch diggers, they were washerwomen, they were rich men, and they were poor men. I saw people who were bound with paralysis and sickness and blindness and deafness. As the Lord stretched forth to give them this anointing, they became well, they became healed, and they went forth!

And this is the miracle of it - this is the glorious miracle of it - those people would stretch forth their hands exactly as the Lord did, and it seemed as if there was this same liquid fire in their hands. As they stretched forth their hands they said, "According to my word, be thou made whole."

As these people continued in this mighty End Time ministry, I did not fully realize what it was, and I looked to the Lord and said, "What is the meaning of this?" And he said, "This is that which I will do in the last days. I will restore all that the cankerworm, the palmerworm, the caterpillar - I will restore all that they have destroyed. This, my people, in the end times will go forth. As a mighty army shall they sweep over the face of the earth."

As I was at this great height, I could behold the whole world. I watched these people as they were going to and fro over the face of the earth. Suddenly there was a man in Africa and in a moment, he was transported by the Spirit of God, and perhaps he was in Russia, or China or America or some other place, and vice versa. All over the world these people went, and they came through fire, and pestilence, and famine. Neither fire nor persecution, nothing seemed to stop them. Angry mobs came to them with swords and with guns. And like Jesus, they passed through the multitudes and they could not find them, but they went forth in the name of the Lord, and everywhere they stretched forth their hands, the sick was healed, the blind eyes were opened. There was not a long prayer, and after I had reviewed the vision many times in my mind, and I thought about it many times, I realised that I never saw a church, and I never saw or heard a denomination, but these people were going in the name of the Lord of Hosts. Hallelujah! As they marched forth in everything they did as the ministry of Christ in the end times, these people were ministering to the multitudes over the face of the earth. Tens of thousands, even millions seemed to come to the Lord Jesus Christ as these people stood forth and gave the message of the kingdom, of the coming kingdom, in this last hour. It was so glorious, but it seems as though there were those that rebelled, and they would become angry, and they tried to attack those workers that were giving the message.

God is going to give the world a demonstration in this last hour as the world has never known. These men and women are of all walks of life, degrees will mean nothing. I saw these workers as they were going over the face of the earth. When one would stumble and fall, another would come and pick him up. There were no "big I" and "little you," but every mountain was brought low, and every valley was exalted, and they seemed to have one thing in common - there was a divine love, a divine love that seemed to flow forth from these people as they worked together, and as they lived together. It was the most glorious sight that I have ever known. Jesus Christ was the theme of their life. They continued and it seemed the days went by as I stood and beheld this sight. I could only cry, and sometimes I laughed. It was so wonderful as these people went throughout the face of the whole earth, bringing forth in this last end time.

As I watched from the very heaven itself, there were times when great deluges of this liquid light seemed to fall upon great congregations, and that congregation would lift up their hands and seemingly praise God for hours and even days as the Spirit of God came upon them. God said, "I will pour my Spirit upon all flesh, "and that is exactly this thing. And to every man and every woman that received this power, and the anointing of God, the miracles of God, there was no ending to it.

And then again, as these people were going about the face of the earth, a great persecution seemed to come from every angle.

Suddenly there was another great clap of thunder, that seemed to resound around the world, and I heard again the voice, the voice that seemed to speak, "Now this is my people. This is my beloved bride." And when the voice spoke, I looked upon the earth and I could see the lakes and the mountains. The graves were opened and people from all over the world, the saints of all ages, seemed to be rising. And as they rose from the grave, suddenly all these people came from every direction. From the east and the west, from the north and the south, and they seemed to be forming

again this gigantic body. As the dead in Christ seemed to be rising first, I could hardly comprehend it. It was so marvellous. It was so far beyond anything I could ever dream or think of.

But as this body suddenly began to form, and take shape again, it took shape again in the form of this mighty giant, but this time it was different. It was arrayed in the most beautiful, gorgeous white. Its garments were without spot or wrinkle as its body began to form, and the people of all ages seemed to be gathered into this body, and slowly, slowly, as it began to form up into the very heavens, suddenly from the heavens above, the Lord Jesus came, and became the head, and I heard another clap of thunder that said, "This is my beloved bride for whom I have waited. She will come forth even tried by fire. This is she that I have loved from the beginning of time."

As I watched, my eyes suddenly turned to the far north, and I saw seemingly destruction: men and women in anguish and crying out, and buildings in destruction. Then I heard again, the fourth voice that said, "Now is My wrath being poured out upon the face of the earth." From the ends of the whole world, the wrath of God seemed to be poured out and it seemed that there were great vials of God's wrath being poured out upon the face of the earth. I can remember it as though it happened a moment ago. I shook and trembled as I beheld the awful sight of seeing the cities, and whole nations going down into destruction.

I could hear the weeping and wailing. I could hear people crying. They seemed to cry as they went into caves, but the caves in the mountains opened up.

They leapt into the water, but the water would not drown them. There was nothing that could destroy them. They wanted to take their lives, but they could not.

I had seen the End Time ministries - the last hour. Again, on July 27, at 2:30 in the morning, the same revelation, the same vision came again exactly as it did before."

(Reprinted from "To Heal the Sick", pgs. 8-16, by C. & F. Hunter. (Hunter Books, City of Light, 201 McClellan Rd, Kingwood, Texas 77339, USA)

## Chapter 9: Intimate End Time Throne Room Worship and Prayer

## **Throne Room Worship**

# The Last Days outpourings will come down as the bride starts to worship and pray before heaven's throne.

When the bride is on fire, she will go up higher through heaven's open door as she presses in.

As she goes through the door to heaven, she is filled with more power of the Holy Spirit.

Rev 4:2 (AMP) At one, I came under the (Holy) Spirit's power, and behold, a throne stood in heaven, with One seated on the throne.

# Apostle John said that as soon as he had gone through the door, he came under the Holy Spirit's power.

In other translations, it says, "I was in the spirit" and therefore the Spirit of the Lord put power on John to see the throne.

God wants the bride to buy that eye salve, see, and then go through the heavenly door so she can see the throne and the one who is seated on the throne.

John only sees one on the throne for He is beholding the Father and the Son in their oneness.

At this time, the bride is called to live in intimacy with the Godhead, worship and pray before the throne of God in heaven.

Jesus said, "As it is in heaven, so let it be on earth".

Mat 6:9-10 After this manner therefore pray ye: Our Father which art in heaven, Hallowed be thy name. (10) Thy kingdom come. Thy will be done in earth, as it is in heaven.

Rev 5:8 And when he had taken the book, the four beasts and four *and* twenty elders fell down before the Lamb, having every one of them harps, and golden vials full of odours, which are the prayers of saints.

Even the evangelistic worship meetings of the near future are going to function like this as they understand this heavenly pattern.

Heaven's worship and earth's worship are going to become more and more in alignment.

## As it is in Heaven

# In heaven, there is worship, prayer and thanksgiving before the throne!

In the tabernacle of David or Zion, 3000 Levitical priests were worshipping before the Ark. This was an earthly manifestation of what is happening in heaven.

Now, amid the throne, the Lamb that was slain for our sin, is calling us up higher to worship before the throne.

Rev 5:6 And I beheld, and, lo, in the midst of the throne and of the four beasts, and in the midst of the elders, stood a Lamb as it had been slain, having seven horns and seven eyes,

which are the seven Spirits of God sent forth into all the earth.

The Book of Revelations gives us inside revelation and understanding of how the Lord is calling us in the Spirit to worship the Godhead before the throne.

## Harp and Bowl Intimacy, Worship and Prayer

In 1992, God showed me that He was calling His bride to the heavenly throne room ministry of harp and bowl.

We find this End Time worship and prayer in Revelations 5:8.

Rev 5:8 And when he had taken the book, the four beasts and four and twenty elders fell down before the Lamb, having every one of them harps, and golden vials full of odours, which are the prayers of saints.

The incense on this altar is the prayers of the saints.

Rev 8:3-5 And another angel came and stood at the altar, having a golden censer; and there was given unto him much incense, that he should offer it with the prayers of all saints upon the golden altar which was before the throne. (4) And the smoke of the incense, which came with the prayers of the saints, ascended up before God out of the angel's hand. (5) And the angel took the censer, and filled it with fire of the altar, and cast it into the earth: and there were voices, and thunderings, and lightnings, and an earthquake.

- When this incense is poured out by the angel, then it brings the effects down to earth.
- There are realms or outpourings of blessings released and outpourings of God's judgment as we worship and pray before God's throne.

## The Lord God Almighty is Holy

We are called to worship the Lord God Almighty, who is holy, as we come up higher. The Seraphim angels, and all of heaven, worship our holy Lord God Almighty.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

❖ The Lord God Almighty, who is also the Ancient of Day, is a consuming fire.
His throne can be on fire and rivers of holy fire will flow.

(Dan 7:9,10) I beheld till the thrones were cast down, and the Ancient of days did sit, whose garment was white as snow, and the hair of his head like the pure wool: his throne was like the fiery flame, and his wheels as burning fire. A fiery stream issued and came forth from before him: thousand thousands ministered unto him, and ten thousand times ten thousand stood before him: the judgment was set, and the books were opened.

The Lord God Almighty's angels are also flames of fire.

(Psa 104:4) Who maketh his angels spirits; his ministers a flaming fire:

He sends His angels of fire down to earth under the command of the Angel of the Lord as we worship the Lord God Almighty in heaven.

The Lord God Almighty is also the Lord God of host.

His holy fire is released on Earth as we worship Him in heaven.

❖ It is released by the Holy Spirit and the angel armies.

#### Israel, Our Time Clock

Everything started with Israel and will finish with Israel.

The King of glory will rule the world for 1000 years out of Jerusalem in Israel.

Before that time is the last 7 years which the prophet Daniel calls the 70-year week.

Once the peace deal is set in Jerusalem, it will start.

In 2017, Jerusalem will be the capital of Israel for 50 years.

In 2018, Israel will be a nation for 70 years.

Therefore, we are now living near the end.

In the 7 years, there are going to be 144 000 radical Israeli evangelists released by the power of God. They are going to see a multitude saved.

Rev 7:4 And I heard the number of them which were sealed: and there were sealed an hundred and forty and four thousand of all the tribes of the children of Israel. Rev 7:14 And I said unto him, Sir, thou knowest. And he said to me, These are they which came out of great tribulation, and have washed their robes, and made them white in the blood of the Lamb.

We need to pray for the peace of Israel and be open to the End Time moves of God in Israel. God is now making one new man in Christ.

Eph 2:15 Having abolished in his flesh the enmity, even the law of commandments contained in ordinances; for to make in himself of twain one new man, so making peace.

When we are truly one with the Messianic believers from the Jews, God will pour out His great power.

Today, they are discovering that there are many tribes like in Northeast India that have Jewish or Hebraic roots.

The 144 000 will not just come from one location but hidden Hebrews will come from many nations.

### **Prophet Joel and God's Loving Heart**

Prophet Joel lived in the realms of God's holy glory and holy fire.
Joel knew God's glorious heart of love, compassion and goodness, yet he also knew God's severity.

Joe 2:13 (AMP) Rend your hearts and not your garments and return to the Lord, you God, for He is gracious and merciful, slow to anger, and abounding in loving-kindness; and He revokes His sentence of evil (when His conditions are met)

Rip your heart to pieces [in sorrow and contrition] and not your garments." Now return [in repentance] to the Lord your God, For He is gracious and compassionate, Slow to anger, abounding in lovingkindness [faithful to His covenant with His people]; And He relents [His sentence of] evil [when His people genuinely repent].

## <u>In intimate passion, it is all about God's Presence!</u>

<u>Joel lived in the intimate love of God's glorious holy presence and he knew the loving heart</u> and character of God.

He also understood what Moses and King Solomon knew, that if we come before the Lord in repentance and intercession, God, in His goodness, will let go of the judgment that He had planned because of the wickedness and sins of a nation.

2Ch 7:14 If my people, which are called by my name, shall humble themselves, and pray, and seek my face, and turn from their wicked ways; then will I hear from heaven, and will forgive their sin, and will heal their land.

As God's conditions of repentance and intercession are fulfilled, God will pour out His Holy Spirit instead of judgment so that revival, renewal and awakening will be poured out.

Prophet Joel was living in the high realms of God's holy and glorious presence.

God is also calling His bride, intercessors and ministers up higher to live in intimacy before Him on the throne.

Rev 4:1 After this I looked, and, behold, a door *was* opened in heaven: and the first voice which I heard *was* as it were of a trumpet talking with me; which said, Come up hither, and I will shew thee things which must be hereafter.

Out of intimate throne room worship, prayer and intercession, God is going to shake the nations and pour out His holy revival fire and glory to awaken the nations.

Joe 2:28 And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions:

To live in the bridal first love is the way up and the heart cry of the Holy Spirit. We will look at these things in this chapter as well as harp and bowl worship and its prayer model.

# Throne Room Intimacy

<u>Jesus' End Time army is made up of believers who are passionately in love with</u> the bridegroom.

These believers live in a deep dimension of intimacy at the Lord's bosom in the throne room where God's holy presence abides.

Their heart's cry is to learn to live and abide in His holy and glorious presence. Before they pray and worship, they first spend time with Him in intimacy from heart to heart.

(Son 2:4) He brought me to the banqueting house, and his banner over me was love.

Mary and Martha were visited by the Lord Jesus Christ.

Martha was busy serving their physical needs the whole time.

Mary was seated at the feet of Jesus.

Jesus Christ said that Mary had served God's higher purpose. She was waiting on her beloved.

## **Throne Room Intimacy and Prayer**

Now He is calling us to learn to worship, pray and do intercession out of our first love based on the pattern of the throne room of heaven.

This is the Last Day's way of prayer.

It all starts from the intimacy or fellowship with the Father, our bridegroom warrior King and the Holy Spirit in the kingdom of heaven.

1Jn 1:3 That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.

2Co 13:14 The grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Ghost, be with you all. Amen.

The kingdom of heaven is above and that is why Apostle Paul said that we are called to seek the things that are in heaven above.

Col 3:1-2 If ye then be risen with Christ, seek those things which are above, where Christ sitteth on the right hand of God. (2) Set your affection on things above, not on things on the earth.

\* Therefore, we are called to set our affection on the things above, and then our heart desires and treasures are also above.

As we do so, we first seek the Father and His Son in the throne room above as we pray and have fellowship or communion in the Holy Spirit.

It is the Holy Spirit who knows what we should pray as we are in this communion with Him.

Rom 8:26-27 Likewise the Spirit also helpeth our infirmities: for we know not what we should pray for as we ought: but the Spirit itself maketh intercession for us with groanings which cannot be uttered. (27) And he that searcheth the hearts knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit, because he maketh intercession for the saints according to the will of God.

# **Lila Terhune and God's Heavenly Presence**

Lila devoted her life to being a carrier of God's presence. She is a loved intercessory prayer leader on the God TV channel. She was also an intercessory prayer leader in the Brownsville revival. Lila says that she has learnt a simple truth: it is all about God's presence.

It's His presence alone that changes hearts and nations.

She heard God say: "Get out of the second heaven where the church has been praying, you are called to target My throne room. For when you get into My presence, there you will be able to ask anything."

## The Lord God Almighty's Heavenly, Holy and Glorious Presence

In heaven or the kingdom of heaven, the Lord God Almighty is seated on His holy throne.

Our bridegroom king is seated at His right hand.

Apostle John saw a vision of who the Lord God Almighty, Adonai, Elohim, Shaddai is.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

Prophet Joel knew the Lord God Almighty, His glory, and that He terrified His enemies.

(Joe 1:15) Alas for the day! for the day of the LORD is at hand, and as a destruction from the Almighty shall it come.

For it is the Lord God Almighty who is going to release the 7 trumpet angels and the other End Time angels.

Our intimacy is with our glorious God, yet in the deepest places of glory, the holy fiery presence of God cleanses us.

(Psa 24:3,4) Who shall ascend into the hill of the LORD? or who shall stand in his holy place? He that hath clean hands, and a pure heart; who hath not lifted up his soul unto vanity, nor sworn deceitfully.

In Christ we are clean, yet our daily walk and ways need to become clean as well. Jesus Christ, our bridegroom, is pure and seated upon His heavenly throne.

(Psa 47:8) God reigneth over the heathen: God sitteth upon the throne of his holiness.

We are called to live in these heavenly realms of God in a deep love relationship with Him.

Yet, the End Time army is called up higher, yes, into the highest levels of His fiery holy glory.

- \* The End Time believers are called to walk in intimacy, love and fellowship at the throne room of the Lord God Almighty.
- \* They are called to see this experientially, to live there in the spirit, to see visions, dreams, and transportations and to have heavenly encounters.

Joe 2:28 And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions:

God's End Time glory will be heavy upon them.

## **Worship and Prayer out of Love**

- ❖ Many believers have learnt to worship and pray out of a worker's mentality. This is not the way that God wants it to be.
  - We are called to minister to the Lord out of love, after this comes prayer.

We see this desire of God clearly when He speaks to the Church of Ephesus in the book of Revelations.

The rebuke of the Lord against the church of Ephesus was that they had let go of their first love.

They were doing God's work and even their worship and prayer were out of works. We are saved by grace, not by works.

Grace is God's mercy and love for us which we can never repay.

## In return, He wants our love, fellowship and intimacy.

Rev 2:2,4,5 I know thy works, and thy labour, and thy patience, and how thou canst not bear them which are evil: and thou hast tried them which say they are apostles, and are not, and hast found them liars: (4) Nevertheless I have somewhat against thee, because thou hast left thy first love. (5) Remember therefore from whence thou art fallen, and repent, and do the first works; or else I will come unto thee quickly, and will remove thy candlestick out of his place, except thou repent.

We are saved by grace, not by works and we must learn to live in His love.

We are first called to seek Him in this first love.

In this first love, there are important things to do. Christ calls this, "to do the works of first love".

#### The Works out of the First Love

- 1. Opening our hearts to His love and intimacy
- 2. Drawing near to Him
- 3. Waiting upon Him
- 4. Growing closer in intimacy and fellowship in His presence
- 5. Surrendering deeper as He cleanses us and fills us with more of His abiding presence.

# **Growing in Abiding Presence**

## ❖ God taught me these truths as I surrendered to His will.

This happened at a very difficult time for me.

We had trained believers in YWAM discipleship training school, and we were going to do a three-month evangelism outreach. Then the news came that the Ghanese government didn't want to extend my visa, so I had to go to the neighbouring country of Togo.

There on a YWAM base, in the French-speaking nation of Togo, God dealt with my heart, not to live from works like evangelism, but to enter His secret place of love where the abiding glory dwells.

God dealt with my independent spirit.

I was deeply broken at the cross of Christ.

Psa 91:1-2 He that dwelleth in the secret place of the most High shall abide under the shadow of the Almighty. (2) I will say of the LORD, He is my refuge and my fortress: my God; in him will I trust.

# • Out of this secret place of deep fellowship, love and brokenness; the glory, purity, bridal oil and anointing oil come forth.

According to Psalm 91, the anointing gives us power and victory over the lion, the adder and the cobra.

# I had heard teaching during the Discipleship training school that we are called to have fellowship in the presence of the Lord in prayer first.

Then, out of that, we pray and do ministry.

At this point, I surrendered more deeply and allowed God to break me of my self, pride and drivenness.

## ❖ I rent my heart there in Togo.

Joe 2:13 (AMP) Rend your hearts and not your garments and return to the Lord, you God, for He is gracious and merciful, slow to anger, and abounding in loving-kindness; and He revokes His sentence of evil (when His conditions are met)

Rip your heart to pieces [in sorrow and contrition] and not your garments." Now return [in repentance] to the Lord your God, For He is gracious and compassionate, Slow to anger, abounding in lovingkindness [faithful to His covenant with His people]; And He relents [His sentence of] evil [when His people genuinely repent].

## ❖ I learnt to buy gold (holy glory), linen and anointing oil.

(Rev 3:8) I know thy works: behold, I have set before thee an open door, and no man can shut it: for thou hast a little strength, and hast kept my word, and hast not denied my name.

# My prayer life was turned around from labouring in prayer to loving, fellowshipping and abiding in the presence of the Lord in prayer.

This, my beloved, is the loving work of the Holy Spirit in our lives who help us to become one with the will of the Father.

1Jn 5:14 And this is the confidence that we have in him, that, if we ask any thing according to his will, he heareth us:

As we learn to draw close in intimacy, we will hear the Lord's voice and know His heart and burden.

Then out of this abiding and hearing the burdened heart of the lord, we worship, pray, intercede, do warfare, proclaim and decree.

## Carlos Siem and Throne Room Prayer

We saw, earlier in the book, the encounter Carlos had with heaven, that God spoke about the great move of the Holy Spirit in the Last Days.

The Lord said to him that he was not ready for this coming move.

Carlos' question was 'How do I get ready?'

He learnt then the following steps:

- 1. To repent of falling away from the first love
- 2. Learn to live in and out of the first love.
- 3. Ministering to the Lord, which is the first ministry we have.
- 4. All other ministries will flow out of this.

## **Passion for Jesus**

Carlos now has a church that has also become a house of prayer.

He learnt the model of prayer and has a passion for Jesus at the Kansas City house of prayer. Mike Bickle, who is the founder of this ministry, teaches about passion for Jesus. Learning to live before the throne of God starts with a passion for Jesus.

## Joel's Prayer and the Heart of God

<u>Prophet Joel knew the glorious, holy presence of God.</u>
He understood what Moses had experienced about God's glory.

Moses has given us a glimpse into the glorious heart of God.

Exo 34:6-7 And the LORD passed by before him, and proclaimed, The LORD, The LORD God, merciful and gracious, longsuffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, (7) Keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin, and that will by no means clear the guilty; visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children, and upon the children's children, unto the third and to the fourth generation.

The first thing that God wants for us in throne room prayer is to have fellowship with Him. 1Jn 1:3 That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.

Joel called the believers to open up their hearts with fasting, weeping and mourning until hindrances were removed and broken fellowship is restored.

Joe 2:12 AMP therefore also now, says the Lord, turn and keep on coming to Me with all your heart, with fasting, and weeping, and with mourning (until every hindrance is removed and the broken fellowship is restored.

"Even now," says the LORD, "Turn and come to Me with all your heart [in genuine repentance], With fasting and weeping and mourning [until every barrier is removed and the broken fellowship is restored].

❖ Joel knew the glorious loving heart of the Father and His intimate presence. He had a prayer lifestyle that was based upon the grace, mercy, love and goodness of God.

## **Joel's Brokenness**

Joel understood the danger Israel was facing as they were living in sin as a nation.

He, as a prophet, knew that judgement and invasion of a foreign enemy army were on the horizon.

Yet his prophecies are specially for our Day, for He prophesied about the Day of the Lord which is the last 7-year period of this Age.

Therefore, He calls us to repentance and brokenness of heart.

Joe 2:12-13 Therefore also now, saith the LORD, turn ye even to me with all your heart, and with fasting, and with weeping, and with mourning: (13) And rend your heart, and not your garments, and turn unto the LORD your God: for he is gracious and merciful, slow to anger, and of great kindness, and repenteth him of the evil.

His call is very intense. During the visions that Joel has, he sees the third world war of our day. I talk about this in greater detail later in this book.

Joe 2:20 But I will remove far off from you the northern army, and will drive him into a land barren and desolate, with his face toward the east sea, and his hinder part toward the utmost sea, and his stink shall come up, and his ill savour shall come up, because he hath done great things.

Therefore, this is a very urgent call for us.

The last 7-year period is not a picnic, but a very severe time and we are near that time.

That is why God is raising up the End Time army, to be strong in that severe time to preach the gospel amid tribulation.

We are called in the throne room to become broken of heart in prayer as we are in God's glorious presence.

Joel calls all different types of ministers to this severe kind of intercession.

Joe 2:13-15 (AMP) Rend your hearts and not your garments and return to the Lord, your God, for He is gracious and merciful, slow to anger, and abounding in loving-kindness; and He revokes His sentence of evil (when His conditions are met) 14 Who knows but what He will turn, revoke your sentence (of evil), and leave a blessing behind Him (giving you the means with which to serve Him), even a cereal or meal offering and a drink offering for the

Lord, your God? 15 Blow the trumpet in Zion; set apart a fast (a day of restraint and humility); call a solemn assembly.

When the churches, leaders and ministers humble themselves and bring forth these intensive prayers in our day, then God will hear, forgive and pour out His Holy Spirit.

He wants to pour out the early rain and the latter-day rain together in our Day. Joe 2:23 Be glad then, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in the LORD your God: for he hath given you the former rain moderately, and he will cause to come down for you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain in the first month.

Then the Holy Spirit will be poured out mightily so the gospel can be preached with the greatest power ever seen.

## **Throne Room Prayer Pathway**

## Our fellowship is with Jesus Christ, the Father and the Holy Spirit.

We are to start in worship and prayer with an intimate fellowship in the first love between the bride and the bridegroom.

This intimate fellowship is also a union and communing with God.

Jesus' words to the Church in Ephesus were, 'why have you let go of your first love?' Rev 2:4 Nevertheless I have *somewhat* against thee, because thou hast left thy first love.

When we started a Church in The Netherlands, God gave me a key scripture.

1Jn 1:3 That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.

We are called to live out of our first love, in intimate fellowship with God. Out of this, we are also called to worship and pray.

God then broke me again more deeply at the cross of Christ, so I would still go deeper into His first love.

My identity as a leader needs to be in the Father heart of God.

He then taught me that a pastor or minister who leads a church needs to live and abide in the first love.

# **Throne Room Intimacy and Prayer Strategy**

#### 1. Intimacy and adoration at the throne room

# Our first place is to come and spend time in intimacy for this is the place of being in our first love.

(Rev 22:17) And the Spirit and the bride say, Come. And let him that heareth say, Come. And let him that is athirst come. And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely.

Now, through faith, we enter the heavenly throne room.

# Out of our intimacy, we worship in adoration. So, love and adore Him as your Saviour, Bridegroom, Warrior King.

## 2. Loving and worshipping the Father in spirit and truth

## We do this by focusing on His glorious attributes.

Also, praise Him for who He is with words and in song. This is intimacy and worship.

Joe 2:13 And rend your heart, and not your garments, and turn unto the LORD your God: for he is gracious and merciful, slow to anger, and of great kindness, and repenteth him of the evil.

## 3. Worshipping in the beauty of holiness

Here we worship Him in the beauty of holiness with worship songs and meditation upon who He is in the Bible.

Fresh revelation will come as we meditate on His beauty.

Psa 110:3 Thy people shall be willing in the day of thy power, in the beauties of holiness from the womb of the morning: thou hast the dew of thy youth.

## 4. Brokenness and daily cleansing at the cross of Christ

# This is the place of cleansing by the blood of Christ at the cross. It is a place of brokenness and being filled with holy fire.

Growing, through the first love, in purity by daily surrendering our hearts deeper. This is also called progressive salvation.

(Php 2:12) Wherefore, my beloved, as ye have always obeyed, not as in my presence only, but now much more in my absence, work out your own salvation with fear and trembling.

Through this Holy Spirit fire, we can boldly enter the throne of grace.

Therefore, this is the place to reverentially worship in the Fear of the Lord. Heb 4:16 Let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.

### 5. Prophetic songs and prophetic prayer.

God wants to show us prophetic insight before the throne through visions, prophecy, and seeing things before they happen.

Here, through deep fellowship or intimacy, start to worship.

This is called throne room intimacy (fellowship, union or communion) worship and where prayer flows through us as the Holy Spirit takes over.

Psa 96:1-2 O sing unto the LORD a new song: sing unto the LORD, all the earth. (2) Sing

unto the LORD, bless his name; shew forth his salvation from day to day.

Harp and bowl are where the spontaneity of the Holy Spirit gives new songs and where the Holy Spirit prays through us and the will of the Father is fulfilled.

So, sing the new song of the Lord through the Holy Spirit.

Rev 5:8 And when he had taken the book, the four beasts and four *and* twenty elders fell down before the Lamb, having every one of them harps, and golden vials full of odours, which are the prayers of saints.

## 6. Holy Spirit led prayer as the worship continues.

## ❖ This is Holy Spirit-led prayer.

The Holy Spirit will lead us as we follow His leading, vision and prompting. The deep groaning of the Holy Spirit can also come forth here.

This is travailing in prayer.

Rom 8:26-27 Likewise the Spirit also helpeth our infirmities: for we know not what we should pray for as we ought: but the Spirit itself maketh intercession for us with groanings which cannot be uttered. (27) And he that searcheth the hearts knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit, because he maketh intercession for the saints according to the will of God.

## 7. Proclaiming and declaring in worship and prayer.

We are called to set heaven in motion to touch the earth.

We do this by decreeing, proclaiming and declaring God's 'now' word and God's written word.

In heaven, even the saints, the elders, the angels and the 4 Living Creatures do this.

In the harp and bowl way, this is also the place where we sing scriptures and new songs as declarations.

Rev 5:12 Saying with a loud voice, Worthy is the Lamb that was slain to receive power, and riches, and wisdom, and strength, and honour, and glory, and blessing.

When we do this, the angels will start to act on our behalf as we speak forth God's word. Psa 103:20 Bless the LORD, ye his angels, that excel in strength, that do his commandments, hearkening unto the voice of his word.

#### 8. Releasing Heaven down to Earth

The Lord Jesus Christ gave the keys of the kingdom to the assembly of God or His ruling body of believers on earth.

❖ He said, I have the keys, I give them to you now and as I arise the keys will be activated and you are then called to bind and loose.

(Mat 16:19) And I will give unto thee the keys of the kingdom of heaven: and whatsoever thou shalt bind on earth shall be bound in heaven: and whatsoever thou shalt loose on earth shall be loosed in heaven.

- As we worship in the spirit, sing prophetic songs and prophetically seen prayers, we release the now will from heaven down to earth.
- ❖ We are to lose God's Rhema will on earth and bind the darkness and demons.
- The Lord will then go out before His army
- ❖ Then His fiery presence and fiery angels will move on the earth.

(Joe 2:11) And the LORD shall utter his voice before his army: for his camp is very great: for he is strong that executeth his word: for the day of the LORD is great and very terrible; and who can abide it?

## **Last Day Outpourings**

# The Last Day outpouring is the new wine and the old wine flowing together.

Joe 2:23 Be glad then, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in the LORD your God: for he hath given you the former rain moderately, and he will cause to come down for you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain in the first month.

Heaven and earth will work closely together in these coming outpourings. Now, we are called to come up higher and go through that heavenly door to encounter God in new ways.

## Questions

- Do you minister out of a work mentality?
- Are you worshipping out of your first love or human zeal?

### Surrender

If you struggle here, surrender to God's love and grow in the identity that the Father's loving heart has for you.

# Chapter 10: El Shaddai and Victorious Revival Power

## El Shaddai End Time Revival Fire

As the end draws near, El Shaddai or the Almighty God is going to come with revival fire.

The End Time move of God comes through the Spirit of the fear of the Lord.

The Lord God Almighty is going to reveal Himself in a mighty way as He pours out His fullness, which is the 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty.

In the book of Revelations, God is worshipped as the Lord God Almighty

We need to let this revelation of who He is burn in our hearts.

## Heaven's Throne

God said through the prophet Isaiah, 'heaven is My throne and earth is my footstool, where then can you build a house for Me?'

Today, God wants the End Time army to bring their attention to the Lord God Almighty who is seated on the throne.

For Heaven is His throne!

When the Lord Jesus Christ was on earth, this was also the focus when He was teaching us about prayer.

He said to pray to our holy Father God who is seated on the kingdom throne in heaven.

Christ's focus in teaching was to make us understand that everything in the universe is run by the kingdom of heaven.

That is why it says that heaven is God's throne.

(Isa 66:1,2) Thus saith the LORD, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool: where is the house that ye build unto me? and where is the place of my rest? For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the LORD: but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.

## **Lord God Almighty**

Apostle John saw the Lord God Almighty seated on the throne.

He saw that the Lord God Almighty was shining as a jasper or sardine stone and like a rainbow.

(Rev 4:3) And he that sat was to look upon like a jasper and a sardine stone: and there was a rainbow round about the throne, in sight like unto an emerald.

❖ The Lord Jesus revealed to the Apostle John that God is the Lord God Almighty.
Throughout the book of Revelations are highlights where God is seen and worshipped as the Lord God Almighty.

- ❖ In the Last Days, the Lord God Almighty will release His great authority, power and judgments.
- Revival fires will also be loosed by Him at this time.
- ❖ The living creatures said that the Lord God Almighty is holy.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

The prophet Isaiah had a similar encounter, it said that in that encounter the voice made the temple in heaven shake or tremble.

(Isa 6:3, 4) And one cried unto another, and said, Holy, holy, holy, is the LORD of hosts: the whole earth is full of his glory. And the posts of the door moved at the voice of him that cried, and the house was filled with smoke.

## God said heaven is My throne and showed how we should prepare our hearts.

(Isa 66:1) Thus saith the LORD, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool: where is the house that ye build unto me? and where is the place of my rest?

Then the prophet Isaiah said that God will bless those who are humble and contrite of heart and who tremble at His word.

## Blessings of the Lord God Almighty come when we:

- 1. Are humble
- 2. Have a contrite heart
- 3. Tremble at His word

(Isa 66:2) For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the LORD: but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.

#### **Abraham and God Almighty**

At the beginning of the book of Genesis, God's name is known as the creator or Elohim.

(Gen 1:1) In the beginning God created the heaven and the earth.

As we read through the Bible, God reveals more of His name to us as we understand who He is. God appeared to Abraham when he was 99 years old.

God said to him, 'I am the Almighty God.'

Gen 17:1 (NLT) When Abraham was ninety-nine years old, the Lord appeared to him and said, "I am El Shaddai –'God Almighty.' Serve Me faithfully and live a blameless life.

# ❖ The Lord appeared to Abraham as Lord God Almighty, which, in Hebrew, is El Shaddai.

The biblical law of the first mention started with Abraham, the father of our faith.

On that day, God Almighty made a covenant with Abraham whereby Abraham would have countless descendants.

(Gen 17:1,2) And when Abram was ninety years old and nine, the LORD appeared to Abram, and said unto him, I am the Almighty God; walk before me, and be thou perfect. And I will make my covenant between me and thee, and will multiply thee exceedingly.

#### In Hebrew, the word for Almighty is Shaddai and it has different sides to it.

God made a covenant with Abraham that the Almighty would give him a son and his descendants would be as numerous as the stars in the sky.

- This shows the loving heart of El Shaddai, which means He is the all-sufficient one for us and who blesses us.
- Then Almighty also means that He is the God of might or all-powerful.

## A Relationship with Abraham

## God revealed Himself to Abraham as God Almighty.

Abraham walked with God and lived in a relationship with the Almighty.

He was called to leave Ur and in obedience, he followed the voice of God.

God looked after Abraham like a loving father, He provided for him and his family.

This shows the loving and nurturing heart of the Almighty who loves us nurtures us and protects us as we follow Him in obedience.

#### Psalm 145 and God Almighty, Glory and Power

In the book of Revelations, we see the Lord God Almighty being worshipped, full of majesty, glory and power.

This is the message about God in the book of Revelations and yes, it shows His greatness and majesty.

Psalm 145 gives us a deeper understanding of the Lord God Almighty's glory and power of the King and its kingdom come forth out of His divine nature.

(Psa 145:5-12) I will speak of the glorious honour of thy majesty, and of thy wondrous works. And men shall speak of the might of thy terrible acts: and I will declare thy greatness. They shall abundantly utter the memory of thy great goodness, and shall sing of thy righteousness. The LORD is gracious, and full of compassion; slow to anger, and of great mercy. The LORD is good to all: and his tender mercies are over all his works. All thy works shall praise thee, O LORD; and thy saints shall bless thee. They shall speak of the glory of thy kingdom, and talk of thy power; To make known to the sons of men his mighty acts, and the glorious majesty of his kingdom.

### **His Divine Nature in Psalm 145**

- a) Great and abundant goodness
- b) Righteousness
- c) Justice
- d) Gracious
- e) Compassion
- f) Slow to anger
- g) Abounding in mercy
- h) Lovingkindness

Out of His holy nature, the Omnipotent or the Lord God Almighty rules and reigns.

From His holy nature, He releases His power.

Therefore, we can trust in His goodness and loving nature when we are born again and live on the narrow road of life.

Yet He rises up in anger and, at times with terror, against His enemies, for judgement is mine says the Lord.

## **Hebrew words for the Lord God Almighty**

God was known by Abraham as the Almighty God (B + C).

(Gen 17:1) And when Abram was ninety years old and nine, the LORD appeared to Abram, and said unto him, I am the Almighty God; walk before me, and be thou perfect.

God was known to Jacob as the Lord God Almighty (A + B + C)

(Gen 35:10,11) And God said unto him, Thy name is Jacob: thy name shall not be called any more Jacob, but Israel shall be thy name: and he called his name Israel. And God said unto him, I am God Almighty: be fruitful and multiply; a nation and a company of nations shall be of thee, and kings shall come out of thy loins;

Lord God Almighty is seen in Revelations 4:8. (A + B + C)

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is to come.

English	Hebrew	Meaning
A. Lord	1. YWH	The self-existent One
		Redemptive names are found
		here
	2. Adonai	God is the Master and majestic
		Lord
		God is our total authority
B. God	1. Elohim	Creator
	2. El	All-powerful knows all
C. Almighty	Shaddai	God Almighty
		The All-sufficient One
		All-powerful

The God of the Old Testament spoke the Hebrew names of God to the nation of Israel and is also the God of the New Testament.

Therefore, the Lord God Almighty (El Shaddai) meaning in Rev 4:8 is found in the Old Testament as we have just shown.

## Jacob and Lord God Almighty

<u>Jacob told Joseph in Egypt that he met the Almighty God in Bethel, also called Luz, in the land of Canaan.</u>

(Gen 48:3) And Jacob said unto Joseph, God Almighty appeared unto me at Luz in the land of Canaan, and blessed me,

The Bible gives the story of this account.

Jacob's first encounter with God is the dream where the angels ascend and descend on a ladder from heaven to earth.

God speaks to Jacob as Yahweh Elohim and promises him many descendants.

He revealed a different side of Himself to Jacob.

Gen 28:12-13 (NofGB) And he dreamed, and behold a ladder set up on the earth, and the top of it reached to heaven: and behold the angels of God (Elohim) ascending and descending on it. And, behold, the Lord (Yahweh) stood above it, and said, I am the Lord God (Yahweh Elohim) of Abraham thy father, and the God (Elohim) of Isaac, the land whereon thou liest, to thee will I give it, and to thy seed.

- \* Therefore, Jacob's first encounter in Bethel (or Luz) was with the Lord God, which is Yahweh Elohim.
- Jacob's second encounter with God was as God Almighty or El Shaddai.

(Gen 35:11) And God said unto him, I am God Almighty: be fruitful and multiply; a nation and a company of nations shall be of thee, and kings shall come out of thy loins;

Therefore, Jacob knew God as the Lord God Almighty, Yahweh El Shaddai.

#### The Lord God Almighty and His Terror

Jacob came to know God's authority, power and might awesomely.

God revealed Himself to Jacob as the Lord God Almighty as the terror of God had fallen on the cities of Canaan.

#### What happened?

Jacob and his family had settled in Salem, a city of Shechem in Canaan.

There he builds an altar for El-Olehe-Israel (God, the God of Israel).

After a time, his daughter Dinah gets sexually defiled by the prince of the country.

Her brothers were very angry and set up a plot to murder most of the male inhabitants of that city. Then Jacob became fearful of the inhabitants of the land for they were a family few in number. Then God said to Jacob that he was to go to Bethel and dwell there. He was also to build an altar there for God.

Then Jacob said to his sons that they were to put away their strange gods and clean themselves up.

(Gen 35:1-4) And God said unto Jacob, Arise, go up to Bethel, and dwell there: and make there an altar unto God, that appeared unto thee when thou fleddest from the face of Esau thy brother. Then Jacob said unto his household, and to all that were with him, Put away the strange gods that are among you, and be clean, and change your garments: And let us arise, and go up to Bethel; and I will make there an altar unto God, who answered me in the day of my distress, and was with me in the way which I went. And they gave unto Jacob all the strange gods which were in their hand, and all their earrings which were in their ears; and Jacob hid them under the oak which was by Shechem.

## Then the terror of God came down upon the land.

The inhabitants of the cities were terrified because the Lord God Almighty terrified them. They became as little lambs.

(Gen 35:5) And they journeyed: and the terror of God was upon the cities that were round about them, and they did not pursue after the sons of Jacob.

Then Jacob built an altar at the place where God had first appeared to him and called it El-Bethel.

❖ After he built the altar, God appeared again and said, I am the Lord God Almighty.

(Gen 35:10,11) And God said unto him, Thy name is Jacob: thy name shall not be called any more Jacob, but Israel shall be thy name: and he called his name Israel. And God said unto him, I am God Almighty: be fruitful and multiply; a nation and a company of nations shall be of thee, and kings shall come out of thy loins;

Now we can concede that the name of God as the Lord God Almighty or El Shaddai, who is the all-powerful God also releases terror on the enemies.

<u>First, all the strange idols needed to go, for the Lord God Almighty is holy, and then God's terror came down to protect His people.</u>

\* The Lord God Almighty can release terror upon our enemies.

### The Almighty at Mount Sinai Defeats Kings

<u>Psalm 68 gives us a deep understanding of the Lord God Almighty.</u>

The Psalm was made when the Ark of the Covenant was moved from Obed Edom's house to the tabernacle of David in Zion.

This Psalm gives us spiritual insight into different periods.

It shows how God came to Mount Sinai with His presence and shook the mountain to make it tremble. It melted the mountain like wax.

(Psa 68:8) The earth shook, the heavens also dropped at the presence of God: even Sinai itself was moved at the presence of God, the God of Israel.

- God defeated His enemies at Mount Sinai, Bashan, Mt Hermon and Zion as the Lord God Almighty.
- It was the Almighty God who defeated kings.

(Psa 68:14) When the Almighty scattered kings in it, it was white as snow in Salmon.

Therefore, the Lord God Almighty was seated between the 2 cherubim on the Ark of the Covenant starting at the dedication at Mount Sinai.

(Psa 99:1) The LORD reigneth; let the people tremble: he sitteth between the cherubims; let the earth be moved.

#### It says here, that the Lord reigns, let the people tremble.

The Lord God Almighty sits between the cherubim, let the earth be moved.

- ❖ It had been the Lord God Almighty who had rained down brimstone and fire on Sodom and Gomorrah and its kings.
- ❖ It was the Lord God Almighty who opened up the Red Sea for Israel and drowned Pharoah and his evil army.
- ❖ In Moses' day, the Lord God Almighty destroyed the evil kings in the desert.
- ❖ It is the Lord God Almighty who made nations tremble such as Canaan before them.

(Psa 99:1) The LORD reigneth; let the people tremble: he sitteth between the cherubims; let the earth be moved.

(Psa 99:3) Let them praise thy great and terrible name; for it is holy.

(Psa 99:9) Exalt the LORD our God, and worship at his holy hill; for the LORD our God is holy.

It was the mighty power of the Lord God Almighty as He brought victory to Israel in the desert and the Land of Canaan.

## Worship of the Almighty Father

Our Lord Jesus has taught us that we are called to worship God the Father.

He said now is the hour that we are to worship the Father in spirit and truth.

(Joh 4:24) God is a Spirit: and they that worship him must worship him in spirit and in truth.

#### Our God is our Father and yet, He is also the Lord God Almighty.

It is important to get to know the father as the Lord God Almighty for He is holy.

#### In Hebrew Almighty is Shaddai.

One meaning of Shaddai is that He sustains, nourishes and protects.

Another word, Shad, means breast.

This refers to God being completely nourishing and satisfying.

He is all-sufficient, supplying His people with all their needs as a mother would her children.

- This shows the loving heart of our Almighty Father God.
- The other meaning of Shaddai is that He is mighty, which means all-powerful.
- ❖ We are called to worship God in His fullness.

It is important to study the different aspects of God and to get revelations about Him in His glory, fullness and holy attributes.

## The Heavenly Worship of the Lord God Almighty

## In heaven, God is known as the Lord God Almighty.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

The End Time army needs to understand how He is going to move on earth in the Last Days.

The Last Day moves of God and the last judgments are all sent by the Lord God Almighty.

Jesus Christ will lead His people as He hears from the Almighty Father what is next.

Apostle John was brought before the throne of God in heaven and saw that the Lord God Almighty was seated upon the throne.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

Apostle John saw that the heavenly worship was to the Lord God Almighty and the Lamb. All of heaven was worshipping the Lord God Almighty, saying that He is holy.

Abraham and Jacob knew Him as God Almighty and so will we in these Last Days.

It was the Lord God Almighty who brought terror to Jacob's enemies.

In the 7 years of Tribulation, the Lord God Almighty is going to bring terror to His enemies and then Christ will return to rule and reign.

#### **Choo Thomas**

Choo was visited by our Lord many times, and taken to heaven a lot of times. She saw visions of hell and the Last Days. The most painful one was that she met her mother in this place of torment, which is hell, in the afterlife. The Lord said to her that if He would come right now for His bride, most believers would stay behind. He showed her that the coming move of End Time revival will come to us in the Spirit of the fear of the Lord.

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord will show believers their hearts and the lukewarm hardened state they are in. The effect of this will be that many Christians will truly repent of their hardness and lukewarm state and will become fiery believers. Then the greatest harvest of souls the world has ever seen will come in. On that day, great signs, wonders and miracles will show the crowds that Jesus Christ is the way to God and heaven.

## Worship the Lord God Almighty in the Beauty of Holiness

In heaven, they worship the Lord God Almighty for He is holy. Holy means:

- 1. Sacred
- 2. Morally pure
- 3. Complete
- ❖ In Revelations 15, the song of Moses is sung in heaven to the Lord God Almighty and it says, 'who shall not fear You for You are holy.

(Rev 15:3,4) And they sing the song of Moses the servant of God, and the song of the Lamb, saying, Great and marvellous are thy works, Lord God Almighty; just and true are thy ways, thou King of saints. Who shall not fear thee, O Lord, and glorify thy name? for thou only art holy: for all nations shall come and worship before thee; for thy judgments are made manifest.

<u>Today</u>, the Lord is calling the End Time army bride to worship Him in the beauty of holiness. Only by becoming one with His holy presence and character can the Last Day move work in a mighty way through His army bride.

Therefore, we are called to worship Him in the beauty of holiness.

(Psa 96:9) O worship the LORD in the beauty of holiness: fear before him, all the earth.

Now, in worship, we have to see Him not only as the Lord of Host but as the Lord God Almighty for He is holy.

For all eternity, in heaven and then on earth God will be worshipped as the Lord God Almighty.

(Rev 21:22) And I saw no temple therein: for the Lord God Almighty and the Lamb are the temple of it.

In the End Time, we are called to work with the Lord God Almighty through Christ, who is within us.

This calls for a greater surrender, brokenness and trembling for His word.

(Isa 66:1,2) Thus saith the LORD, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool: where is the house that ye build unto me? and where is the place of my rest? For all those things hath mine hand made, and all those things have been, saith the LORD: but to this man will I look, even to him that is poor and of a contrite spirit, and trembleth at my word.

#### The Heavenly Scene

When Apostle John was in heaven, he saw a great heavenly throne room scene that opens up the last 7 years events.

He saw the holy presence of the Lord God Almighty.

- ❖ He saw a rainbow around the throne of the Lord God Almighty.
- Out of the throne of the Lord God Almighty proceeded lightnings and thunderings.

(Rev 4:5) And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God.

❖ The 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty were burning flames before the throne.

There were 24 elders on seats and they fell down in worship before the One seated on the throne as the One on the throne was worshipped.

The four living creatures, each with 6 wings, were saying holy, holy is the Lord God Almighty!

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is, and is to come.

All these parts of the scene are part of setting the stage for the Last Day advance.

Last Day moves of evangelism and Last Day judgments.

King David said that God's name was terrible for the idols and you will terrify your enemies.

(Psa 99:1) The LORD reigneth; let the people tremble: he sitteth between the cherubims; let the earth be moved.

(Psa 99:3) Let them praise thy great and terrible name; for it is holy.

These Last Day moves of the Lord God Almighty will make everybody and everything shake and tremble.

King David calls us to worship the Lord in the beauty of holiness and then says that the God of glory thunders.

(Psa 29:2,3) Give unto the LORD the glory due unto his name; worship the LORD in the beauty of holiness. The voice of the LORD is upon the waters: the God of glory thundereth: the LORD is upon many waters.

In the days ahead, we are going to see these thunders, lightning and tremblings from the Lord God Almighty who is on His heavenly throne, hit the earth.

Then the Lord God Almighty will release all the fullness of the Holy Spirit as the Holy Spirit 7 rivers or the Holy Spirit's 7 Spirits of God.

This will release the great tsunami of the 7 Spirits of God upon the earth.

Many will come under the fear of the Lord and the result will be salvation.

## Fullness Through the 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty

The Lord God Almighty is one with the 7 Spirits and is the One who releases them to us.

(Rev 4:5) And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God.

❖ The Lord God Almighty is seated on the throne and from Him come forth the 7 burning lamps, which are the 7 Spirits of God, for God is One.

In the Godhead, there is the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit who comes to us in 7 rivers.

(Col 2:9) For in him dwelleth all the fulness of the Godhead bodily.

❖ Therefore, the fullness of the Holy Spirit comes to us through the 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty.

Therefore, we need to look to the greatness of our God by looking to the Lord God Almighty.

### Names of the 7 Spirits of God

Isaiah, who also saw the holy God of the Bible on the throne surrounded by Seraphim saying holy, holy, holy to the Lord God of Host, gives us the names of the 7 Spirits of God. Isaiah and Apostle John had similar visions of our holy God on the throne.

(Isa 11:1,2) And there shall come forth a rod out of the stem of Jesse, and a Branch shall grow out of his roots: And the spirit of the LORD shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the LORD;

## Freedom and Glory through the 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty

- ❖ The Lord God Almighty, the Lord Jesus and the Spirit of the Lord are all One.
- Where they move, there is great freedom and liberty. Demons tremble and are cast out.

(2Co 3:17) Now the Lord is that Spirit: and where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty.

The Spirit of the Lord is the main spirit of the 7 Spirits of God.

The glory realm is also released in our lives through the Spirit of the Lord.

As this happens, signs, wonders and miracles are released.

(2Co 3:18) But we all, with open face beholding as in a glass the glory of the Lord, are changed into the same image from glory to glory, even as by the Spirit of the Lord.

#### **Deeper Surrender to be Filled More**

The Spirit of the Lord will fill you more as you surrender more.

No lordship of Christ in your life means there will be no moving of the 7 Spirits of God in your life.

To be filled, even more, you need to surrender to what the Lord God Almighty, through the Holy Spirit, is asking of you.

More obedience, more revival and more intimacy in your life.

## The Spirit of the Fear of the Lord

One of the 7 Spirits of the Lord God Almighty is the Spirit of the fear of the Lord. We see this in Isaiah.

(Isa 11:2) And the spirit of the LORD shall rest upon him, the spirit of wisdom and understanding, the spirit of counsel and might, the spirit of knowledge and of the fear of the LORD;

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord will help us to surrender more deeply and keep us on the narrow

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord will keep us in balance and gives us hunger to know the Lord more intimately.

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord and the Spirit of the knowledge flow together as a pair.

Therefore, greater levels of the fullness of the 7 Spirits of God will be poured out into our lives and ministry.

### The Spirit of the Fear of the Lord and End Time Revival

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord will be the first poured out in the coming revivals.

The Spirit of the Lord will then show us the lukewarm state of the modern church and it will lead them to deep repentance.

In the vision of Choo Thomas, which we read earlier on in this chapter, the Lord showed her the lukewarmness of the church and how God is going to challenge us.

This is so many believers will not be left behind when the catching away comes upon us.

Repentance, surrender and brokenness go before revival.

This is what the Spirit of the fear of the Lord does, it convicts the lukewarm believers.

The Spirit of the fear of the Lord helps us to repent, and surrender and teaches us how to become broken before the face of the Lord God Almighty so we can be used in the End Time revivals.

## The Spirit of the Fear of the Lord Shakes Nations

The greater glory of the healing revival started to move when Apostle Peter started to move under the Spirit of the fear of the Lord.

This released the Shekinah glory of God and shook the nation of Israel as they brought the sick and paralysed from all over the country.

Apostle Peter was then overshadowed by the glory cloud or Shekinah glory of God.

(Act 5:12-16) And by the hands of the apostles were many signs and wonders wrought among the people; (and they were all with one accord in Solomon's porch. And of the rest durst no man join himself to them: but the people magnified them. And believers were the more added to the Lord, multitudes both of men and women.) Insomuch that they brought forth the sick into the streets, and laid them on beds and couches, that at the least the shadow of Peter passing by might overshadow some of them. There came also a multitude out of the cities round about unto Jerusalem, bringing sick folks, and them which were vexed with unclean spirits: and they were healed every one.

Ananias and Sapphira died as they lied to the Holy Spirit and the Spirit of the fear of the Lord judged them, so they died.

(Act 5:3) But Peter said, Ananias, why hath Satan filled thine heart to lie to the Holy Ghost, and to keep back part of the price of the land?

The greater the fear of the Lord that is released, the deeper the surrender and deeper unity, which then resulted in the release of the glory cloud or Shekinah glory.

This is a pattern for the End Time revivals.

#### The Great Welsh Revival

1904 was the start of the great Welsh revival. <u>An eyewitness of the Welsh revival said that the terror of God had fallen on the houses, villages and towns.</u> The public houses (bars and prostitute houses) all closed down because of the fear of God. The hardened sinners were terrified to even go out on the streets. They would go to the meetings and cry out for mercy and grace. Drunkards and criminals gave their hearts to Christ and the crime rate dropped in Wales.

As people would gather in church to worship, they would start weeping and great praise and worship would break out. People were overcome by the Holy Spirit, convicted and saved. They looked like drunken men as the Holy Spirit filled them.

In 1905, Evan Roberts was in contact with Frank Bartleman who was in Los Angeles, USA. In Wales, they were praying that an outpouring of the Holy Spirit would fall in Los Angeles and the holy fire fell in 1906 at Azusa Street in Los Angeles. The beginnings of the modern-day Pentecostal movement started in 1906 in God's glorious and holy fire.

1Pe 1:15-17 But as he which hath called you is holy, so be ye holy in all manner of conversation; (16) Because it is written, Be ye holy; for I am holy. (17) And if ye call on the Father, who without respect of persons judgeth according to every man's work, pass the time of your sojourning here in fear:

## **Shaken by Holy Fire**

At the beginning of this year (2022) the Holy Spirit fell on us with holy fire as we were worshipping His holy name.

It took us a few days to recover, for God was changing us into His holy likeness.

- ❖ Then I knew that we needed to upgrade the End Time army name to call forth the Daystar in believers.
- The daystar means calling forth Christ and Christ-likeness in believers' lives so they grow in holiness.
- For without holiness, no one will see God.

(Heb 12:14) Follow peace with all men, and holiness, without which no man shall see the Lord:

- Salvation is the beginning of the process, yet Christ has to become Lord and Saviour.
- For Him to become Lord, you must grow in holiness.
- \* Holiness in our lifestyle comes through true surrender, obedience and brokenness.

Then Christ will be your Lord and Saviour.

### **Divine Nature**

At the transfiguration, Apostle Peter said that they were with Christ on the holy mountain.

(2Pe 1:16-19) For we have not followed cunningly devised fables, when we made known unto you the power and coming of our Lord Jesus Christ, but were eyewitnesses of his majesty. For he received from God the Father honour and glory, when there came such a voice to him from the excellent glory, This is my beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased. And this voice which came from heaven we heard, when we were with him in the holy mount. We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts:

On that mountain, Peter saw our Lord Jesus Christ in His holy majesty when He was transfigured. The voice of the Lord God Almighty thundered as Peter was speaking to build 3 tents. The Almighty God dealt with Peter's flesh.

Peter was terrified and fell to his knees in repentance and worship.

That is why Peter says that the daystar has to arise in our hearts, which is done by growing the divine nature.

(2Pe 1:3,4) According as his divine power hath given unto us all things that pertain unto life and godliness, through the knowledge of him that hath called us to glory and virtue: Whereby are given unto us exceeding great and precious promises: that by these ye might be partakers of the divine nature, having escaped the corruption that is in the world through lust.

(2Pe 1:19) We have also a more sure word of prophecy; whereunto ye do well that ye take heed, as unto a light that shineth in a dark place, until the day dawn, and the day star arise in your hearts:

To move in the End Time in God's army, we need to be changed from glory to glory to grow in being holy.

To do this we need:

- 1. To grow in daily repentance, surrender and brokenness
- 2. To grow in the divine nature
- 3. To grow in Christ-likeness
- 4. To grow in the fruit of the Spirit
- 5. To bring forth fruit in the ministry
- 6. To tremble at His word
- 7. To let the daystar arise in our hearts

#### **David Hathaway**

David is a 90-year-old English evangelist who is being used in a mighty way.

Many years ago, he suffered in prison for smuggling Bibles into communist countries.

His meetings are full of signs, wonders and miracles as he preaches in great stadiums.

His father was converted in the great Welsh revival.

David Hathaway writes: "My father, a man of faith and a great man of prayer, was born in South Wales and was converted as a young man in the outpouring of the 1904 Welsh Revival. He told me that when the power of God fell, the churches were filled, there was not enough room for the people, they would even kneel in the street. The churches remained open all day and the meetings continued almost without a break. The power of the Holy Spirit was so strong that ungodly coal miners would fall on their faces at the bottom of the mine shaft under powerful Holy Ghost conviction of sin, crying out to God for forgiveness – then would come out of the pit covered in coal dust and go straight into the church. Many times, there was no preaching – just the power of God. During that time there were no crimes, no murders, no theft – the criminals, the police and the judges were in church crying out to God for forgiveness! (Hathaway, 2017 p 12)

#### **Holy Fear of God**

As we saw in the Great Welsh awakening, the terror of God shook the nation and brought many hardened sinners to Christ.

#### This is when the Lord God Almighty is on the move.

The Last Day army of the Lord has to enter this place of the fear of God and tremble at His word to be one with the Last Day movement of the Lord God Almighty.

For the kingdoms of this world have then become the kingdoms of the Lord God Almighty.

## They then say we give Thee thanks, Lord God Almighty.

(Rev 11:15-17) And the seventh angel sounded; and there were great voices in heaven, saying, The kingdoms of this world are become the kingdoms of our Lord, and of his Christ; and he shall reign for ever and ever. And the four and twenty elders, which sat before God on their seats, fell upon their faces, and worshipped God, Saying, We give thee thanks, O Lord God Almighty, which art, and wast, and art to come; because thou hast taken to thee thy great power, and hast reigned.

Therefore, the End Time army needs to learn to walk in the Spirit of the fear of the Lord.

Out of this, she has to listen to the Captain (Jesus) of the Lord of Host and the voice of the Lord God Almighty.

## **Children's Army**

In 2015, I met a pastor from Vanuatu, which is a Pacific Island nation, by the name of Philip Repiko Torboe. He told me how the Spirit of the Lord God is visiting the children and they are being caught up to heaven. His granddaughter was taken to heaven and met her grandmother, which was his deceased wife.

Yesterday, I heard another report about the Vanuatu children, that many of them who are following God, see Jesus Christ every day. Christ, Himself is teaching them how to pray and how to do spiritual warfare. This has been ongoing, and they are being trained in the Spirit of the Lord God Almighty for the Last Days.

# Chapter 11: The Elijah Cry and End Time Revival Angel

# **A Mighty Angel**

In this chapter, we are going to learn about the mighty End Time revival angel.

(Rev 10:1) And I saw another mighty angel come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud: and a rainbow was upon his head, and his face was as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire:

- Once this mighty angel (Angel of the Lord) comes, End Time outpourings of great glory and revival will take place.
- Around that time when the mighty angel (Angel of the Lord) is released, the 2 witnesses will also come on the scene.
- This glory and fire and fiery anointing will, at the same time, be released upon the Lord's End Time army.

First, we are going to look at Elijah's fire, for he is one of the two witnesses.

# A People of Fullness

- ❖ What the mighty angel of the Lord carries and shines forth is what the Lord Jesus is building in His people today.
- ❖ He is raising up a glorious bridal army that shines forth Jesus Christ's glory.

Today the Holy Spirit is teaching us as the End Time army or bride, to be filled with all the fullness of

We have a book and videos about the 7 Spirits of God for you if you want to learn about how to walk in this fullness.

Let the Lord build you up as His bride and army in the flory and fullness of God for out of it, He is going to use you in signs, wonders and miracles.

For the mighty angel of the Lord in Revelations 10 has the rainbow on his head, which are the 7 Spirits of God and the glory cloud of glory.

# A People of Breakthrough

God is raising up a people of breakthrough, who know their heavenly Father intimately and will do exploits.

They are believers who have the heart, strength and character of a forerunner for they will move as Elijah or the 2 witnesses move.

These believers breakthrough as lions for the roar of the Lion of Judah is in them.

The mighty angel (of the Lord) will also roar and the 7 thunders will sound and release God's mighty movement of End Time revival on earth.

(Rev 10:3) And cried with a loud voice, as when a lion roareth: and when he had cried, seven thunders uttered their voices.

\* Then the greater revival power will be loosened on earth and the greater works will be seen through the army bride of the Lord Jesus Christ.

(Joh 14:12) Verily, verily, I say unto you, He that believeth on me, the works that I do shall he do also; and greater works than these shall he do; because I go unto my Father.

# The Elijah Cry

Today, there is an Elijah cry being heard in the spirit.

- The Elijah cry is against all the idolatry and sexual sin in the world and the houses of God.
- ❖ This cry is also preparing us to become strong against the coming idolatry of the antichrist.

The idol in that time will be called 'the image of the beast', the A.I. god.

True End Time army soldiers are called to rise up in the spirit and power of Elijah.

The Lord Jesus Christ rebuked the first testament church of Thyatira for this reason.

He said in this rebuke that He has eyes as flames of fire. This fire comes forth out of God's holy fiery presence and brings judgement.

Rev 2:18 And unto the angel of the church in Thyatira write; These things saith the Son of God, who hath his eyes like unto a flame of fire, and his feet are like fine brass;

Rev 1:14 His head and his hairs were white like wool, as white as snow; and his eyes were as a flame of fire.

He rebuked that church because they allowed the woman Jezebel, who called herself a prophetess, to minister, teach and seduce God's servants to commit acts of sexual immorality and to commit idolatry.

Llijah had confronted her in the Old Testament, now Jesus Christ confronts this spirit and lifestyle in the New Testament.

Rev 2:20,21 (AMP)But I have this [charge] against you, that you tolerate the woman Jezebel, who calls herself a prophetess [claiming to be inspired], and she teaches and misleads My bond-servants so that they commit [acts of sexual] immorality and eat food sacrificed to idols. <sup>21</sup> I gave her time to repent [to change her inner self and her sinful way of thinking], but she has no desire to repent of her immorality *and* refuses to do so.

#### She was unrepentant.

Christ then called the church to repent and said that He was going to judge Jezebel and her children with anguish and death.

- ❖ Today, many have lowered God's standard of moral conduct and are tolerating the Jezebel spirit to control the church.
- God's moral conduct is sex only in marriage, otherwise it is the sin of fornication, which leads to hell.
- Marriage is only between a man and a woman.

# **Elijah and God's Holy Fire**

## Elijah the Tishbite was sent by God to confront Israel's idolatry.

The first commandment in the 10 Commandments says 'You shall have no other gods or idols before Me.'

Exo 20:3 Thou shalt have no other gods before me.

## Later, God says that because He is holy, He is a jealous God.

Holy means morally pure.

God jealously desires our spirit, yet cannot tolerate our sin when we bow down for other gods.

Jam 4:5(Amp) Or do you suppose that the Scripture is speaking to no purpose that says, The Spirit Whom He has caused to dwell in us yearns over us and He yearns for the Spirit (to be welcome) with a jealous love?

On Mount Sinai, God gave Israel the 10 Commandments and other moral laws.

In Moses' day, the tribes of Canaan were worshipping demons, idols, and statues of Molech and sacrificing babies to these gods.

They were also involved with the temple of Baal prostitution.

God said to get rid of those idols when you go to Canaan, so those demons won't rule you.

Exo 23:22-25 But if thou shalt indeed obey his voice, and do all that I speak; then I will be an enemy unto thine enemies, and an adversary unto thine adversaries. (23) For mine Angel shall go before thee, and bring thee in unto the Amorites, and the Hittites, and the Perizzites, and the Canaanites, the Hivites, and the Jebusites: and I will cut them off. (24) Thou shalt not bow down to their gods, nor serve them, nor do after their works: but thou shalt utterly overthrow them, and quite break down their images. (25) And ye shall serve the LORD your God, and he shall bless thy bread, and thy water; and I will take sickness away from the midst of thee.

In the days of the kings of Israel who came after the days of Moses and Joshua, they did bow down before those gods.

Then Israel became a dark nation, bound by devils because of their sins and worship of idols. So, God raised Elijah to uphold God's holy standard.

Elijah's day was one of Israel's most wicked and rebellious days in which Israel provoked the Lord God to jealousy and anger.

1Ki 16:33 And Ahab made a grove; and Ahab did more to provoke the LORD God of Israel to anger than all the kings of Israel that were before him.

Elijah approached King Ahab. He said that because of the sin of idolatry of King Ahab, his wife and Israel, there would be no rain for three years.

1Ki 17:1 And Elijah the Tishbite, who was of the inhabitants of Gilead, said unto Ahab, As the LORD God of Israel liveth, before whom I stand, there shall not be dew nor rain these years, but according to my word.

After three years, Elijah was sent back to confront Ahab and said, "call all your people, priests and prophets together. We will make two altars. One altar for Jezebel's false priests and prophets and one altar for me. The God who answers with fire is the true God."

The Baal priests were first in this contest.

They fanatically worshipped these idols.

Nothing happened, and then came Elijah's turn.

So, Elijah's God who is the God of Israel answered with fire.

1Ki 18:38-40 Then the fire of the LORD fell, and consumed the burnt sacrifice, and the wood, and the stones, and the dust, and licked up the water that was in the trench. (39) And when all the people saw it, they fell on their faces: and they said, The LORD, he is the God; the LORD, he is the God. (40) And Elijah said unto them, Take the prophets of Baal; let not one of them escape. And they took them: and Elijah brought them down to the brook Kishon, and slew them there.

After God's holy fire fell, they killed all the false prophets.

## **Jezebel Judged**

After all this, rain fell, and Ahab went home.

Queen Jezebel was furious.

She wanted to kill Elijah.

1Ki 19:1-2 And Ahab told Jezebel all that Elijah had done, and withal how he had slain all the prophets with the sword. (2) Then Jezebel sent a messenger unto Elijah, saying, So let the gods do to me, and more also, if I make not thy life as the life of one of them by to morrow about this time.

- Then Elijah takes off to Mount Horeb, which is part of Mount Sinai where God came down with holy fire in the sight of all of Israel in the days of Moses.
- He wanted to meet the God of holy fire on Mount Sinai.

Elijah had fled to the wilderness.

The person who failed here is not Elijah but King Ahab. He had seen God in action, he allowed all the false prophets to be killed and he should have dealt with the Queen Witch Jezebel. She originated from Phoenicia, where Baal worship was very strong.

For in Israel, it takes a king to rule in righteousness and so King Ahab should have truly repented and brought his house and the kingdom into order by putting Jezebel on a just trial.

- So, then God said He was going to rise up an upcoming new King who would kill Jezebel.
- ❖ A young prophet called Elisha would receive Elijah's mantel to anoint Jehu as King.
  King Jehu was then used to rise against Jezebel.

2Ki 9:33 And he said, Throw her down. So they threw her down: and some of her blood was sprinkled on the wall, and on the horses: and he trod her under foot.

## **Elijah: Prophet of Fire**

Elijah was a holy prophet who moved with God's holy fiery presence.

As the Holy fire had been on Mount Sinai, so was the holy fire of God in the ministry of Elijah.

- ❖ A chariot of fire caught Elijah up when he went to heaven.
- Elijah worked under the Lord of Host of Israel and His angel armies.
- ❖ God's holy fire and chariots of fire surrounded Elijah's ministry.

#### **Calling Down Fire**

When King Ahab died, his son took his place as King Ahaziah.

It was also the son of Queen Jezebel, who was still alive.

God was setting up Elijah to be ready to go back onto the scene.

The new King Ahaziah went in his father and mother's footsteps of worshipping Baal.

God wanted to stop this evil in Israel, as the king was asking Baal for healing from his sickness.

- Llijah had the power to call down fire on his enemies.
- ❖ He called it down on his enemies because they wanted to take him captive to stop God's voice spoken through him.

2Ki 1:10 And Elijah answered and said to the captain of fifty, If I be a man of God, then let fire come down from heaven, and consume thee and thy fifty. And there came down fire from heaven, and consumed him and his fifty.

#### Why did he call down fire?

#### He did that because the king of Israel worshipped Baal and therefore Satan!

The new king Ahaziah sent a messenger to the temple of Baalzebub, the god of Ekron. Therefore, an angel of the Lord told Elijah to confront this messenger.

2Ki 1:3-4 But the angel of the LORD said to Elijah the Tishbite, Arise, go up to meet the messengers of the king of Samaria, and say unto them, Is it not because there is not a God in Israel, that ye go to enquire of Baalzebub the god of Ekron? (4) Now therefore thus saith the LORD, Thou shalt not come down from that bed on which thou art gone up, but shalt surely die. And Elijah departed.

When King Ahaziah heard from the messenger, the message he asked was what kind of man was this?

He described the prophet's appearance and the King said that that was Elijah.

Then the king sent a captain with fifty soldiers to arrest the prophet.

The prophet calls down fire from heaven upon them.

2Ki 1:10 And Elijah answered and said to the captain of fifty, If I be a man of God, then let fire come down from heaven, and consume thee and thy fifty. And there came down fire from heaven, and consumed him and his fifty.

- This happened two times.
- The third time, the captain asked for mercy, which he received and Elijah went with the captain to see the king.
- Llijah went and delivered the message to the king and pronounced judgment, soon after that, King Ahaziah died.

2Ki 1:15-16 And the angel of the LORD said unto Elijah, Go down with him: be not afraid of him. And he arose, and went down with him unto the king. (16) And he said unto him, Thus saith the LORD, Forasmuch as thou hast sent messengers to enquire of Baalzebub the god of Ekron, is it not because there is no God in Israel to enquire of his word? therefore thou shalt not come down off that bed on which thou art gone up, but shalt surely die.

#### **Elijah in the Last Days**

Today, God's End Time army is being trained and is starting to rise up in small beginnings. Today a great harvest of souls is being won in many nations of the world, especially non-western nations. God's army is already moving.

There are great signs already happening, but the greater ones are yet to come.

- God's End Time army's greatest harvest time is just before the 7-year tribulation and during it.
- ❖ That is at the time Elijah is coming on the earth as one of the 2 witnesses.

Mal 4:5 Behold, I will send you Elijah the prophet before the coming of the great and dreadful day of the LORD:

Some say we don't know who the 2 witnesses shall be, but the Bible clearly says that Elijah is one of the 2 witnesses.

When the 2 witnesses are prophesying about Christ Jesus coming and rebuking the works of darkness, then God shall pour out His Spirit upon all flesh.

Rev 11:3 And I will give power unto my two witnesses, and they shall prophesy a thousand two hundred and threescore days, clothed in sackcloth.

# This will be the greatest outpouring of the Holy Spirit ever recorded in the history of man.

Joe 2:28 And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions:

Now, remember the holy fire on Elijah's ministry is to burn up the false idols, demons and their worship.

It is to call man and Israel back to the holy God of the Bible.

In those days, the antichrist and his people will try to kill the 2 prophets, but they will call fire down on those who will try to arrest or kill them.

Rev 11:5 And if any man will hurt them, fire proceedeth out of their mouth, and devoureth their enemies: and if any man will hurt them, he must in this manner be killed.

In those days, we entered the 70-year week of Daniel's prophecy which I will explain in the last chapter. This is the time for Israel and we will move in the outpouring of the Holy Spirit of the Old Testament and the New Testament together.

(Joe 2:23) Be glad then, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in the LORD your God: for he hath given you the former rain moderately, and he will cause to come down for you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain in the first month.

## **End Time Children's Army**

In 2015, I met a pastor from Vanuatu, which is a Pacific Island nation, by the name of Philip Repiko Torboe. He told me how the Spirit of the Lord God is visiting the children and they are being caught up to heaven. His granddaughter was taken to heaven and met her grandmother, which was his deceased wife.

Yesterday, I heard another report about the Vanuatu children, that many of them who are following God, see Jesus Christ every day. Christ, Himself is teaching them how to pray and how to do spiritual warfare. This has been ongoing, and they are being trained in the Spirit of the Lord God for the Last Days.

#### The Greater Miracle Revival

The greatest time for the Lord's End Time army will be just before the 7-year tribulation and during it.

The Lord Jesus said that a time would come for the greater miracle ministry.

(Joh 14:12) Verily, verily, I say unto you, He that believeth on me, the works that I do shall he do also; and greater works than these shall he do; because I go unto my Father.

The greater miracle ministry has to do with the right timing for Israel, which is when the kingdom of God is going to be restored to Israel.

This is in the 70 year week of Daniel which we talk about in the book End Time Revival Houses.

The Lord God is going to do great miracles, especially in Israel, to make the Jews jealous of the believers who are being used in this way.

Jews need to see signs so they can believe.

(1Co 1:22) For the Jews require a sign, and the Greeks seek after wisdom:

- ❖ In this time, the 144 000 will also be used to do mighty signs and wonders.
- A multitude will be saved, they will be in white robes that have been washed in the blood of the Lamb.
- ❖ In the multitude before the throne will also be people that were saved before the tribulation but were killed during the tribulation,
- \* They lay down their lives and worship before the throne of the Lamb and God.

(Rev 7:9,10) After this I beheld, and, lo, a great multitude, which no man could number, of all nations, and kindreds, and people, and tongues, stood before the throne, and before the Lamb, clothed with white robes, and palms in their hands; And cried with a loud voice, saying, Salvation to our God which sitteth upon the throne, and unto the Lamb.

Then Israel will go through the great tribulation for they will be deceived by the antichrist. Yet, in those days, God is in control preparing Israel to fulfil His kingdom's purpose.

## A Mighty End Time Revival Angel

❖ In the book of Revelations, we see a mighty End Time revival angel.

(Rev 10:1) And I saw another mighty angel come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud: and a rainbow was upon his head, and his face was as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire:

- ❖ This mighty angel (Angel of the Lord) releases the gospel message in a higher realm of authority and power so revival spreads to all nations and kings.
- \* This will be the greatest display of the power of God ever seen so that many kings and nations will bow before Christ.

(Zec 2:11) And many nations shall be joined to the LORD in that day, and shall be my people: and I will dwell in the midst of thee, and thou shalt know that the LORD of hosts hath sent me unto thee.

(Isa 60:1-3) Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the LORD is risen upon thee. For, behold, the darkness shall cover the earth, and gross darkness the people: but the LORD shall arise upon thee, and his glory shall be seen upon thee. And the Gentiles shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising.

This mighty angel is full of God's glory and releases this glory on the sea and the land.

(Rev 10:1,2) And I saw another mighty angel come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud: and a rainbow was upon his head, and his face was as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire: And he had in his hand a little book open: and he set his right foot upon the sea, and his left foot on the earth,

- It says that the mighty angel is clothed with a cloud.
- This cloud is the glory cloud of God, which will be released around the world.

When King Solomon dedicated the temple, this glory cloud and God's fire came down and filled the temple so much that the priests were knocked down to the ground.

(2Ch 7:1-3) Now when Solomon had made an end of praying, the fire came down from heaven, and consumed the burnt offering and the sacrifices; and the glory of the LORD filled the house. And the priests could not enter into the house of the LORD, because the glory of the LORD had filled the LORD'S house. And when all the children of Israel saw how the fire came down, and the glory of the LORD upon the house, they bowed themselves with their faces to the ground upon the pavement, and worshipped, and praised the LORD, saying, For he is good; for his mercy endureth for ever.

## The Mighty Angel and the 7 Spirits of God

- ❖ The mighty angel is clothed with a cloud and a rainbow upon his head.
- The cloud is the glory of God.
- The rainbow is the fullness or 7 Spirits of God.

(Rev 10:1) And I saw another mighty angel come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud: and a rainbow was upon his head, and his face was as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire:

- This Angel of the Lord was seen in Exodus 14 as the cloud by day and the fire by night.
- ★ It went in between Israel and Pharoah's army to protect His people.
  (Exo 14:19) And the angel of God, which went before the camp of Israel, removed and went behind them; and the pillar of the cloud went from before their face, and stood behind them:
- The Last Day bride army of the Lord is going to finish her race as she is filled with all the fullness of God which is found in the 7 Spirits of God.
- We also see the rainbow of God around the throne of God.

(Rev 4:3) And he that sat was to look upon like a jasper and a sardine stone: and there was a rainbow round about the throne, in sight like unto an emerald.

(Rev 4:5) And out of the throne proceeded lightnings and thunderings and voices: and there were seven lamps of fire burning before the throne, which are the seven Spirits of God.

- The rainbow colours come from God on the throne and the fullness of the Holy Spirit before the throne as the 7 Spirits of God.
- God's glory is going to be seen around the world as the Lord's End Time army is filled with the fullness of the Holy Spirit which is the 7 Spirits of God.
- ❖ The deeper God's people surrender to the fullness or 7 Spirits of God, the greater End Time glory revival and awakening will start to take place.

The greatest miracles, signs, wonders, and End Time harvest will take place as the saints move in the fullness of the 7 Spirits of God.

## **Holy Fire and Great Authority**

The mighty angel will release holy fire and great authority to the holy remnant.

❖ It says his face is shining as the sun, which releases God's holy pure light to the nations.

This light from His face brings conviction of sin.

(Rev 10:1) And I saw another mighty angel come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud: and a rainbow was upon his head, and his face was as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire:

In those days, the End Time army will call the sinners to repentance as they preach the kingdom of God and the cross of Christ.

They walk and minister out of God's holy presence, for God is holy light and all darkness shall flee.

(1Jn 1:5) This then is the message which we have heard of him, and declare unto you, that God is light, and in him is no darkness at all.

#### **Pillars of Fire**

- The angel is releasing greater authority and delivering fire at the same time.
- For it says that his feet are as pillars of fire.

Great discernment and deliverance of demons and dark forces will take place.

Many demonic and mental patients will be delivered, set free, and healed.

We see that model of deliverance and healing in the ministry of Jesus Christ.

(Act 10:38) How God anointed Jesus of Nazareth with the Holy Ghost and with power: who went about doing good, and healing all that were oppressed of the devil; for God was with him.

## It is a Great Breakthrough Angel

This mighty angel will bring a great spiritual breakthrough over the forces of darkness of false religion.

The End Time army preachers will challenge the false antichrist religion and its Pharisees.

Many will get saved as the chains of darkness from their evil religions break.

This mighty angel will roar like the mighty lion of Judah.

(Rev 10:3) And cried with a loud voice, as when a lion roareth: and when he had cried, seven thunders uttered their voices.

People in dark places, bound by strongholds, in torment, under satanic control and false religions will see the light of the glorious face of Christ.

Great signs, wonders and miracles will happen as the Lord roars out of Zion, many will be saved in this last hour.

## The 7 Thunders

When the mighty angel cries out like a roaring lion, the 7 thunders are sounding.

(Rev 10:3) And cried with a loud voice, as when a lion roareth: and when he had cried, seven thunders uttered their voices.

There are voices and messages or movements in the 7 thunders.

John is not allowed to tell us their meanings.

#### 7 Thunders in Tommy Hicks's Vision

In 1961 Tommy Hicks received a vision of the great End Time army movement.

At the beginning of his vision, there were thunderclaps.

Then, when the scene changes, there is a next loud thunder – interesting!

## **Thunders in Tommy Hicks's Vision**

Thunder 1: A great giant is seen and set free.

Thunder 2: It becomes an army of believers. Great fire and glory are poured out over them

by the Holy Spirit. They are anointed with fire and glory to do ministry.

Then they are transported around the world to do great signs and wonders. Millions get saved.

Thunder 3: Graves go open, and saints are made ready to meet the Lord.

Thunder 4: The saints go up to meet the Lord in the air as His bride.

You can read the whole vision at the end of Chapter 8.

#### A vision seen by Dutch Sheets

In the vision of Tommy Hicks, saints will be transported all over the world to do miracle ministry.

Dutch Sheets also had a vision wherein many young people were coming to a stadium where revival and the Holy Spirit outpouring were taking place.

As these young people were filled with a great fire of the Holy Spirit, they were ready to do ministry.

As they went out of the stadium, they were instantly transported all over the world and were ministering in different nations with great power, signs, and wonders in revival meetings.

Get ready to be transported by the Holy Spirit.

#### The Two Witnesses

The two witnesses will then be on the scene, one of them will be Elijah.

(Mal 4:5) Behold, I will send you Elijah the prophet before the coming of the great and dreadful day of the LORD:

The two witnesses are coming to prepare Israel and the world for Christ's second coming and millennial reign.

(Rev 6:2) And I saw, and behold a white horse: and he that sat on him had a bow; and a crown was given unto him: and he went forth conquering, and to conquer.

The two witnesses will call all to repentance and believe in the Lord Jesus Christ as the true Saviour and Messiah.

At that time, the false white antichrist horse or message is going around.

At this time, the media, world religions and governments will be making the world ready to receive the false antichrist as the messiah.

The two witnesses will come to oppose the false antichrist religion agenda, especially in Israel.

The temple will then be built and used for daily sacrifices.

Yet behind the rebuilding of the temple is the Nazi-antichrist agenda.

For the antichrist beast will stop the sacrifices for 3 ½ years into the tribulation and say to all that he is god.

The two witnesses will do great signs and wonders, and many will believe in Jesus Christ as Lord and Saviour.

This will go hand in hand with the mighty outpouring of the Holy Spirit which is released by the mighty angel.

## **Calling Down Fire**

In the days of Jezebel and Ahab and their son Ahaziah, Elijah had to call down fire. So shall it be in the tribulation.

The two witnesses will call down fire from heaven, stop the rain, and do other signs.

(Rev 11:5) And if any man will hurt them, fire proceedeth out of their mouth, and devoureth their enemies: and if any man will hurt them, he must in this manner be killed.

Many will say that the Lord's army is demonic and say that the two witnesses are false. They do this because they are naturally minded people and are bound by false religious demons.

God wants to set them free and this will happen to many.

Others will come or are sent by the government to harm them.

Then these hardened sinners need to be killed.

The two witnesses will call down fire on these evil people.

Yet multitudes around the world will be saved.

You can be used at this time.

#### The Beast Out of the Sea

The beast out of the sea will go and enter the antichrist.

For 3 ½ years, no one can kill the two witnesses.

(Rev 11:3) And I will give power unto my two witnesses, and they shall prophesy a thousand two hundred and threescore days, clothed in sackcloth.

When the 3 ½ years are over, then God allows the antichrist to kill the two witnesses.

(Rev 11:7) And when they shall have finished their testimony, the beast that ascendeth out of the bottomless pit shall make war against them, and shall overcome them, and kill them.

Greater persecution then comes against the believers.

Then the 7<sup>th</sup> trumpet angel sounds and the kingdom of this world become Christs, and soon He will take His bride home.

(Rev 11:15) And the seventh angel sounded; and there were great voices in heaven, saying, The kingdoms of this world are become the kingdoms of our Lord, and of his Christ; and he shall reign for ever and ever.

Then God's wrath is poured out.

#### Question

Are you on fire with boldness and fullness?

Ask the Lord to fill you, then make you ready to be used for His glory.

# Chapter 12: Radiant Bridal Army Arising

## **End Time Warnings and the Bride of Christ**

- ❖ In Matthew 24 and 25, the Lord Jesus Christ talked to His disciples about the End Time and the importance of being part of His bride.
- ❖ God loves His people and wants to protect them even as a hen gathers her chicks under her wings.
- Jesus said this in Matthew 23:37

(Mat 23:37) O Jerusalem, Jerusalem, thou that killest the prophets, and stonest them which are sent unto thee, how often would I have gathered thy children together, even as a hen gathereth her chickens under her wings, and ye would not!

Here we see again that Father God wants to have fellowship with His children for He loves them.

(1Jn 1:3) That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.

• Out of this love, Jesus Christ warns His disciples of the hard days that are going to be faced by End Time believers.

He talked about rumours of war, war and famine and persecution for the believers.

Christ also warned about false prophets, and false messiahs and He especially warned about the deception.

(Mat 24:6,7) And ye shall hear of wars and rumours of wars: see that ye be not troubled: for all these things must come to pass, but the end is not yet. For nation shall rise against nation, and kingdom against kingdom: and there shall be famines, and pestilences, and earthquakes, in divers places.

#### He says that in these days, there will be great tribulation.

(Mat 24:21) For then shall be great tribulation, such as was not since the beginning of the world to this time, no, nor ever shall be.

Then in Matthew 25 He talked about that in those days, before the bridegroom comes back, He is raising up a bride who is totally made ready and prepared.

Jesus Christ especially laid down His life so that He could raise up His glorious bride.

(Rev 22:17) And the Spirit and the bride say, Come. And let him that heareth say, Come. And let him that is athirst come. And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely.

## **Bridal Army**

- ❖ In these Last Days, the Lord is raising up the Bridal Army.
- The bridal army is a glorious army bride.
- She is called to be filled with the fullness which is the 7 Spirits of God burning in her heart.
- The 7 Spirits of God help her to grow and be made beautiful through God's loving heart.
- ❖ We are called to be bridal people abiding, living and walking in the fullness.

The Bible says that God is raising up a glorious church.

(Eph 5:27) That he might present it to himself a glorious church, not having spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing; but that it should be holy and without blemish.

When Apostle Paul talks about a glorious church, he is teaching about the love relationship of a man and his wife, the true union between a bride and bridegroom.

Here we see that the bride of Christ is made glorious and victorious.

## **The Glory Within Revival**

The book of Joel says that in the Last Days, God is going to pour out His Holy Spirit as there appear signs in the heavens like fire, darkness and blood moons.

(Joe 2:28-31) And it shall come to pass afterward, that I will pour out my spirit upon all flesh; and your sons and your daughters shall prophesy, your old men shall dream dreams, your young men shall see visions: And also upon the servants and upon the handmaids in those days will I pour out my spirit. And I will shew wonders in the heavens and in the earth, blood, and fire, and pillars of smoke. The sun shall be turned into darkness, and the moon into blood, before the great and the terrible day of the LORD come.

After the blood moon seen on 8 November 2022, the Lord poured out in me a deep inner revival from Ephesians 3.

(Eph 3:16) That he would grant you, according to the riches of his glory, to be strengthened with might by his Spirit in the inner man;

Some weeks before, God gave me a dream that He wanted to work deeper within me, so He could pour out more of the Holy Spirit's fullness in me.

Jesus Christ said that out of your innermost, rivers will come forth.

(Joh 7:38) He that believeth on me, as the scripture hath said, out of his belly shall flow rivers of living water.

- Those rivers started to flow more as the Lord worked in me and I surrendered more deeply.
- God's Spirit started to heal deeper emotions seated in pain and trauma.
- Obedience and a deeper surrender open the way for more of God's glorious fullness in our lives.

Stronger authority and power showed up as I ministered and during deliverance, the demons left more rapidly.

## The Rich Treasure of Father's Glory

Out of the rich treasures of His glory, the Father of glory wants to release great fullness of glory within us.

Firstly we have to understand that God the Father is the Father of glory.

(Eph 1:17) That the God of our Lord Jesus Christ, the Father of glory, may give unto you the spirit of wisdom and revelation in the knowledge of him:

When we know in our hearts, through revelation, that Father God is the Father of glory, then we can understand with our spirit and heart that He is the true source of the rich treasure of glory

The Father of glory is full of love, goodness, kindness, grace, mercy, truth, righteousness, majesty, authority and power.

#### The Key of Love Releases us into the Fullness

The love of God is in the glory of God and is the key to the fullness and move of God.

We are called to become rooted and grounded in love.

Therefore we have to press into revelational knowledge and understanding of the love of Christ.

(Eph 3:17) That Christ may dwell in your hearts by faith; that ye, being rooted and grounded in love,

We need revelational and spiritual experience of the love of Christ.

The revelational experience of the love of Christ takes us much deeper and further into the heart of Christ and the heart of Father God than mere written knowledge in the Bible.

- We stay totally biblical, yet the Bible tells us to know Jesus Christ and God by revelation and experience with our inner man or spirit.
- This deep intimate knowing of the love of Christ and the Father of glory opens up the fullness of God to us.

(Eph 3:19) And to know the love of Christ, which passeth knowledge, that ye might be filled with all the fulness of God.

- The fullness is the richest measure of the divine presence.
- Therefore this love is holy love.
- Our heart cry is to know God and to live for His glory and not for signs and wonders.
- The fullness then starts to release the authority and power for signs, wonders and miracles whereby many people will come to salvation.
- ❖ We need to break through into morally pure, holy, unadulterated love.

(Rev 4:8) And the four beasts had each of them six wings about him; and they were full of eyes within: and they rest not day and night, saying, Holy, holy, Lord God Almighty, which was, and is to come.

## It is in the Spirit

- We are called to build a spiritual house.
- \* How do we build a spiritual house? We do this by living and walking in the spirit and fellowshipping in the spirit.

The flesh and the soul have to be under the control of our spirit man, who is led by the Holy Spirit. The bride of Christ is called to fellowship in the spirit with the bridegroom lover.

Her life is hidden in Christ as she learns to live in the spirit and to love Christ with her spirit, this is the fire and light in her lamp.

The oil, which is the fuel of the fire, comes out of her fellowship with the Holy Spirit, for the oil is a symbol of the love of the Holy Spirit.

#### The Bridal Oil is Released by Christ's love

❖ Being rooted in Christ's love releases the bridal oil in our hearts.

As we later see in the parable of the 10 virgins, bridal oil is of the greatest importance.

Spending quality time in worship, prayer and intimacy in the spirit with Christ releases revelation of His love into our spirit, this helps us to be rooted in Christ and Father God's love.

This is the way to be part of the bride of Christ and to know Him, whereby she will do great exploits.

#### **Three Parables**

When the Lord taught about the End Time, He used three parables.

One was about a faithful servant who was a wise servant, who was a ruler over the master's house, so our message from this is that we are to be faithful.

Then another parable was about the servants that received talents, their job was to do business and make more talents, so our message here is that we are to be fruitful in the kingdom of God. This all speaks to men, and yes, God understands men's calling, talents and heart desires, yet the parable of the 10 virgins is also for us men. We all need to open our hearts for the love of God and

For a woman, it is easier to understand that we are the bride of Christ.

We are all called to live in our first love.

learn to be vulnerable and contrite of heart.;

## **The Parable of the 10 Virgins**

In the parable of the 10 virgins, the Lord taught about the importance of the bride of Christ.

The importance of this parable is to understand that it is all about our first love for Christ the bridegroom and how to love Him with all our heart, soul and strength.

For we are to be rooted and grounded in the love of Christ.

(Eph 3:17) That Christ may dwell in your hearts by faith; that ye, being rooted and grounded in love,

In this parable, there are 5 foolish virgins and 5 wise virgins.

All 10 of them were virgins, so they were all believers.

So what is the difference?

#### The 5 foolish virgins are:

- a. Thoughtless
- b. Without forethought
- c. Foolish

#### The 5 wise virgins are:

- a. Sensible
- b. Intelligent
- c. Prudent
- d. Wise

(Mat 25:1,2 AMP) Then the kingdom of heaven shall be likened to ten virgins who took their lamps and went to meet the bridegroom. Five of them were foolish (thoughtless, without forethought) and five were wise (sensible, intelligent, and prudent)

When I was a young man, I was foolish and without forethought, did foolish things.

Now, through Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit moving in me and teaching me, I have become wise.

- Through learning to live in the spirit, the Holy Spirit makes us sensible, intelligent, prudent and wise.
- ❖ It is all through the Holy Spirit.

## The Bridal Oil of Love and the Anointing Oil

- There is a great difference between the bridal oil, which is found in the holy glory realm of the Spirit of the Lord and the anointing oil which produces power.
- ❖ There are deep spiritual lessons in the parable of the 10 virgins.
- ❖ All 10 had lamps with oil.

(Mat 25:1) Then shall the kingdom of heaven be likened unto ten virgins, which took their lamps, and went forth to meet the bridegroom.

There are different flows of oil in the kingdom of God.

There is the oil of fellowship or love, which comes from the presence of God, which is the holy glory realm, through fellowship with the Father, Son and Holy Spirit.

This should be our primary love, passion and focus.

(Heb 1:8,9) But unto the Son he saith, Thy throne, O God, is for ever and ever: a sceptre of righteousness is the sceptre of thy kingdom. Thou hast loved righteousness, and hated iniquity; therefore God, even thy God, hath anointed thee with the oil of gladness above thy fellows.

Then there is anointing oil which comes from the power of God to break through strongholds and whereby miracles, signs and wonders happen.

(Isa 10:27) And it shall come to pass in that day, that his burden shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and his yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed because of the anointing.

Our priority should be learning to abide in the presence of God's fellowship and then also use the power or anointing to do the ministry.

#### Living in the Overflow

The parable shows us that only the 5 wise virgins went into the wedding feast of the bridegroom.

(Mat 25:10) And while they went to buy, the bridegroom came; and they that were ready went in with him to the marriage: and the door was shut.

The difference between the 5 wise and the 5 foolish virgins was that the 5 wise virgins had flasks of oil with them.

They were well-prepared, prudent and had foresight about the Last Day night that was to come.

# How do we get the extra bridal oil?

## A. By learning to live in the overflow.

The overflow of the Holy Spirit is part of the life more abundantly promised in John 10:10

(Joh 10:10) The thief cometh not, but for to steal, and to kill, and to destroy: I am come that they might have life, and that they might have it more abundantly.

By worship, prayer and intimacy, as we are rooted and grounded in love, we enter into the overflow.

## B. By living an overflowing life.

# This is true deep inner communion with the Holy Spirit and the Godhead.

The oil in the flasks was gathered through deep intimacy.

It is the bridal oil of love.

(Son 1:3) Because of the savour of thy good ointments thy name is as ointment poured forth, therefore do the virgins love thee.

We see this bridal oil or oil of fellowship in a biblical story. There was a woman with an alabaster box or jar of ointment of pure nard.

She poured this out over Jesus Christ's head.

(Mar 14:3) And being in Bethany in the house of Simon the leper, as he sat at meat, there came a woman having an alabaster box of ointment of spikenard very precious; and she brake the box, and poured it on his head.

#### C. A lifestyle of overflow!

King David lived a lifestyle of overflow.

This lifestyle of overflow comes forth out of a desire to live in His presence.

(Psa 27:4) One thing have I desired of the LORD, that will I seek after; that I may dwell in the house of the LORD all the days of my life, to behold the beauty of the LORD, and to enquire in his temple.

#### D. Our ministry should come out of the overflow

As we spend time in the love and presence of God, we are filled with Him.

Out of the overflow of His presence, we go and minister the gospel of Christ to others.

#### **Oneness with God**

The overflow of the oil of the flasks is found in the communion or fellowship with the Father, Son and Holy Spirit.

#### Communion is oneness.

Jesus Christ said that I and the Father are one.

God is one.

Therefore, we are to learn to have fellowship with the Father, Son and Holy Spirit.

(1Jn 1:3) That which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ. (2Co 13:14) The grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Ghost, be with you all. Amen.

- Communion with the Holy Spirit is in the spirit.
- Through the Spirit of the Lord, we have communion with Jesus Christ.

For Jesus Christ is the Lord and the Spirit of the Lord whereby we have communion.

(2Co 3:17) Now the Lord is that Spirit: and where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty.

\* Through the Spirit of glory, we have fellowship or communion with the Father of glory.

For the Spirit of glory and the Father are one.

## **Costly Oil**

The extra oil in the flasks is costly.

It is the Holy Spirit who gives it to us as we stay in the presence of the Lord.

Our flesh fights the spirit for they are opposites.

(Gal 5:17) For the flesh lusteth against the Spirit, and the Spirit against the flesh: and these are contrary the one to the other: so that ye cannot do the things that ye would.

Therefore, it takes effort to live in the spirit and spend time in worship and union with the presence of the Lord.

We are called to buy gold, clothes and oil to anoint our eyes with so we can see, know and have forethought.

(Rev 3:18) I counsel thee to buy of me gold tried in the fire, that thou mayest be rich; and white raiment, that thou mayest be clothed, and that the shame of thy nakedness do not appear; and anoint thine eyes with eyesalve, that thou mayest see.

Yes, it is costly oil but it is also beautiful.

To have the oil of His presence or bridal oil, we need to be obedient and surrender to God's will. For the dark night of the tribulation is coming and as we gather the oil of His presence, we will endure the End Time dark night and go into the wedding of the bridegroom.

## A warning in the Parable of the 10 Virgins

There is a severe warning in this parable.

There is the oil of the presence of the Lord, which comes through fellowship, which should be our priority.

Then there is the oil called the anointing that brings healings, miracles and blessings, such as niche things in life like an expensive car.

The 5 foolish virgins had put priority on the anointing oil and because of this did not have the oil or bridal oil in their flasks.

Then these 5 foolish virgins also came to the wedding hall and said, Lord, Lord, open the door to us.

## The Lord replied I do not know you.

(Mat 25:11-13) Afterward came also the other virgins, saying, Lord, Lord, open to us. But he answered and said, Verily I say unto you, I know you not. Watch therefore, for ye know neither the day nor the hour wherein the Son of man cometh.

<u>The severe warning is the same lesson Jesus Christ gives to us in Matthew 7.</u> In Matthew 7 He says many will come to Me on that day and say, Lord, Lord, have we not prophesied in your name, driven out demons and done mighty works.

(Mat 7:21-23) Not every one that saith unto me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the kingdom of heaven; but he that doeth the will of my Father which is in heaven. Many will say to me in that day, Lord, Lord, have we not prophesied in thy name? and in thy name have cast out devils? and in thy name done many wonderful works? And then will I profess unto them, I never knew you: depart from me, ye that work iniquity.

- Then He says to them the same as He says to the 5 foolish virgins, I do not know you, depart from Me.
- These miracle workers had a wrong heart and wrong priority, they did their own will as they did not die to self and went after the anointing oil, not the oil of the bride and His presence.

#### The Great Tribulation and the Temple

The Lord is raising up His army bride to be strong in the fullness as the great tribulation is near.

Jesus Christ shows us that the great tribulation is upon us when the antichrist sits in the rebuilt stone temple in Jerusalem, Israel as god.

We call this the abomination of desolation.

(Mat 24:15) When ye therefore shall see the abomination of desolation, spoken of by Daniel the prophet, stand in the holy place, (whoso readeth, let him understand:)

By this, Jesus Christ shows that what Daniel prophesied about the antichrist temple and Apostle John in the book of Revelations, the greatest tribulation ever seen will then be at its peak.

(Mat 24:21) For then shall be great tribulation, such as was not since the beginning of the world to this time, no, nor ever shall be.

# <u>Daniel also says that in those days those who know their God will do exploits, leading many</u> to righteousness.

(Dan 11:31, 32) And arms shall stand on his part, and they shall pollute the sanctuary of strength, and shall take away the daily sacrifice, and they shall place the abomination that maketh desolate. And such as do wickedly against the covenant shall he corrupt by flatteries: but the people that do know their God shall be strong, and do exploits.

(Dan 12:3) And they that be wise shall shine as the brightness of the firmament; and they that turn many to righteousness as the stars for ever and ever.

# It says those who are wise shall lead many to righteousness and this then connects with the 5 wise virgins.

Wise virgins are righteous virgins who are known by the bridegroom.

#### **Golden Altar of Incense in Heaven**

Part of the ministry of the bridal army of the Lord is the ministry to Father God to worship and do intercession.

Heaven and earth's worship and prayer are going to flow together in this hour that we have entered.

(Rev 5:8) And when he had taken the book, the four beasts and four and twenty elders fell down before the Lamb, having every one of them harps, and golden vials full of odours, which are the prayers of saints.

# Our ministry in ministering to the Lord is worship and intercession at the golden altar before the throne of God in heaven.

The bridal army is now called to engage in the throne of heaven's worship and prayer.

The angel will pour out God's answers on earth in His time.

We are also part of loosing God's End Time move and End Time judgements as we are led and abide in the prayers led by the Spirit of the Lord God.

#### **Daisy Osborne's Vision**

Daisy and T.L. Osborne led millions to Christ with great signs and miracles. She had a vision about the Last Days. She saw the face of the earth change very drastically. The borders and landmasses had changed a lot and had become much smaller because of great disasters. Much hunger and hardship were upon the people. Big volcanic eruptions took place, which brought great destruction. Then she saw a great unity between all different Christian denominations arise because they all believed in Jesus as Lord. She saw many believers looking so surprised that they had to go through those days.

## The Restraining Army of the Lord

Our Lord Jesus said that the great tribulations would start when the antichrist would sit in the temple as god as was prophesied by Daniel.

Then Apostle Paul gives more insight into this.

(2Th 2:6) And now ye know what withholdeth that he might be revealed in his time.

Paul said that the man of sin or the antichrist would come into the temple in Jerusalem and declare himself to be god.

In that day, there is going to be a great falling away, yet, the antichrist cannot fully do what he wants to do.

Why?

- The restrainer is still here!
- ❖ It is the restraining army bride of the Lord.

They have the power to bind the work of Satan and the antichrist.

They have the power to loose the kingdom of God's power and heavenly armies to earth.

The Holy Spirit will also stay until the second coming of Christ on Mount Olives, for otherwise no one could be born again and filled with the Holy Spirit.

Therefore, in the great darkness of the great tribulation, the bridal army is going to still pray, worship, resist, restrain, bind and loose.

(Isa 60:1) Arise, shine; for thy light is come, and the glory of the LORD is risen upon thee.

Then she will still walk in revival fire and see souls saved.

Only when the bridal army is caught away, who is the restrainer, then the evilest persecution can take place.

(1Th 4:16, 17) For the Lord himself shall descend from heaven with a shout, with the voice of the archangel, and with the trump of God: and the dead in Christ shall rise first: Then we which are alive and remain shall be caught up together with them in the clouds, to meet the Lord in the air: and so shall we ever be with the Lord.

## **Last Day Calling**

In 1987 in a place called Emmeloord, The Netherlands, the Lord showed me the coming of the End Time army. I went back to Africa for missions and God put me to be on the platform of Reinhardt Bonnke for 7 nights in Tema, Ghana. He was having gospel meetings, the blind were seeing, and the deaf were hearing. There in Tema, God said to me, your main calling lies in the End Time army and their equipping. On that trip, God also used us for small revival meetings in Ghana with miracles happening.

#### A Vision of World War III

When I was just married, I saw a vision of the third world war, this was in 1992. It involved Russia and atomic weapons. The vision was also described by the prophet Joel in Joel 2 and prophet Ezekiel in Ezekiel 38. I was shocked and shaken by it.

Joe 2:20 But I will remove far off from you the northern army, and will drive him into a land barren and desolate, with his face toward the east sea, and his hinder part toward the utmost sea, and his stink shall come up, and his ill savour shall come up, because he hath done great things.

Before Armageddon, there is a third world war. Armageddon will be the fourth world war. It is the Ezekiel 38 war of Russia and its allies that will invade Israel but will be destroyed with fire when they are on Israel's mountains. Yet the height of world war III includes an attack upon Israel and the West by China and other Asian nations. This will all happen near the halfway point of the 7 years. This World War III will last 5 months and kill one-third of the world's population.

Rev 9:15-16 And the four angels were loosed, which were prepared for an hour, and a day, and a month, and a year, for to slay the third part of men. (16) And the number of the army of the horsemen were two hundred thousand thousand: and I heard the number of them.

They will use nuclear bombs and whole cities and regions around the world will be destroyed by them. This will give the New World Order power to bring forth the number of the beast, 666, and the antichrist will rise to power out of these ashes for all men will worship him in the temple in Jerusalem. For they will rebuild the temple in Jerusalem. Then they will divide the world into ten regions.

I have a map of the world made by the club of Rome that divided the world into 10 regions or nations.

Rev 13:1 And I stood upon the sand of the sea, and saw a beast rise up out of the sea, having seven heads and ten horns, and upon his horns ten crowns, and upon his heads the name of blasphemy.

The beast out of the sea, who is the antichrist, will divide the world into 10 regions. This is the mystery of the 10 crowns.

## **Spiritual Warfare and an Outpouring**

One night in late October 1993, I had read some other material on the prophecies about the third world war when all hell broke loose. The Lord had warned me that night that the spirit of death would come against us. At 6 pm, the neighbour started to bash on our door and windows and wanted me to come out and fight with him. He had a big aggressive dog with him. We called the police but had to flee.

We stayed with friends and prayed and interceded until the Holy Spirit fell on us. People were filled with the Holy Spirit; others were set free from demons. The Lord said that He was pouring out new weapons of warfare for the End Time army and He wanted us to give out and release them to others.

For in the Last Days, God's plan is to save many souls.

The End Time army is being raised up, equipped and sent out with mighty, mighty power to release End Time revivals in many places around the world, Amen.

# **Bibliography**

Baxter, M., 1993. A Divine Revelation of Hell. New Kensington: Whitaker House.

Frost, J., 2002. Experiencing the Father's Embrace. Lake Mary: Charisma House.

Hathaway, D., 2017. Roots in Revival. *Prophetic Vision*, March, p. 12.

Hicks, T., n.d. John the Baptist tv. [Online]

Available at: http://www.johnthebaptisttv.com/

[Accessed 10 December 2016].

Johnson, N., 1997. In: E. Fitzgerald & R. Wilson, eds. *Prepare for the Winds of Change II.* Omaha: Eagle's Nest Publishing.

Landau, D., 2015. ParashatBeHukotai 5760/2000. [Online]

Available at: http://www.biu.ac.il/JH/Parash/eng/bechuko/lan.html

Lindsay, G., n.d.. William Branham, a man sent from God. Jeffersonville: William Branham.

Murray, A., 2008. In: The Essential Works of Andrew Murray Updated in Today's Language.

<u>Uhrichsville: Barbour Publishing Inc..</u>

Pittman, H., n.d.. In: Placebo, What is the Church's Dope. Foxworth: The Philadelphian Church.

Rountree, A., 1977. In: Heaven Awaits the Bride. Lake Mary: Charisma House.

Tari, M., 2011. In: Like a Mighty Wind. Green Forest: New Leaf Press.

Walters, K., 1999. In: Columba, the Celtic Dove. Macon: Good News Fellowhip Ministries.

Zadai, K. L., 2015. In: Heavenly Visitation. New Orleans: Xulon Elite.

Zoschak, G., 1987. In: Fruit of the Spirit. Tulsa: Harrison House Inc..